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CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This Annual Report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All
statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Form 10-K including, without limitation, statements in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” regarding the Company’s financial position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of
management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Words such as “expect,” "estimate," "project,” "budget," "forecast," "anticipate,"
"intend," "plan," "may," "will," "could," "should," "believes," "predicts," "potential," "possible," "continue,"and variations and similar words and expressions
are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements relate to future events or future performance, but reflect
management’s current beliefs, based on information currently available and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expected and projected.

A number of factors could cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from the events, performance and results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to the impact of general economic conditions, including
economic slowdowns, inflation, interest rate changes, recessions, and tightening of credit markets on our business; the impact of challenging
macroeconomic and marketplace conditions, including lingering effects of COVID-19 on our business; the impact of stimulus or other government
programs; whether we will be successful in obtaining declaratory relief against the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Protection and
Innovation for the State of California; whether we will be subject to AB 539; whether our bank partners will continue to lend in California and whether our
financing sources will continue to finance the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners in California; the impact that events
involving financial institutions or the financial services industry generally, such as actual concerns or events involving liquidity, defaults, or non-
performance, may have on our business; risks related to the material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting; our ability to grow and
manage growth profitably and retain our key employees; risks related to new products; risks related to evaluating and potentially consummating
acquisitions; concentration risk; changes in applicable laws or regulations; the possibility that we may be adversely affected by other economic, business,
and/or competitive factors; risks related to management transitions; risks related to the restatement of our financial statements and any accounting
deficiencies or weaknesses related thereto and other risks contained in the section captioned “Risk Factors”. Except as expressly required by applicable
securities law, the Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
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PART |
ITEM1. BUSINESS

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to “OppFi” or the “Company” refers to Opportunity Financial, LLC (“OppFi-LLC")
and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, or to OppFi Inc. and its subsidiaries from and after the Business
Combination. OppFi’s business and the industry in which OppFi operates is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors,
including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. These and other factors could cause results to differ materially
from those expressed in the estimates made by the independent parties and by OppFi.

On July 20, 2021 (“Closing Date”), OppFi completed a business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement (“Business
Combination Agreement”), dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among FG New America Acquisition Corp. (“FGNA”), OppFi-LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, OppFi Shares, LLC (“OFS”), a Delaware limited liability company, and Todd Schwartz (“Members’ Representative”), in his capacity as
the representative of the members of OppFi-LLC (“Members”) immediately prior to the closing (“Closing”) of the transactions contemplated by the
Business Combination Agreement (“Business Combination”). At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi's Class A common stock, par
value $0.0001 per share (“Class A Common Stock”) and redeemable warrants exercisable for Class A Common Stock (“Public Warrants”) are listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”") under the symbols “OPFI” and “OPFI WS,” respectively.

Following the Closing, OppFi is organized in an “Up-C” structure in which substantially all of the assets and the business of the Company are held
by OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries, and OppFi's only direct assets consist of Class A common units of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi Units”). As of December 31,
2023, OppFi owned approximately 17.0% of the OppFi Units and controls OppFi-LLC as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC in accordance with the terms of
the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi A&R LLCA"). All remaining OppFi Units (“Retained OppFi
Units”) are beneficially owned by the Members. Each Retained OppFi Unit held by the Members may be exchanged, subject to certain conditions, for
either one share of Class A Common Stock or, at the election of OppFi, in its capacity as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC, the cash equivalent of the
market value of one share of Class A Common Stock, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Agreement of OppFi-LLC (the “Exchange Rights”). OFS holds a controlling voting interest in OppFi through its ownership of shares of Class V common
stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of OppFi (“Class V Voting Stock”) in an amount equal to the number of Retained OppFi Units and therefore has the
ability to control OppFi-LLC. Each share of Class V Voting Stock entitles OFS to one vote per share at any annual or special meeting of the stockholders
of OppFi, voting together with the holders of Class A Common Stock as a single class, but the shares of Class V Voting Stock do not entitle OFS to any
economic rights in OppFi.
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The following diagram illustrates the ownership structure of OppFi as of December 31, 2023.

OppFi distributed to
OFS the shares of
Class W voting stock
received from OppFi
Inc. at closing, which
corresponded to the
Retained OppFi Units
Stockholders ("OFs") ieeuid o the
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Opportunity Financial, LLC ("OppFi-LLC")

{OppFi Inc. is the sale managing member)

Company Overview

OppFi is a tech-enabled, mission-driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit access to
everyday Americans. Through transparency, responsible lending, financial inclusion, and an excellent customer experience, the Company supports
consumers, who are turned away by mainstream options, to build better financial health. OppFi's primary mission is to facilitate financial inclusion and
credit access to the 63 million everyday Americans who are credit marginalized, through its products and an unwavering commitment to its customers.
Unlike payday loans and similar credit products that typically do not provide transparency, fairness, and ability to repay guidelines, OppFi is dedicated to
offering the best possible product and service through its platform. The average installment loan facilitated by OppFi with its OppLoans platform is
approximately $1,500, payable in installments and for an average contractual term of 11 months. Payments are reported to the three major credit
bureaus. OppFi's dedication to borrowers is further evidenced by the OppFi TurnUp Program, which is described below and most importantly, by its
strong customer satisfaction ratings.
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OppFi's platform provides one of the highest rated customer experiences in the industry and powers banks to offer credit products. Customers on
OppFi's platform benefit from a highly automated, transparent, efficient, and fully digital experience. The banks that work with OppFi benefit from its turn-
key, outsourced marketing, data science, and proprietary technology to digitally acquire, underwrite and service these consumers. From inception
through December 31, 2023, OppFi has facilitated more than $5.8 billion in gross loan issuance covering more than 3.4 million loans.

OppFi's primary product is offered by its OppLoans platform. Customers on this platform are generally U.S. consumers, who are employed, have
bank accounts, and earn median wages. Some have experienced a hardship or emergency and need a loan; others are struggling to make ends meet;
while others have unplanned expenses. When these consumers apply for a loan through a bank, they are often rejected due to their credit score.

The OppFi platform is a mobile-optimized online application where eligible applicants, at their request, are able to opt into the OppFi TurnUp
Program. This program helps these applicants find more affordable credit options by checking the market voluntarily on their behalf for sub-36% annual
percentage rate, or APR products offered by traditional, mainstream lenders. If any lower cost products are identified, OppFi displays the offers from the
applicable lenders and consumers can choose to finish their application at another lender’s website. At that point, the applicant leaves OppFi's website. If
no mainstream credit options are available with an APR of less than 36%, the application is processed through OppFi's underwriting platform which
utilizes machine learning, bank-approved, proprietary algorithms. This process is designed to allow for maximum value and benefit to be realized by all
parties.

OppFi collects and calculates more than 500 attributes on loan applications for use in underwriting decisions. These attributes are based on data
from credit bureaus, bank transactions and loan applications. Using this information, OppFi generates a proprietary score in combination with scores
generated from third party providers. The proprietary score determines the exact loan terms to be offered to an applicant.

OppFi's platform offers consumers a streamlined application experience that is simple, easy and transparent. Approximately 89% of OppFi's
underwriting decisions were automated, during the year ended December 31, 2023. Most applicants receive their funds either the same business day or
the next business day after they are approved. Qualified customers who apply and are approved by 1:00 pm ET on a business day are eligible for funding
on the same day their applications are approved.

This process provides consumers with access to fair, transparent credit as well as an opportunity to build financial health over time through our
standard reporting to the three major credit bureaus. Installment loans through the OppFi platform have an average contractual length of 11 months.
These loans have no fees (neither origination, nor late, nor insufficient funds). Customers are offered transparent and flexible repayment options,
including allowing customers to make payments for their full-term, as well as allowing them to prepay their loans with no penalties.

In pursuit of its mission to provide financial inclusion to everyday Americans, OppFi focuses not only on facilitating access to credit but also
offering education to build financial health. OppU, a financial education initiative, provides free, standards-aligned courses intended to teach financial
literacy. With OppU, both customers and non-customers can learn what it takes to build credit as well as how to budget and manage their finances.

OppFi also currently services customers for its SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. SalaryTap is a payroll deduction secured installment loan
product. OppFi Card is an alternative to traditional credit cards. OppFi previously conducted strategic reviews of SalaryTap and OppFi Card. OppFi is no
longer accepting applications for these products and only servicing existing customers. Neither product contributes meaningfully to OppFi’'s results. As of
December 31, 2022, the OppFi Card portfolio was classified as held for sale. In May 2023, the Company made the decision to wind down the OppFi Card
business; accordingly, the Company has discontinued its marketing of the OppFi Card portfolio for sale. The OppFi Card portfolio has been reclassified
from held for sale to held for investment.

OppFi believes that it has achieved significant scale with the OppLoans product. As of December 31, 2023, OppFi had served more than 1
million unique customers since its inception. OppFi's net promoter score (NPS) was 79 for the year ended December 31, 2023 and is reflective of its
commitment to providing a best-in-class customer service experience. NPS is a score that measures the likelihood of users to recommend a company’s
products or services to others, and ranges from a low of negative 100 to high of positive 100, and benchmark scores can vary significantly by industry. A
score greater than zero represents a company having more promoters than detractors. OppFi maintained an A- rating from the Better Business Bureau
(BBB) and a 4.5/5.0 star rating with more than 4,100 Trustpilot reviews, as of December 31, 2023.
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For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total revenue was approximately $509 million and $453 million, respectively, representing
period-over-period total revenue growth of approximately 12%. OppFi generated net income of approximately $39 million and $3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Market Opportunity

Significant Percentage of U.S. Consumers Are Credit Marginalized, Have Non-Prime Credit, Lack Sufficient Savings, and Live
Paycheck-to-Paycheck

Approximately 63 million U.S. consumers are credit marginalized, according to a study published by PYMNTS and Sezzle in 2023. This
represents approximately 25% of the population. The study defined “credit marginalized” as those consumers who have been rejected for a credit product
at least once in the past year. Of these consumers, approximately 50% have either a credit score below 650 or no credit score and approximately 46%
live paycheck-to-paycheck with issues paying bills. More broadly, according to a report published by Bankrate in 2024, 56% percent of U.S. adults cannot
afford to pay for a $1,000 emergency expense from their savings. In addition, according to research by PYMNTS published in 2024, six out of 10 U.S.
consumers live paycheck-to-paycheck.

OppFi facilitates credit access to historically underserved consumers. Generally, these consumers are in need of fair, affordable, transparent and
flexible credit products to cover everyday expenses and cash shortfalls, but traditional banks and credit providers are largely unwilling to service these
consumers due to low FICO scores or similar factors. Many top lenders use the FICO score among other quantifiable metrics and qualifying rules to
determine a potential borrower’s creditworthiness, and these criteria often result in adverse selection—potentially overlooking consumers who are
otherwise willing and able to repay while simultaneously accepting consumers who are not.

Traditional Banks Have Been Slow to Adopt Digital Technology for Consumer Lending.

Traditional banks, which have historically played a substantial role in consumer credit markets, have often been slow to adapt to digital adoption
among consumers. There are approximately 4,600 Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured institutions, many of which have legacy
technology and lack sufficient mobile solutions in today’s digital era. Unlike larger institutions, smaller firms often lack many of the resources needed to
fund and develop effective platform digitization. OppFi believes the performance of its platform through the COVID-19 pandemic has given OppFi's
existing and prospective bank partners important new data points to underpin their growing confidence in our solution.

Consumer Lenders Offering Small Personal Loans Require Higher APRs to Break Even.

Loan interest is inclusive of the time value of money, credit risk, and expenses incurred to originate, service and collect a loan. While the former
expenses are variable with the amount of the credit and the creditworthiness of the borrower, the latter are largely fixed. These fixed costs are tied to the
loan application itself. In the case of smaller-sized consumer loans, these fixed costs are representatively large relative to loan amount; therefore, smaller
loans require higher interest rates than larger loans. According to a report published in 2020 by the Federal Reserve, break-even APRs are quite high for
small loan amounts. Based on data in the report, a loan amount of $2,530 is necessary to break even at a 36% APR, and the trend is even more
pronounced for smaller loan amounts. The required break-even APR shrinks and flattens for larger loans; however, the implication is that the loan comes
with a longer period of indebtedness and a higher overall interest payment over the life of the loan, which is often far worse for OppFi's target customers
who either lack access to this larger loan or lack the willingness or ability to repay larger loan amounts. Additionally, break-even APRs tend to be much
higher for small loan amounts than for large loan amounts, with a $594 loan requiring an APR of 103.5% for a lender to break even and a loan amount of
$2,530 being necessary for a lender to break even at an APR of 36%, according to the research study by the Federal Reserve. As a result, such
economics often result in credit-challenged consumers being unable to qualify for credit. The average APR for a loan facilitated on the OppLoans
platform over the past three years has been approximately 155%, which has not changed significantly from year to year.
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OppLoans Platform

OppFi has determined that alternative metrics outside of FICO scores can be used reliably to determine a consumer’s true ability and willingness to
repay. Many non-bank lenders utilize non-FICO based alternative methods to determine creditworthiness. Applicants are evaluated based on metrics
such as consistency of income, types of previous loans, previous repayment patterns and employment status, among many others. OppFi believes these
nontraditional methods more accurately identify those consumers who are willing and able to repay loans, while simultaneously avoiding the issuance of
loans to those consumers who may have received a loan that they cannot afford or do not intend to repay.

Highlights

* Simple interest installment loans. With its OppLoans platform, OppFi facilitates the issuance of fair, transparent, digital specialty finance
products structured to rebuild financial health for the approximately 63 million U.S. consumers that are credit marginalized. Customers are
provided with industry-leading features and protections, including: simple interest, installment loans with no balloon payments, no ancillary
fees (neither origination, nor late, nor insufficient funds), and no prepayment penalties. In addition, OppFi reports payment history to the
major credit bureaus.

* Easy, digital application and rapid approval . After the approximately five-minute application process submitted through OppFi’s fully
digital platform, consumers typically receive quick credit decisions. Approximately 88% of all credit decisions were automated in the year
ended December 31, 2023.

* Same-day funding service. OppFi offers a same-day funding service in collaboration with its partner banks. Qualified customers who apply
and are approved by 1:00 pm ET on a business day are eligible for funding on the same day their applications are approved.

« Tech-driven decisioning. OppFi's tech stack uses machine learning and real-time data analytics to generate credit decisions. In contrast to
traditional credit providers, OppFi does not take in account traditional credit scores and instead uses alternative data to assist in identifying
borrowers who have the ability to repay.

* OppFi TurnUp Program. After an application is submitted, the OppFi TurnUp Program helps eligible applicants find more affordable credit
options by checking the market voluntarily on their behalf for sub-36% APR products offered by traditional, mainstream lenders. If any lower
cost products are identified, OppFi displays the offers from the applicable lenders and consumers can choose to finish their application at
another lender’s website. At that point, the applicant leaves OppFi's website. If no mainstream credit options are available with an APR of
less than 36%, the application is processed through OppFi's underwriting platform which utilizes machine learning, bank-approved,
proprietary algorithms. This process is designed to allow for maximum value and benefit to be realized by all parties.

¢ Loan flexibility. Loans through the OppFi platform are typically used to finance items such as car repairs, medical bills, housing costs, and
education expenses. This flexibility helps foster loyalty as customers receive the help they need and the opportunity to rebuild their credit,
with the goal of ultimately graduating to mainstream credit products.

* Customer Advocates. OppFi's Customer Advocate team combines customer service with collections. Customer Advocates serve
customers by providing easy-to-understand information so that customers can make informed, financially responsible decisions. Customer
Advocates are rewarded for both their outstanding customer service as well as their collections. OppFi's standard operating procedures,
outbound dialer/email/SMS solutions, and associated controls are designed to ensure compliance with unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or
practice regulations, or UDAAPS; fair lending laws; the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA, the federal Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, or FDCPA; and the Federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing, or CAN-SPAM, Act. The
Customer Advocate team works with delinquent customers to quickly re-establish a positive payment history by providing flexible pathways
out of delinquency for customers who are able to pay. Proactive outreach via email and text messages encourages delinquent customers to
visit OppFi's online portal or to call the Customer Advocate team to set up customized payment arrangements. These inbound calls are
prioritized and routed to the appropriate team member based on delinquency status and customer request.
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When capacity exists, OppFi also outbound dials delinquent customers. The dialing strategy and pace prioritizes customers by delinquency
ordered least to most delinquent while also maximizing Customer Advocate efficiency to ensure high service levels for inbound calls. After a
customer is charged off, OppFi utilizes a mix of internal recoveries and third party collection companies to contact the customer via email,
SMS, and outbound dialing to resolve the account. Charged-off customers, who are unable or unwilling to pay off their balance in full, are
offered targeted settlements, based on outstanding balance amounts and duration of repayment. There are a variety of programs in place in
order to prevent customers from entering delinquency at all, including:

e no prepayment penalties;

* borrower’s assistance program allowing customers to remain in good standing regardless of payment status and reduce accrued
interest if they are affected by natural and/or man-made disasters, such as a pandemic (including COVID-19);

» temporary and permanent hardship programs for customers experiencing longer-term inability to pay, such as job loss; and

e One-time payment deferment to end of loan term.

¢ Social impact relationships. As part of OppFi's commitment to help customers build a better financial path through more resources,
education and support, OppFi maintains relationships with a suite of social impact-focused organizations whose services customers can
access for free. OppFi seeks to add relationships with organizations that share its social impact mission. Current relationships include Zogo,
SpringFour, and Experian Boost®.

OppFi’s Competitive Advantages

Digitally-Native Solution

Consumers are increasingly shifting towards digital products and services. OppFi has successfully serviced the non-prime consumer with its fully
digital platform, driven by a scalable and modern technology stack, as well as proprietary risk models that are continually developed through iterative data
collection and analytics. This platform provides OppFi with exceptional scalability, cost efficiency, marketing effectiveness, customization, and a best-in-
class customer experience. OppFi believes that this digital foundation creates a significant and durable advantage over traditional banks and credit
providers who have been slow to adapt legacy technology into modern digitally native solutions, as well as higher-cost alternatives, such as bank
overdraft fees, tribal lenders, payday and title loans, lease-to-own services.

In addition, due to OppFi's digital nature, as its bank partners’ originations grow, OppFi achieves greater operating leverage. OppFi's model is
primarily driven by a tech-enabled platform that does not require significant increases in operating overhead to support its bank partners’ origination
growth. Additionally, as OppFi serves consumers across the United States without brick-and-mortar stores, OppFi does not have any costs associated
with physical stores and the personnel needed to operate them.

Bank Partner Model

Bank partners use the OppFi platform to provide loan products to consumers where OppFi facilitates the process and the loan products are funded
directly by the bank. OppFi ended its direct lending program during 2023 and exclusively utilized a bank partner model as of December 31, 2023.

The bank partner model leverages OppFi's marketing and servicing expertise and the banks’ broad national presence to facilitate credit access in
38 states, as of December 31, 2023. OppFi manages many aspects of the loan life cycle on behalf of its bank partners, including customer acquisition,
underwriting and loan servicing. This relationship allows OppFi’'s bank partners to leverage OppFi’s digital acquisition, machine learning underwriting and
highly-rated customer service capabilities, which they would otherwise need to develop in-house. OppFi’'s bank partners use their own capital to originate
loans. OppFi's bank partners are FinWise Bank (Finwise), First Electronic Bank (FEB), and Capital Community Bank (CCB).
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In the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 98% of OppFi’s net originations were generated from loans originated by its bank partners
and facilitated by the OppFi platform. OppFi's bank partner FEB began originating loans on the OppFi platform in May 2020 and OppFi's bank partner
CCB began originating loans on the OppFi platform in October 2020.

OppFi has entered into separate agreements with each of its three bank partners. OppFi's agreements with its bank partners are nonexclusive,
generally have 60-month terms and certain agreements automatically renew, subject to certain early termination provisions and minimum fee amounts,
and do not include any minimum origination obligations or origination limits. OppFi's bank partners generally retain approval rights on all aspects of the
program and are primarily responsible for regulatory and compliance oversight.

Under the bank partner model, OppFi is compensated by the bank partner as a service provider for OppFi's role in delivering the technology and
services to the bank partner to facilitate origination and servicing of loans throughout each loan’s lifecycle. Customers who meet the underwriting criteria
for multiple bank partners are referred to a specific bank partner randomly based on a computer algorithm and volume targets set with each bank partner.
OppFi's bank partners generally hold loans originated on our platform for typically two to three days following origination. OppFi acquires certain
participation rights in such loans. OppFi and its bank partners each pay or reimburse each other for certain fees and costs that are immaterial in amount.

The economic difference to OppFi in loans originated via the bank partnership model as compared to the direct origination model are immaterial
and generally result from a minimal program fee paid to OppFi for each origination as well as increased compliance costs for OppFi, which collectively
have an insignificant impact on OppFi's customer lifetime value. During 2023, OppFi shifted completely to the bank partner model as the percentage of
Total Net Originations by OppFi's bank partners increased from 95% for the year ended December 31, 2022 to 98% for the year ended December 31,
2023. OppFi has shifted to the bank partner model because its bank partners operate under federal law, which allows them to lend nationally based on
their state domicile and facilitates a national product offering for the consumer while also streamlining regulatory requirements and compliance
infrastructure.

Technology, Engineering Talent and Product Architecture

Technology is essential to OppFi's core operations. OppFi utilizes modern technology solutions including sophisticated analytics tools, machine
learning models and cloud-based computing to offer a smooth and engaging digital experience on the front-end and a constantly evolving real time
decisioning engine on the back-end. In order to build and maintain these proprietary, innovative and secure products, OppFi commits substantial
resources to identifying, employing, and retaining talented and mission-driven technology-focused professionals and engineers. OppFi believes that its
platform architecture and the talent retained to continually evolve provides OppFi with a competitive edge over its more traditional credit competitors.

Proprietary, Data Driven Decisioning and Risk Models

OppFi's underwriting platform takes a holistic approach to evaluating potential customers across traditional, nontraditional, banking history, and
income/employment data to make decisions on each credit application. The models ignore traditional credit scores, instead relying on internally
developed scoring and analytics to identify the creditworthiness of each application. Machine learning-based risk models are custom built to effectively
evaluate risk and provide customized credit product solutions for each credit application. The platform considers applicant data such as available bank
balance trends, volatility of income, and bank-approved fraud scores amongst others to predict repayment ability, and leverages this with real-time Instant
Bank Verification, or IBV, response data.

Multi-Sided Ecosystem

OppFi generates value for all potential parties on its platform. Consumers gain access to fair, transparent credit that is structured to rebuild financial
health, Bank partners benefit from OppFi's turn-key, outsourced marketing and digital acquisition and servicing, data, and proprietary technology. OppFi's
nationwide presence allows it to increase awareness, directly contributing to organic growth, as well as the growth and success of bank partners.
Customers have proven to be loyal and highly satisfied, which in turn drives additional growth through referrals.
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Integrated and Efficient Multi-Channel Marketing Approach

OppFi utilizes an integrated multi-channel marketing strategy to reach potential customers. For the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately
18.3% of loans originated on the OppFi platform were generated by search engine optimization, email marketing, and customer referrals. In addition,
approximately 74.2% of loans originated on the OppFi platform were derived through key strategic partners who are compensated with a negotiated fixed
unit price per loan funded or fixed percent of principal dollars funded. Approximately 7.5% of loans originated on the OppFi platform were sourced from
direct mail marketing channels. OppFi has created unique capabilities to effectively identify and attract qualified customers, which supports its long-term
growth objectives at target customer acquisition costs. Marketing costs from OppFi’s strategic partner channel are based on fixed price agreements,
while marketing costs for direct mail and other direct channels can vary based on the number of customers that ultimately apply and obtain loans. OppFi's
mix of new and refinanced loans also impacts its average acquisition cost. OppFi believes this approach allows it to focus on higher quality, lower cost
customer acquisition while maximizing reach and enhancing awareness of OppFi’s platform. OppFi continues to invest in new marketing channels, which
it believes will provide OppFi with further competitive advantages and support its ongoing growth.

Commitment to Customer Service

OppFi is nationally recognized for its exceptional customer service. OppFi maintained a 4.5/5.0 star rating on Trustpilot with more than 4,100
reviews, making OppLoans one of the top consumer-rated financial platforms online, and an A- rating from the Better Business Bureau (BBB), as of
December 31, 2023. In addition, OppFi has a Net Promoter Score (NPS) of 79 for the year ended December 31, 2023. Financial education is also
important, which is why OppFi launched its own online financial education portal —OppU. Customers and non-customers can use OppU to learn about
building credit and budgeting, as well as how to better manage finances. OppFi continuously works to improve customer satisfaction by evaluating
information from website analytics, customer surveys and Customer Advocate feedback. OppFi’'s teams receive training on a regular basis and are
monitored for quality assurance. OppFi believes customers who wish to access credit again via its platform, or who refer a potential customer to OppFi,
often do so because of OppFi’'s dedication to customer service and industry-leading product features and protections.

OppFi’s Growth Strateqy

OppFi anticipates leveraging organic and inorganic opportunities to achieve long-term profitable growth. By leveraging its deep knowledge of the
credit market for everyday Americans, OppFi believes it has a significant runway to further scale and gain market share for its core OppLoans platform by
executing on its multi-channel marketing strategy that utilizes partners, affiliates, email, direct mail, referral, and SEO. OppFi also seeks to evaluate and
test new products or features that can increase its reach to the 63 million credit marginalized U.S. consumers. OppFi is evaluating corporate development
opportunities to diversify its overall business by potentially acquiring businesses in adjacent categories, inclusive of new customer types and new
products that fit OppFi's mission. OppFi expects to accelerate profitable growth by driving core product volume, serving more non-prime consumers with
strategic marketing and credit enhancements, and expanding into new customer and product types via acquisitions.

Competition

Consumer lending is a vast and competitive market, and the OppFi platform competes in varying degrees with all other sources of unsecured
consumer credit, including banks, non-bank lenders (including retail-based lenders) and digital specialty finance platforms. Because personal loans often
serve as a replacement for credit cards, the OppFi platform competes with the convenience and ubiquity that credit cards represent.

OppFi competes with a variety of tech-enabled specialty finance companies that aim to help banks with the digital transformation of their business,
particularly with respect to all-digital lending. This includes new products from legacy bank technology providers as well as newer companies focused
entirely on lending software infrastructure for banks. OppFi may also face competition from banks or companies that have not previously competed in the
consumer lending market, including companies with large and experienced data science teams and access to vast amounts of consumer-related
information that could be used in the development of their own credit risk models.

OppFi believes it competes favorably based on the following competitive factors:

¢ Constantly improving models;
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¢ Compelling loan offers from bank partners to consumers;

* Automated and user-friendly loan application process;

*  Cloud-native, multi-tenant architecture;

* Combination of technology and customer acquisition for bank partners;
¢ Robust and diverse loan funding program; and

* Brand recognition and trust.

Available Information

Our website address is www.oppfi.com. Our annual report on Form 10-K, annual proxy statements, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), are available through the investor relations page of our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our proxy statements and reports may also be
obtained directly from the SEC's Internet website at www.sec.gov. Our website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not
incorporated into or deemed a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Government Requlation

OppFi and the loans made through its platform by its bank partners are subject to extensive and complex rules and regulations and examination by
various federal, state and local government authorities. Failure to comply with any of the applicable rules and regulations may result in, among other
things, revocation of required licenses or registration, loss of approved status, effective voiding or rescission of the loan contracts, reduction of allowable
interest, class action lawsuits, administrative enforcement actions and civil and criminal liability. While compliance with such requirements is at times
complicated by OppFi's novel business model and an evolving regulatory environment, OppFi believes it is, at a minimum, in substantial compliance with
these rules and regulations.

Several state and federal agencies have the ability to regulate aspects of OppFi's business. For example, the Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau (“CFPB”) has supervisory and enforcement authority over OppFi and the Federal Trade Commission has jurisdiction to investigate aspects of its
business, including with respect to marketing practices. The Dodd-Frank Act, as well as many state statutes, provide a mechanism for the CFPB and
state attorneys general to investigate OppFi. In addition, as a result of OppFi's relationships with its current bank partners, OppFi is subject to oversight
by federal banking agencies, including the FDIC. As a service provider to banks, we are subject to examination and enforcement authority of the
prudential bank regulators that supervise our bank partners under the Bank Service Company Act. Further, OppFi is subject to inspections, examinations,
supervision and regulation by applicable agencies in each state in which OppFi is licensed or in which our borrowers reside. Regulatory oversight of
OppFi's business may change over time. By way of example, in California the DFPI is considered a “mini-CFPB” agency, because it seeks to emulate the
CFPB with respect to its enforcement and supervisory capabilities as well as require additional state registration for certain covered persons. OppFi
expects that regulatory examinations by both federal and state agencies will continue, and there can be no assurance that the results of such
examinations will not have a material adverse effect on OppFi.

Below, OppFi summarizes several of the material federal lending, servicing and related laws applicable to its business. Many states have laws and
regulations that are similar to the federal consumer protection laws referred to below, but the degree and nature of such laws and regulations, and their
applicability to us and our products, vary from state to state.

Federal Lending and Related Laws
Truth in Lending Act

The Truth in Lending Act, or TILA, and Regulation Z, which implements it, require creditors to provide consumers with uniform, understandable
information concerning certain terms and conditions of their loan and credit transactions, and to comply with certain lending practice requirements and
restrictions. These rules apply to loans facilitated through OppFi's platform, and OppFi assists with compliance as part of the services OppFi provides to
its bank partners. or closed-end credit transactions, required disclosures include, among others, providing the annual percentage rate, the finance
charge, the amount financed, the number of payments, the amount of the monthly payment, the presence and amount of certain fees, and the presence
of certain contractual terms. TILA also regulates the advertising of credit and gives borrowers, among other things,
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certain rights regarding updated disclosures and the treatment of credit balances. OppFi, on behalf of the applicable bank partner, provides applicants
with a TILA disclosure when applicants complete their loan applications on its platform.

If the applicant’s request is not fully funded and the applicant chooses to accept a lesser amount offered, OppFi provides an updated TILA disclosure on
behalf of the applicable bank partner. OppFi also seeks to comply with TILA's disclosure requirements related to credit advertising and, to the extent that
OppFi holds or services loans, TILA’s requirements related to treatment of credit balances for closed-end loans. OppFi also can facilitate the origination of
a limited number of credit card accounts through its platform. In connection with such accounts, TILA requires the provision of certain solicitation and
account-opening disclosures. TILA also imposes requirements on the terms of credit card accounts, and the process of originating and servicing such
accounts.

Equal Credit Opportunity Act

The Equal Credit Opportunity Act, or ECOA, prohibits creditors from discriminating against credit applicants on the basis of race, color, sex, age
(provided that the applicant has the capacity to enter into a binding contract), religion, national origin, marital status, the fact that all or part of the
applicant’s income derives from any public assistance program, or the fact that the applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the federal
Consumer Credit Protection Act or certain state laws. Regulation B, which implements ECOA, restricts creditors from requesting certain types of
information from loan applicants or engaging in certain loan-related practices, and from using advertising or making statements that would discourage on
a prohibited basis a reasonable person from making or pursuing an application. These requirements apply to bank partners for loans facilitated through
its platform as well as to OppFi as a service provider that assists in the process. OppFi abides by policies and procedures implemented by its bank
partners to comply with ECOA'’s provisions prohibiting discouragement and discrimination. ECOA also requires creditors to provide applicants with timely
notices of adverse action taken on credit applications, including disclosing to applicants who have been declined their rights and the reason for their
having been declined. On behalf of its bank partners, OppFi provides prospective borrowers who apply for a loan through its platform but are denied
credit with an adverse action notice in compliance with applicable requirements. The current Presidential Administration has indicated an increased focus
(likely through the CFPB and its enforcement of ECOA and Regulation B) on equality in credit availability and pricing, as compared to the prior
Administration. It is unclear at this point how or if such increased focus will impact OppFi’'s business or operations or those of its bank partners.

Fair Credit Reporting Act

The federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, or FCRA, as amended by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act, and administered by the CFPB,
promotes the accuracy, fairness, and privacy of information in the files of consumer reporting agencies. FCRA requires consent or a permissible purpose
to obtain a consumer credit report and requires that persons who report loan payment information to credit bureaus do so accurately and resolve disputes
regarding reported information timely. FCRA also imposes disclosure requirements on creditors who take adverse action on credit applications based on
information contained in a credit report.

Under FCRA, certain information must be provided to applicants whose credit applications are not approved or who are offered credit at an interest
rate higher than other borrowers on the basis of a report obtained from a consumer reporting agency, promptly update any credit information reported to
a credit reporting agency about a customer and have a process by which customers may inquire about credit information furnished by OppFi to a
consumer reporting agency. OppFi and its bank partners have a permissible purpose for obtaining credit reports on potential borrowers, and OppFi also
obtains explicit consent from borrowers to obtain such reports. As part of its loan servicing activities, OppFi accurately reports loan payment and
delinquency information to appropriate consumer reporting agencies. OppFi provides timely adverse action notices when required on behalf of each bank
partner on its platform that includes all the required disclosures. OppFi also has processes in place to ensure that consumers are given “opt-out”
opportunities, as required by the FCRA, regarding the sharing of their personal information. OppFi has also implemented an identity theft prevention
program, as required by FCRA and its implementing regulations.

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

The federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, or FDCPA, provides guidelines and limitations on the conduct of certain debt collectors in
connection with the collection of consumer debts. The FDCPA limits certain communications with third parties, imposes notice and debt validation
requirements, and prohibits threatening, harassing or abusive conduct in the course of debt collection. The FDCPA primarily applies to third-party debt
collectors, meaning parties collecting on behalf of another, and debt collection laws of certain states also impose similar requirements more broadly on
creditors who collect their own debts. In addition, the CFPB prohibits unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, or UDAAPs in debt collection,
including
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first-party debt collection. In addition, on October 30, 2020, the CFPB issued a final rule implementing requirements of the FDCPA and a second final rule
on debt collection focused on consumer disclosures on December 18, 2020, which took effect on November 30, 2021. The CFPB also issued a second
final rule on debt collection focused on consumer disclosures on December 18, 2020, which also took effect on November 30, 2021. OppFi uses its
internal collection team and professional third-party debt collection agents to collect delinquent accounts. Any third-party debt collection agents OppFi
uses are required to comply with the FDCPA and all other applicable laws in collecting delinquent accounts of borrowers. While its internal servicing team
is not subject to the formal requirements of the FDCPA in most cases, OppFi has established policies intended to substantially comply with the collection
practice requirements under the FDCPA as a means of complying with more general UDAAP standards.

Privacy and Data Security Laws

The federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, includes limitations on financial institutions’ disclosure of nonpublic personal information about a
consumer to nonaffiliated third parties, in certain circumstances requires financial institutions to limit the use and further disclosure of nonpublic personal
information by nonaffiliated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires financial institutions to disclose certain privacy policies and
practices with respect to information sharing with affiliated and unaffiliated entities as well as to safeguard personal customer information. OppFi collects
and uses a wide variety of information to help ensure the integrity of its services and to provide features and functionality to its customers. This aspect of
OppFi’'s business, including the collection, use, and protection of the information OppFi acquires from its own services as well as from third-party sources,
is subject to laws and regulations in the United States. Accordingly, OppFi publishes its privacy policies and terms of service, which describe its practices
concerning the use, transmission, and disclosure of information. OppFi has a detailed privacy policy, which complies with GLBA and is accessible from
every page of its website. OppFi maintains consumers’ personal information securely, and OppFi does not sell, rent or share such information with third
parties for marketing purposes unless previously agreed to by the consumer. In addition, OppFi takes measures to safeguard the personal information of
borrowers and investors and protect against unauthorized access to this information. As OppFi’'s business continues to expand, and as state and federal
laws and regulations continue to be passed and their interpretations continue to evolve, additional laws and regulations may become relevant to OppFi.

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

In response to the prior financial crisis, the Dodd-Frank Act was enacted as extensive and significant legislation with consumer protection
provisions. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act created the CFPB, which commenced operations in July 2011 and has significant authority to
implement and enforce federal consumer financial laws, such as the TILA and ECOA. The CFPB is authorized to prevent “unfair, deceptive or abusive
acts or practices” through its regulatory, supervisory and enforcement authority. The CFPB also engages in consumer financial education, requests data
and promotes the availability of financial services to underserved customers and communities. The CFPB has regulatory and enforcement powers over
most providers of consumer financial products and services, including OppFi. It also has supervisory and examination powers over certain providers of
consumer financial products and services, including large banks, payday lenders, “larger participants” in certain financial services markets defined by
CFPB regulation, and non-bank entities determined to present a risk to consumers after notice and an opportunity to respond.

The CFPB has imposed, and will continue to impose, restrictions on lending practices, including with respect to the terms of certain loans. OppFi
and its bank partners are subject to the CFPB’s enforcement authority, which could increase under new CFPB leadership. The CFPB may request
reports concerning OppFi's organization, business conduct, markets and activities. In addition, the CFPB may, in connection with its supervisory
authority, also conduct on-site examinations of its and its bank partners’ businesses on a periodic basis, subject to whether the applicable bank partner
satisfies the assets threshold for CFPB supervision. If the CFPB were to conclude that OppFi’'s loan origination assistance or servicing activities, or any
loans originated by its bank partners on its platform, violate applicable consumer protection laws or regulations, OppFi could be subject to a formal or
informal inquiry, investigation and/or enforcement action. Formal enforcement actions are generally made public, which carries reputational risk. In
addition, the market price of the Class A Common Stock could decline as a result of the initiation of a CFPB investigation of OppFi or even the perception
that such an investigation could occur, even in the absence of any finding by the CFPB that OppFi has violated any state or federal law. As of the date
hereof, OppFi is not subject to any enforcement actions by the CFPB.

For more information regarding the CFPB and the CFPB rules to which OppFi is subject or may become subject, see “Risk Factors” included
elsewhere in this report.
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Federal Trade Commission Act

Under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, OppFi and its bank partners are prohibited from engaging in unfair and deceptive acts and
practices. The FTC is the primary regulator enforcing this prohibition, and in recent years the FTC has been focused on practices of nonbank financial
institutions. Based on publicly available actions, the FTC'’s primary focus has been with respect to marketing and disclosure practices. For instance, in
September 2020, the FTC filed a complaint against a collection firm for illegal debt collection practices including use of deceptive robocalling and
misrepresenting their association with a law firm.

Electronic Fund Transfer Act and NACHA Rules

The federal Electronic Fund Transfer Act, or EFTA, provides guidelines and restrictions on the electronic transfer of funds from consumers’ bank
accounts. Under EFTA, and Regulation E that implements it, OppFi must obtain consumer consents prior to receiving preauthorized electronic transfer of
funds from consumers’ bank accounts, and its bank partners may not condition an extension of credit on the borrower’s agreement to repay the loan
through preauthorized (recurring) electronic fund transfers. In addition to compliance with federal laws, transfers performed by ACH electronic transfers
are subject to detailed timing and notification rules and guidelines administered by NACHA. While NACHA guidelines are not laws, failure to comply with
them may nevertheless result in commercial harm to OppFi's business. All transfers of funds related to its operations conform to the EFTA, its regulations
and NACHA guidelines. As part of OppFi’'s servicing activities, OppFi obtains necessary electronic authorization from borrowers and investors for such
transfers in compliance with applicable rules. The loans offered on OppFi's platform by its bank partners must also comply with the requirement that a
loan cannot be conditioned on the borrower’s agreement to repay the loan through preauthorized (recurring) electronic fund transfers.

Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act

The federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, or ESIGN, and similar state laws, particularly the Uniform Electronic
Transactions Act, or UETA, authorize the creation of legally binding and enforceable agreements utilizing electronic records and signatures. ESIGN and
UETA require businesses that want to use electronic records or signatures in consumer transactions and provide disclosures to consumers (otherwise
required to be “in writing” in electronic form), to obtain the consumer’s consent to receive information electronically. When a consumer registers on its
platform, OppFi obtains his or her consent to transact business electronically, receive electronic disclosures and maintain electronic records in
compliance with ESIGN and UETA requirements, and OppFi maintains electronic signatures and records in a manner intended to support enforceability
of relevant consumer agreements and consents.

Federal Marketing Regulations

The Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA, generally prohibits robocalls, including those calls made using an auto-dialer or prerecorded or
artificial voice calls made to a wireless telephone without the prior express consent of the called party (or prior express written consent, if messages
constitute telemarketing). In addition, the FTC Telemarketing Sales Rule implements the FTC’s Do-Not-Call Registry and imposes numerous other
requirements and limitations in connection with telemarketing. OppFi’'s policies address the requirements of the TCPA as well as FTC Telemarketing
Sales Rule and other laws limiting telephone outreach. Furthermore, OppFi does not engage in certain activities covered by the TCPA, such as using an
automated dialer.

The Federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing, or CAN-SPAM, Act makes it unlawful to send certain electronic
mail messages that contain false or deceptive information and provide other protections for email users. CAN-SPAM also requires the need to provide a
functioning mechanism that allows the recipient to opt-out of receiving future commercial e-mail messages from the sender of such messages. OppFi's
email communications with all consumers are formulated to comply with the CAN-SPAM Act.

Servicemembers Civil Relief Act

Under the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, or SCRA, there are limits on interest rates chargeable to military personnel and civil judicial
proceedings against them, and there are limitations on its ability to collect on a loan to servicemembers on active duty originated prior to the
servicemember entering active duty status and, in certain cases, for a period of time thereafter. The SCRA allows military members to suspend or
postpone certain civil obligations so that the military member can devote his or her full attention to military duties. The SCRA requires OppFi to adjust the
interest rate charged on loans to borrowers who qualify for and request relief. If a borrower with an outstanding loan qualifies for SCRA protection the
interest rate on their loan (including certain fees) will be reduced to 6% for the duration of the borrower’s active duty. During this
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period, any interest holder in the loan will not receive the difference between 6% and the loan’s original interest rate. As part of the services OppFi
provides, and in compliance with SCRA, OppFi requires the borrower to send it a written request and a copy of the borrower’s mobilization orders to
obtain an interest rate reduction on a loan due to military service. Other protections offered to servicemembers under the SCRA, including protections
related to the collection of loans, do not require the servicemember to take any particular action, such as submitting military orders, to claim benefits.

Military Lending Act

Under the Military Lending Act, certain members of the armed forces serving on active duty and their dependents must be identified and be
provided with certain protections when becoming obligated on a consumer credit transaction. These protections include: a limit on the Military Annual
Percentage Rate (an all-in cost-of-credit measure which is the same as the APR for loans facilitated on its platform) of 36%, certain required disclosures
before origination, a prohibition on charging prepayment penalties and a prohibition on arbitration agreements and certain other loan agreement terms. As
part of the services OppFi provides, OppFi ensures compliance with the requirements of the Military Lending Act, where applicable.

Bank Secrecy Act, USA PATRIOT Act, and U.S. Sanctions Laws

Under the Bank Secrecy Act, the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism
Act, or USA PATRIOT ACT, and certain U.S. sanctions laws, OppFi's bank partners are required to maintain anti-money laundering (“AML"), customer
due diligence and record-keeping policies and procedures, which OppFi performs on behalf of its bank partners, and to avoid doing business with
sanctioned persons or entities or engaging in types of sanctioned activity in certain jurisdictions. OppFi has implemented an AML program designed to
prevent its platform from being used to facilitate money laundering, terrorist financing, and other illicit activity. OppFi's AML program is designed to
prevent its platform from being used to facilitate money laundering and from conducting business in countries, or with persons or entities, included on
designated lists promulgated by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls (“OFAC”) and equivalent foreign authorities.
OppFi's AML compliance program includes policies, procedures, reporting protocols, and internal controls, including the designation of an AML
compliance officer, and is designed to address these legal and regulatory requirements and to assist in managing risk associated with money laundering
and terrorist financing. With respect to new borrowers, OppFi applies the customer identification and verification program rules and screen names against
the list of specially designated nationals maintained by OFAC.

Bankruptcy Code

Under the Bankruptcy Code, OppFi is in certain circumstances prohibited by the automatic stay, reorganization plan and discharge provisions,
among others, in seeking enforcement of debts against parties who have filed for bankruptcy protection. OppFi’s policies are designed to support
compliance with the Bankruptcy Code as OppFi services and collects loans.

Small Dollar Loan Rule

In 2017, the CFPB issued a rule regulating small dollar loans which applies to lenders (such as our bank partners) making covered loans, defined
as: (i) consumer loans with a term of 45 days or less; (ii) longer-term consumer balloon payment loans; and (iii) consumer loans that exceed 45 days in
term with a “cost of credit” that exceeds 36% APR in which the lender obtains a leveraged payment mechanism (i.e., the lender has the right to transfer
money from a consumer’s account). As proposed, the rule (a) included fairly significant requirements for lenders to undertake specific underwriting
processes referred to as ability-to-pay determinations before making a loan; (b) made it an unfair and abusive practice for a lender to make a third attempt
to withdraw payment from a consumer’s account in connection with loans that have terms of 45 days or less where two consecutive attempts to withdraw
payments from the account failed due to a lack of sufficient funds, unless the lender obtains new and specific authorization from the consumer; and (c)
required lenders to provide consumers with written notice before making their first attempt to withdraw payment from a borrower’s account and before
subsequent attempts that involve different dates, amounts, or payment channels.

The CFPB rescinded portions of the rule requiring an ability-to-pay determination in 2020. In October 2022, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals issued
its opinion in Community Financial Services Association of America, et al. v. CFPB (CFSA v. CFPB) invalidating the CFPB’s Payday, Vehicle-Title, and
Certain High-Cost Installment Loans rule (Small-Dollar Rule). The three-member panel decision called into question the future viability of the CFPB by
declaring unconstitutional the regulator’s funding mechanism. The CFPB appealed the case to the United States Supreme Court, which heard oral
arguments in October 2023. Enforcement of the rule is stayed, pending resolution of the litigation.
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OppFi believes the rule is common sense legislation and good for the industry. It is possible the rule, when enforced, could impact OppFi's
business or require it to obtain additional borrower consents or make additional disclosures on behalf of its bank partners. Also, if the ability-to-pay
determination is re-inserted by the CFPB, OppFi could be required to take additional actions in connection with loan transactions made on behalf of its
bank partners.

State Lending Regulations
State Usury Limitations

With respect to bank partners that are FDIC-insured, state banks originating loans on our platform, which represent the vast majority of loans
originated or national banks or federal savings banks originating loans on our platform, federal case law and relevant regulatory guidance (including FDIC
advisory opinion 92-47) permit depository institutions to “export” requirements regarding interest rates and certain fees considered to be “interest” under
federal law from the state or U.S. territory where the bank is located for all loans originated from such state, regardless of the usury limitations imposed
by the state law of the borrower’s residence or other states with which the loan may have a geographic nexus, unless the state has chosen to opt out of
the exportation regime. OppFi believes, however, if a state or U.S. territory in which one of our bank partners operate opted out of rate exportation,
judicial interpretations support the view that such opt outs would apply only to loans “made” in those states. OppFi believes that the “opt-out” of any state
would not affect the ability of its platform to benefit from the exportation of rates. If a loan made through OppFi’s platform by a bank partner were deemed
to be subject to the usury laws of a state or U.S. territory that had opted-out of the exportation regime, if the loan were not originated in a manner that
permitted exportation of interest rate requirements from the state OppFi and its bank partners believed applied at the time of origination, if the loan bore
interest or certain fees in excess of the amounts permitted by the state in which the loan was “made” for exportation purposes (or was otherwise in
violation of such state’s relevant usury and fee laws) or if the interest exportation authority were determined not to apply to a loan under any particular
circumstances, OppFi, its bank partners, or subsequent holders of such loans could become subject to fines, penalties and possible forfeiture of amounts
charged to borrowers, and OppFi could decide not to permit bank partners to originate loans in that jurisdiction through its platform or its bank partners or
loan investors could choose not to continue doing business with OppFi in such jurisdiction or more broadly, which could adversely impact its growth.

There have also been recent judicial decisions that could affect the collectability of loans sold by OppFi’'s bank partners after origination and the
exposure of loan purchasers to potential fines or other penalties for usury violations. See the section titled “Risk Factors” for more information about
recent case law developments.

State Disclosure and Lending Practice Requirements

The loans originated on OppFi’'s platform by its bank partners may be subject to state laws and regulations that impose requirements related to loan
disclosures and terms, credit discrimination, credit reporting, debt collection, and unfair or deceptive business practices. OppFi's ongoing compliance
program seeks to comply with these requirements.

State Licensing/Registration

OppFi holds licenses, registrations, and similar filings so that OppFi can conduct business, including providing referral services and origination
assistance to lenders on its platform and servicing and collecting loans, in all states and the District of Columbia where its activities require such
licensure, registration or filing. Licenses granted by the regulatory agencies in various states are subject to periodic renewal and may be revoked or
suspended for failure to comply with applicable state and federal laws and regulations. In addition, as the product offerings of OppFi or its bank partners
change, as states enact new licensing requirements or amend existing licensing laws or regulations, or as states regulators or courts adjust their
interpretations of licensing statutes and regulations, OppFi may be required to obtain additional licenses. OppFi is also typically required to complete an
annual report (or its equivalent) to each state’s regulator. The statutes also typically subject OppFi to the supervisory and examination authority of state
regulators.

State licensing statutes impose a variety of requirements and restrictions, including:
« record-keeping requirements;
¢ collection and servicing practices;
e requirements governing electronic payments, transactions, signatures and disclosures;

e examination requirements;
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e surety bond and minimum net worth requirements;
« financial reporting requirements;
¢ notification requirements for changes in principal officers, stock ownership or corporate control; and

» restrictions on advertising and other loan solicitation activity, as well as restrictions on loan referral or similar practices.

Compliance

OppFi reviews its policies and procedures to ensure compliance with applicable regulatory laws and regulations applicable to OppFi and its bank
partners. OppFi has built its systems and processes with controls in place in order to permit its policies and procedures to be followed on a consistent
basis. For example, to ensure proper controls are in place to maintain compliance with the consumer protection related laws and regulations, OppFi has
developed a compliance management system consistent with the regulatory expectations published by governmental agencies. While no compliance
program can assure that there will never be violations, or alleged violations, of applicable laws, OppFi believes that its compliance management system is
reasonably designed and managed to minimize compliance-related risks.

Intellectual Property

OppFi protects its intellectual property through a combination of trademarks, domain names and trade secrets, as well as through confidentiality
agreements, its information security infrastructure and restrictions on access to or use of its proprietary technology.

OppFi has trademark registrations in the United States in its names and its logo. OppFi will pursue additional trademark registrations to the extent
OppFi believes it will be beneficial. OppFi also has registered domain names for websites that OppFi uses in its business. OppFi may be subject to third
party claims from time to time with respect to its intellectual property.

Additionally, OppFi relies upon unpatented trade secrets and confidential know-how and continuing technological innovation to develop and
maintain its competitive position. OppFi also enters into confidentiality and intellectual property rights agreements with its employees, consultants,
contractors and bank partners. Under such agreements, OppFi's employees, consultants and contractors are subject to invention assignment provisions
designed to protect its proprietary information and ensure its ownership in intellectual property developed pursuant to such agreements.

For additional information about its intellectual property and associated risks, see the section titled “Risk Factors-Risks Related to OppFi's Business
and Industry.”

Employees and Human Capital

OppFi believes it has built something very special in terms of its company culture. Building a great place to work for the best talent was a priority for
OppFi from day one. It is not an accident that OppFi has received numerous best place to work awards in its Chicago headquarters.

OppFi has brought together a remarkable diversity of thinkers. The members of OppFi's management team come from diverse backgrounds with
varying ethnicities, education backgrounds, genders and ages. As the focal point of its human capital strategy, OppFi attracts and recruits diverse,
exceptionally talented, experienced and motivated employees.

As of December 31, 2023, OppFi had approximately 445 full-time employees. OppFi also engages contractors and consultants as needed to
support its operations. None of OppFi’'s employees are represented by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement. OppFi has not
experienced any work stoppages, and OppFi considers its relations with its employees to be good.

Corporate Information

FGNA was incorporated in the State of Delaware on June 24, 2020 as a special purpose acquisition company under the name FG New America
Acquisition Corp. OppFi-LLC is a Delaware limited liability company formed on December 3, 2015.
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On October 2, 2020, FGNA completed its IPO. On the Closing Date, the Business Combination with OppFi was consummated, resulting in the combined
company being organized in an “Up-C” structure, and FGNA as the registrant changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi is headquartered in Chicago,
lllinois.

ITEM1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves risks. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other
information in this Annual Report, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and the financial statements and notes to the financial statements included herein, before deciding whether to purchase our securities. If any of these
risks actually occur, our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. Unless otherwise
indicated, references in these risk factors to our business being harmed will include harm to our business, reputation, brand, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects. In such event, the market price of our securities could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. We may face
additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, which may also impair our business or financial
condition.

Summary of Risk Factors Related to Our Business

The following is a summary of the risk factors our business faces. The list below is not exhaustive, and investors should read this “Risk Factors”
section in full. Some of the risks we face include:

» we are a rapidly growing company with a relatively limited operating history, which may result in increased risks, uncertainties, expenses and
difficulties, and makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects;

« our revenue growth rate and financial performance in recent periods may not be indicative of future performance and such growth may slow over
time;

« if we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected;
* we may not be able to maintain or increase our profitability in the future;
* we may experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results;

« if we are unable to continue to improve our machine learning models or if these models contain errors or are otherwise ineffective, our growth
prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected,;

« if our bank partners were to cease or limit operations with us or if we are unable to attract and onboard new bank partners, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected;

« our sales and onboarding process of new bank partners could take longer than expected, leading to fluctuations or variability in expected
revenues and results of operations;

« our business may be adversely affected by economic conditions and other factors that we cannot control;

« decreased demand for loans as a result of increased savings or income could result in a loss of revenues or decline in profitability if we are
unable to successfully adapt to such changes;

« our models have not yet been extensively tested during down-cycle economic conditions. If our models do not accurately reflect a borrower’s
credit risk in such economic conditions, the performance of loans facilitated on our platform may be worse than anticipated;

« our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations, many of which are evolving, and changes in such laws and regulations or the
enforcement of such laws and regulations, and/or failure or perceived failure to comply with such laws and regulations, could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations;

« substantially all of our revenue is derived from a single loan product, and it is thus particularly susceptible to fluctuations in the unsecured
personal loan market. We also do not currently offer a broad suite of products that bank partners may find desirable;

« if we are unable to manage the risks related to new products and service offerings that we offer, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected,;

« if we are unable to maintain diverse and robust sources of capital to fund loans originated by us on our platform in certain states or fund our
purchase of participation rights in the economic interests of loans originated by our bank partners on our platform, then our growth prospects, business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected;
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« we rely on borrowings under our corporate and warehouse credit facilities to fund certain aspects of our operations, and any inability to meet our
obligations as they come due or to comply with various covenants could harm our business;

« if we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal controls over financial reporting, as a public company, our ability to produce
accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in financial reporting and the trading price of our securities
may decline;

« it may be difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we may not be able to ensure their protection;

« if loans originated by us or loans originated by our bank partners and facilitated by our platform are found to violate the laws of one or more states,
whether at origination or after sale by the originating bank partner, such loans may be unenforceable or otherwise impaired, and we or other program
participants may be subject to, among other things, fines, judgments and penalties, and/or our commercial relationships may suffer, each of which would
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations;

« if we are unsuccessful in preventing the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation (“DFPI”) from enforcing the interest rate
caps set forth in the California Financing Law, as amended by the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539 (“CFL"), against loans that are originated by our
bank partners on our platform and serviced through our technology and service platform, our bank partners’ ability to originate loans on our platform in
California could suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition;

« if loans facilitated through our platform for one or more bank partners are subject to successful challenge that the bank partner was not the “true
lender,” such loans may be unenforceable, subject to rescission, or otherwise impaired, we or other program participants may be subject to fines,
judgments and penalties, and/or our commercial relationships may suffer, each of which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations;

« litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, remediation costs and/or
requirements resulting in increased expenses;

« as a holding company, our only asset is our interest in OppFi-LLC, and we depend on OppFi-LLC to pay our expenses, and based on our tax
structure, we may be required to satisfy our liabilities under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which could be substantial; and

» a minority share position may reduce the influence that our non-affiliate stockholders have on our management.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We are a rapidly growing company with a relatively limited operating history, which may result in increased risks, uncertainties,
expenses and difficulties, and makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects.

We were founded in 2012 and have experienced rapid growth in recent years. Our limited operating history may make it difficult to make accurate
predictions about our future performance. Assessing our business and future prospects may also be difficult because of the risks and difficulties we face.
These risks and difficulties include our ability to:

« improve the effectiveness and predictiveness of our machine learning models;
» maintain and increase the volume of loans facilitated by our specialty finance platform;
« enter into new and maintain existing bank partnerships;

« successfully maintain diverse and robust sources of capital to fund loans originated by us on our platform in certain states or fund our purchase of
participation rights in the economic interests of loans originated by our bank partners on our platform;

« successfully fund a sufficient quantity of our borrower loan demand with low cost bank funding to help keep interest rates offered to borrowers
competitive;

« successfully build our brand and protect our reputation from negative publicity;
« increase the effectiveness of our marketing strategies, including our direct consumer marketing initiatives;
« continue to expand the number of potential borrowers;

« successfully adjust our proprietary machine learning models, products and services in a timely manner in response to changing macroeconomic
conditions and fluctuations in the credit market;
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« respond to general economic conditions, including economic slowdowns, inflation, interest rate changes, recessions and tightening of credit
markets;

« comply with and successfully adapt to complex and evolving regulatory environments;
« protect against increasingly sophisticated fraudulent borrowing and online theft;

« successfully compete with companies that are currently in, or may in the future enter, the business of providing online lending services to financial
institutions or consumer financial services to borrowers;

« enter into new markets and introduce new products and services;

« effectively secure and maintain the confidentiality of the information received, accessed, stored, provided and used across our systems;
« successfully obtain and maintain funding and liquidity to support continued growth and general corporate purposes;

« attract, integrate and retain qualified employees; and

« effectively manage and expand the capabilities of our operations teams, outsourcing relationships and other business operations.

If we are not able to timely and effectively address these risks and difficulties as well as those described elsewhere in this “ Risk Factors” section,
our business and results of operations may be harmed.

Our revenue growth rate and financial performance in recent periods may not be indicative of future performance and such growth may
slow over time.

We have grown rapidly over the last several years, and our recent revenue growth rate and financial performance may not be indicative of our
future performance. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, our revenue was approximately $350.6 million, $452.9 million and $508.9
million, respectively, representing year-over-year revenue growth of approximately 29% from 2021 to 2022 and 12% from 2022 to 2023. You should not
rely on our revenue for any previous quarterly or annual period as any indication of our revenue or revenue growth in future periods. As we grow our
business, our revenue growth rates may slow, or our revenue may decline, in future periods for a number of reasons, which may include slowing demand
for our platform offerings and services, increasing competition, a decrease in the growth of the overall credit market, changes in the regulatory
environment, which could lead to increasing regulatory costs and challenges, and our failure to capitalize on growth opportunities. Further, we believe our
growth over the last several years has been driven in large part by our machine learning models and our continued improvements to our machine learning
models. Future incremental improvements to our machine learning models may not lead to the same level of growth as in past periods. In addition, we
believe our growth over the last several years has been driven in part by our ability to rapidly streamline and automate the loan application and origination
process on our platform. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, our auto-approval rate was approximately 51.6%, 65.3% and 71.9%,
respectively, representing a year-over-year increase of approximately 26.6% from 2021 to 2022 and 10.1% from 2022 to 2023. See the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations " for more information on how we define auto-approval rate. We
expect the auto-approval rate on our platform to level off and remain relatively constant in the long term, and to the extent we expand our loan offerings
beyond unsecured personal loans, we expect that such percentage may decrease in the short term. As a result of these factors, our revenue growth rates
may slow, and our financial performance may be adversely affected.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Over the last several years, we have experienced rapid growth and fluctuations in our business and the total net originations on our platform, and
we expect to continue to experience growth and fluctuations in the future. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, total net originations
on our platform were approximately $595.1 million, $752.9 million, $747.8 million, respectively, representing a year-over-year increase of approximately
26.5% from 2021 to 2022 and a year-over-year decrease of approximately 0.7% from 2022 to 2023. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for more information on how we define total net originations. This rapid growth has placed, and
may continue to place, significant demands on our management, processes and operational, technological and financial resources. Our ability to manage
our growth effectively and to integrate new employees and technologies into our existing business will require us to continue to retain, attract, train,
motivate and manage employees and expand our operational, technological and financial infrastructure. Continued growth could strain our ability to
develop and improve our operational, technological, financial and management controls, enhance our reporting systems and procedures,
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recruit, train and retain highly skilled personnel and maintain user satisfaction. Any of the foregoing factors could negatively affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to maintain or increase our profitability in the future.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, we experienced net income of approximately $89.8 million, $3.3 million and $39.5 million,
respectively, representing a year-over-year decrease of approximately 96% from 2021 to 2022 and a year-over-year increase of approximately 1,082%
from 2022 to 2023. We intend to continue to expend significant funds to continue to develop and improve our proprietary machine learning models,
improve our marketing efforts to increase the number of borrowers on our platform, enhance the features and overall user experience of our platform,
expand the types of loan offerings on our platform and otherwise continue to grow our business, and we may not be able to increase our revenue enough
to offset these significant expenditures. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including the other risks described in this
section, and unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, macroeconomic conditions, including economic slowdowns, interest rate
changes, recessions, inflation and tightening of credit markets, poor performance of loan vintages, and other unknown events. Any failure to increase our
revenue sufficiently to keep pace with our investments and other expenses could prevent us from maintaining or improving profitability on a consistent
basis. If we are unable to successfully address these risks and challenges as we encounter them, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

We may experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results.

Our quarterly results of operations, including the levels of our revenue, net income and other key metrics, are likely to vary significantly in the future,
and period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations may not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results for any one quarter are not necessarily an
accurate indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control.
Factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results include:

« our ability to improve the effectiveness and predictiveness of our machine learning models;
« our ability to maintain relationships with existing bank partners and our ability to attract new bank partners;

« our ability to maintain or increase loan volumes, and improve loan mix and the channels through which the loans, bank partners and loan funding
are sourced,

« general economic conditions, including economic slowdowns, recessions and tightening of credit markets, including due the failures of banks or
other financial institutions, the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and any governmental response to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic;

« improvements to our machine learning models that negatively impact transaction volume, such as lower approval rates;
« the timing and success of new products and services;
« the effectiveness of our direct marketing and other marketing channels;

« the amount and timing of operating expenses related to maintaining and expanding our business, operations and infrastructure, including
acquiring new and maintaining existing bank partners and investors and attracting borrowers to our platform;

« our cost of borrowing money and access to loan and participation right funding sources;

« the number and extent of loans facilitated on our platform that are subject to loan modifications and/or temporary assistance due to disasters or
emergencies;

« the number and extent of prepayments of loans facilitated on our platform;

« changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities on our balance sheet;

« network outages or actual or perceived security breaches;

« our involvement in litigation or regulatory enforcement efforts (or the threat thereof) or those that impact our industry generally;
« the length of the onboarding process related to acquisitions of new bank partners;

« changes in laws and regulations that impact our business; and

« changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry, including consolidation among competitors or the development of competitive products by
larger well-funded incumbents.
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In addition, we experience significant seasonality in the demand for loans on our platform, which is generally lower in the first quarter. This
seasonal slowdown is primarily attributable to high loan demand around the holidays in the fourth quarter and the general increase in borrowers’
available cash flows in the first quarter, including cash received from tax refunds, which temporarily reduces borrowing needs. While our growth has
obscured this seasonality in our overall financial results, we expect our results of operations to continue to be affected by such seasonality in the future. In
light of these factors, results for any period should not be relied upon as being indicative of performance in future periods.

If we are unable to continue to improve our machine learning models or if our machine learning models contain errors or are otherwise
ineffective, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Our ability to attract customers to our platform and increase the number of loans facilitated on our platform will depend in large part on our ability to
effectively evaluate a borrower’s creditworthiness and likelihood of default and, based on that evaluation, offer competitively priced loans and higher
approval rates. Further, our overall operating efficiency and margins will depend in large part on our ability to maintain a high degree of automation in the
loan application process and achieve incremental improvements in the degree of automation. If our models fail to adequately predict the creditworthiness
of borrowers due to the design of our models or programming or other errors, and our models do not detect and account for such errors, or any of the
other components of our credit decision process fails, we and our bank partners may experience higher than forecasted loan losses. Any of the foregoing
could result in sub-optimally priced loans, incorrect approvals or denials of loans, or higher than expected loan losses, which in turn could adversely affect
our ability to attract new borrowers and bank partners to our platform, increase the number of loans facilitated on our platform or maintain or increase the
average size of loans facilitated on our platform.

Our models also target and optimize other aspects of the lending process, such as borrower acquisition, fraud detection, default timing, loan
stacking, prepayment timing and fee optimization, and our continued improvements to such models have allowed us to facilitate loans inexpensively and
virtually instantly, with a high degree of consumer satisfaction and with an insignificant impact on loan performance. However, such applications of our
models may prove to be less predictive than we expect, or than they have been in the past, for a variety of reasons, including inaccurate assumptions or
other errors made in constructing such models, incorrect interpretations of the results of such models and failure to timely update model assumptions and
parameters. Additionally, such models may not be able to effectively account for matters that are inherently difficult to predict and beyond our control,
such as macroeconomic conditions, credit market volatility and interest rate fluctuations, which often involve complex interactions between a number of
dependent and independent variables and factors. Material errors or inaccuracies in such models could lead us to make inaccurate or sub-optimal
operational or strategic decisions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, errors or inaccuracies in our models could result in any person exposed to the credit risk of loans facilitated on our platform, whether it
be us, our bank partners or our sources of capital, experiencing higher than expected losses or lower than desired returns, which could impair our ability
to retain existing or attract new bank partners and sources of capital, reduce the number, or limit the types, of loans bank partners and sources of capital
are willing to fund, and limit our ability to increase commitments under our credit facilities. Any of these circumstances could reduce the number of loans
facilitated on our platform and harm our ability to maintain diverse and robust sources of capital and could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Continuing to improve the accuracy of our models is central to our business strategy. While we believe that continuing to improve the accuracy of
our models is key to our long-term success, those improvements could, from time to time, lead us to reevaluate the risks associated with certain
borrowers, which could in turn cause us to lower approval rates or increase interest rates for any borrowers identified as a higher risk, either of which
could negatively impact our growth and results of operations in the short term.

If our existing bank partners were to cease or limit operations with us or if we are unable to attract and onboard new bank partners, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Approximately 95% and 98% of our net originations were generated from loans originated by our bank partners and facilitated by our platform in
the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Our primary bank partners FinWise, First Electronic Bank (“FEB”) and Capital
Community Bank (“CCB”) began originating loans on the OppFi platform in January 2018, May 2020 and October 2020, respectively. FinWise accounted
for approximately 36.2% and 34.2% of the net originations facilitated by our platform during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively,
and similar percentages of our net revenues. FEB accounted for approximately 43.2% and 45.2% of the net originations facilitated by our platform during
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively, and similar percentages of our net revenues. CCB accounted for approximately 15.6% and
18.3% of the net originations facilitated by our platform during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively, and similar percentages of
our net revenues. Our bank partners retain a certain
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portion of the economic interests in these originated loans on their own balance sheets and sell participation rights in the remainder of the economic
interests in these originated loans to us, which we in turn sell to our special purpose finance entities.

We have entered into separate agreements with each of our three primary bank partners. Our agreements with our bank partners are nonexclusive,
generally have 60-month terms and certain agreements automatically renew, subject to certain early termination provisions and minimum fee amounts,
and do not include any minimum origination obligations or origination limits. The current term of our agreements with FinWise, FEB and CCB expire on
February 1, 2026, November 1, 2024, and April 17, 2025, respectively, unless renewed.

Our bank partners could decide to stop working with us, terminate our agreements with them early upon the occurrence of certain events, ask to
modify their agreement terms in a cost prohibitive manner when their agreement is up for renewal or enter into exclusive or more favorable relationships
with our competitors. Further, even during the term of our arrangements, our bank partners could choose to reduce the volume of loans facilitated on our
platform that they choose to originate. In addition, regulators may require that they terminate or otherwise limit their business with us; impose regulatory
pressure limiting their ability to do business with us; or directly examine and assess our records, risk controls and compliance programs as they relate to
our interactions with bank partners (and thereafter limit or prohibit future business between that bank partner and us). For example, in spite of federal law
permitting state-chartered banks to enter into loans with interest rates allowed in their chartering states, the DFPI has sought to limit the interest rates of
loans made by our bank partners on our platform in the State of California, which could have an impact on our bank partners’ ability to originate loans on
our platform in California. We could in the future have disagreements or disputes with any of our bank partners, which could negatively impact or
threaten our relationship with them. In our agreements with bank partners, we make certain representations and warranties and covenants concerning
our compliance with specific policies of a bank partner, our compliance with certain procedures and guidelines related to laws and regulations applicable
to our bank partners, as well as the services to be provided by us. If those representations and warranties were not accurate when made or if we fail to
perform a covenant, we may be liable for any resulting damages, including potentially any losses associated with impacted loans, and our reputation and
ability to continue to attract new bank partners would be adversely affected. Additionally, our bank partners may engage in mergers, acquisitions or
consolidations with each other, our competitors or with third parties, any of which could be disruptive to our existing and prospective relationships with our
bank partners. If the bank partners listed above or any of our future bank partners were to stop working with us, suspend, limit, or cease their operations,
or otherwise terminate their relationship with us, the number of loans facilitated through our platform could decrease and our revenue and revenue
growth rates could be adversely affected. We also may be unable to reach agreements with or timely onboard any new bank partners, and our results of
operations could be adversely affected.

The sales and onboarding process of new bank partners could take longer than expected, leading to fluctuations or variability in
expected revenues and results of operations.

Our sales and onboarding process with new bank partners can be long and typically takes between three to six months. As a result, our revenues
and results of operations may vary significantly from period to period. Prospective bank partners are often cautious in making decisions to implement our
platform and related services because of the risk management alignment and regulatory uncertainties related to their use of our machine learning models,
including their oversight, model governance and fair lending compliance obligations associated with using such models. In addition, prospective banks
undertake an extensive diligence review of our platform, compliance and servicing activities before choosing to partner with us. Further, the
implementation of our machine learning underwriting model often involves adjustments to the bank partner’s software and/or hardware platform or
changes in their operational procedures, which may involve significant time and expense to implement. Delays in onboarding new bank partners can also
arise while prospective bank partners complete their internal procedures to approve expenditures and test and accept our applications. Consequently, we
face difficulty predicting the quarter in which new bank partners will begin using our platform and the volume of fees we will receive, which can lead to
fluctuations in our revenues and results of operations.

Our business has been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by economic conditions and other factors that we cannot control.

Uncertainty and negative trends in general economic conditions, including significant tightening of credit markets, historically have created a
difficult operating environment for our industry. Many factors, including factors that are beyond our control, may impact our results of operations or
financial condition and our overall success by affecting a borrower’s willingness to incur loan obligations or willingness or capacity to make payments on
their loans. These factors include interest rates, levels of inflation, unemployment levels, conditions in the housing market, immigration policies, gas
prices, energy costs, government shutdowns, trade wars and delays in tax refunds, as well as events such as natural disasters, acts of war, terrorism,
catastrophes and pandemics.
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Many new consumers on our platform have limited or no credit history. Accordingly, such borrowers have historically been, and may in the future
become, disproportionately affected by adverse macroeconomic conditions, such as economic slowdowns, inflation, interest rate changes, recessions
and the disruption and uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

In addition, major medical expenses, divorce, death or other issues that affect borrowers could affect a borrower’s willingness or ability to make
payments on their loans. Increasing inflation and interest rates may also cause borrowers to allocate more of their income to necessities, thereby
potentially increasing their risk of default by reducing their ability to make loan payments. If borrowers default on loans facilitated on our platform, the cost
to service these loans may also increase without a corresponding increase in our servicing fees or other related fees and the value of the loans held on
our balance sheet could decline. Higher default rates by these borrowers may lead to lower demand by our bank partners and institutional investors to
fund loans facilitated by our platform, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

During periods of economic slowdown or recession, our sources of capital may reduce the level of participation rights in loans originated by our
bank partners on our platform that they will fund our purchase of, or the amounts of loans originated by us that they will fund, or demand terms that are
less favorable to us to compensate for any increased risks. A reduction in the volume of the loans that can be facilitated by our platform due to our
sources of capital would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

For example, the COVID-19 pandemic and other related adverse economic events led to a significant increase in unemployment, comparable, and
at times surpassing, the unemployment rates during the peak of the financial crisis in 2008. The increase in the unemployment rate could increase the
delinquency rate of loans facilitated on our platform or increase the rate of borrowers declaring bankruptcy. If we are unable to improve our machine
learning platform to account for events like the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting rise in unemployment, or if our machine learning platform is unable
to more successfully predict the creditworthiness of potential borrowers compared to other lenders, then our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, personal loans are dischargeable in a bankruptcy proceeding involving a borrower without the need for the borrower to file an
adversary claim. The discharge of a significant amount of personal loans facilitated by our platform could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations, including by causing our bank partners to stop working with us, suspend, limit, or cease their operations, or otherwise terminate
their relationship with us.

The COVID-19 pandemic harmed our growth rate and any future outbreaks or pandemics could also harm our growth rate and our business,
financial condition and results of operations, including the credit risk of our customers.

The COVID-19 pandemic caused extreme societal, economic and financial market volatility, resulting in business shutdowns, an unprecedented
reduction in economic activity and significant dislocation to businesses, the capital markets and the broader economy. In particular, the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the finances of borrowers on our platform has been profound, as many have been, and will likely continue to be, impacted by
unemployment, reduced earnings and/or elevated economic disruption and insecurity.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact our business and results of operations will depend on future developments that
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. An extended period of economic disruption as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or any future pandemics
or epidemics could have a material negative impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition, though the full extent and duration is
uncertain. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic or any future outbreak or pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it is likely to
also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.

Decreased demand for loans as a result of increased savings or income could result in a loss of revenues or decline in profitability if we
are unable to successfully adapt to such changes.

The demand for the loan products facilitated on our platform in the markets we serve could decline due to a variety of factors, such as regulatory
restrictions that reduce borrower access to particular products, the availability of competing or alternative products, or changes in borrowers’ financial
conditions, particularly increases in income or savings, such as recent government stimulus programs. For instance, an increase in state or federal
minimum wage requirements, a decrease in individual income tax rates or an increase in tax credits, could decrease demand for our loans. Additionally,
a change in focus from borrowing to saving would reduce demand. Should we fail to adapt to a significant change in borrowers’ demand for, or access to,
the loan products facilitated on our platform, our revenues could decrease significantly. Even if we make adaptations or introduce new products to fulfill
borrower demand, borrowers may resist or may reject products whose adaptations make them less attractive or less available. Such decreased demand
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.
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Our models have not yet been extensively tested during down-cycle economic conditions. If our models do not accurately reflect a
borrower’s credit risk in such economic conditions, the performance of loans facilitated on our platform may be worse than anticipated.

The performance of loans facilitated by our platform is significantly dependent on the effectiveness of our proprietary models used to evaluate a
borrower’s credit profile and likelihood of default. While our models have been refined and updated to account for the COVID-19 pandemic, the bulk of the
data gathered and the development of our models have largely occurred during a period of sustained economic growth, and our models have not been
extensively tested during a down-cycle economy or recession and have not been tested at all during a down-cycle economy or recession without
significant levels of government assistance. For example, during the year ended December 31, 2021, despite the outbreak and effects of the COVID-19
pandemic, our models indicated that the credit risk of our loan applicants remained flat during this period and government stimulus programs had positive
effects on the credit performance of loans facilitated on our platform during this period. This positive performance continued through the middle of 2021.
As the effects of stimulus wore off in the second half of 2021, it took time for the models to recognize the shift in loan performance. There is no assurance
that our models can continue to accurately predict loan performance under adverse economic conditions, or that our models will be able to recognize
future changes in credit performance before the effects or any such changes have an impact on the fair value of the finance receivables on our balance
sheet. If our models are unable to accurately reflect the credit risk of loans under such economic conditions, we may experience greater than expected
losses on such loans, which would harm our reputation and erode the trust we have built with our bank partners and capital sources. In addition, the fair
value of the loans on our balance sheet may decline. Any of these factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Substantially all of our revenue is derived from a single loan product, and we are thus particularly susceptible to fluctuations in the
unsecured personal loan market. We also do not currently offer a broad suite of products that bank partners may find desirable.

While we previously expanded the type of loan products offered on our platform to include SalaryTap, our payroll deduction secured installment
loan product, and our OppFi Card credit card product, we are not currently accepting applications for new SalaryTap loans or OppFi Card accounts on
our platform. All loan originations facilitated through our platform are currently unsecured personal installment loans. The market for unsecured personal
loans has grown rapidly in recent years, and it is unclear to what extent such market will continue to grow, if at all. A wide variety of factors could impact
the market for unsecured personal loans, including macroeconomic conditions, competition, regulatory developments and other developments in the
credit market. For example, FICO has changed its methodology in calculating credit scores in a manner that potentially penalizes borrowers who take out
personal loans to pay off or consolidate credit card debt. This change could negatively affect the overall demand for personal loans. Our success will
depend in part on the continued growth of the unsecured personal loan market, and if such market does not further grow or grows more slowly than we
expect, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, bank partners may in the future seek partnerships with competitors that are able to offer them a broader array of credit products. Over
time, in order to preserve and expand our relationships with our existing bank partners, and enter into new bank partnerships, it may become increasingly
important for us to be able to offer a wider variety of products than we currently provide. We are also susceptible to competitors that may intentionally
underprice their loan products, even if such pricing practices lead to losses. Such practices by competitors would negatively affect the overall demand for
personal loans facilitated on our platform.

Further, because such personal loans are unsecured, there is a risk that borrowers will not prioritize repayment of such loans, particularly in any
economic downcycle. To the extent borrowers have or incur other indebtedness that is secured, such as a mortgage, a home equity line of credit or an
auto loan, borrowers may choose to repay obligations under such secured indebtedness before repaying their loans facilitated on our platform. In
addition, borrowers may not view loans facilitated on our platform, which were originated through an online platform, as having the same significance as
other credit obligations arising under more traditional circumstances, such as loans originated by banks or other commercial financial institutions on other
platforms. Any of the forgoing could lead to higher default rates and decreased demand by our bank partners and capital sources to fund loans facilitated
by our platform, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, we experienced losses, which we refer to as net charge-offs, as a percentage of average
receivables on the installment loans portfolio of 37.5%, 61.9% and 55.4%, respectively. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for more information on net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables. When a loan facilitated
on our platform is charged off, the cost to service these loans may increase without a corresponding increase in our servicing fees or other related fees
and the value of the loans held on our balance sheet may decline. Higher default rates may also lead to lower demand by our bank partners and
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capital sources to fund loans facilitated by our platform, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are also more susceptible to the risks of changing and increased regulations and other legal and regulatory actions targeted towards the
unsecured personal loan market. It is possible that regulators may view unsecured personal loans as high risk for a variety of reasons, including that
borrowers will not prioritize repayment of such loans due to the unsecured nature of such loans or because existing laws and regulations may not
sufficiently address the benefits and corresponding risks related to nonbank financial institutions and their digital specialty finance platforms. Further,
courts and/or regulators could change their interpretation or application of state and federal consumer financial protection laws for the unsecured personal
loan product class given hardships borrowers experience or actual or perceived lack of borrower disclosure or understanding of loan terms. If we are
unable to manage the risks associated with the unsecured personal loan market, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

We have developed and may develop in the future new loan products and services offerings, and if we are unable to manage the related
risks, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may develop new loan products in the future. New initiatives are inherently risky, as each involves unproven business strategies, new
regulatory requirements and new financial products and services with which we, and in some cases our bank partners, have limited or no prior
development or operating experience. Launching new products can be capital intensive, and it can take time to determine both an appropriate market fit
and profitable unit. New products, once launched, may never achieve scale in a target market or achieve significant profitability, such as our SalaryTap
loans or OppFi Card products for which we are not currently accepting new applications.

We cannot be sure that we will be able to develop, commercially market and achieve market acceptance of any new products and services that we
may offer. In addition, our investment of resources to develop new products and services may either be insufficient or result in expenses that are
excessive in light of revenue actually derived from these new products and services. If the profile or behavior of loan applicants using any new products
and services is different from that of those currently served by our existing loan products, our machine learning models may not be able to accurately
evaluate the credit risk of such borrowers, and our bank partners and capital sources may in turn experience higher levels of delinquencies or defaults.
Failure to accurately predict demand or growth with respect to our new products and services could have an adverse impact on our reputation and
business, and there is always risk that new products and services will be unprofitable, will increase our costs, decrease operating margins or take longer
than anticipated to achieve target margins. In addition, any new products or services may raise new and potentially complex regulatory compliance
obligations, which would increase our costs and may cause us to change our business in unexpected ways. Further, our development efforts with respect
to these initiatives could distract management from current operations and will divert capital and other resources from our existing business.

We may also have difficulty with securing adequate funding for any such new loan products and services, and if we are unable to do so, our ability
to develop and grow these new offerings and services will be impaired. If we are unable to effectively manage the foregoing risks, our growth prospects,
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our reputation and brand are important to our success, and if we are unable to continue developing our reputation and brand, our ability
to retain existing and attract new bank partners, our ability to attract borrowers to our platform and our ability to maintain and improve our
relationship with regulators of our industry could be adversely affected.

We believe maintaining a strong brand and trustworthy reputation is critical to our success and our ability to attract borrowers to our platform, attract
new bank partners and maintain good relations with regulators and existing bank partners. Factors that affect our brand and reputation include:
perceptions of machine learning, our industry and our company, including the quality and reliability of our machine learning enabled underwriting platform;
the accuracy of our machine learning models; perceptions regarding the application of machine learning to consumer lending specifically; our loan
funding programs; changes to our platform; our ability to effectively manage and resolve borrower complaints; collection practices; privacy and security
practices; litigation; regulatory activity; and the overall user experience of our platform. Negative publicity or negative public perception of these factors,
even if inaccurate, could adversely affect our brand and reputation.

For example, consumer advocacy groups, politicians and certain government and media reports have, in the past, advocated governmental action
to prohibit or severely restrict consumer loan arrangements where banks contract with a third- arty platform such as ours to provide origination assistance
services to bank customers. Such criticism has frequently been levied in the context of payday loan marketers, though other entities operating programs
through which loans similar to loans facilitated on our platform are originated have also faced criticism. The perceived improper use of a bank charter by
these entities has been challenged by both governmental authorities and private litigants, in part because of the higher rates and fees a bank is permitted
to charge consumers in certain payday and small-dollar specialty finance programs relative to non-bank
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lenders. State regulators have made statements in the past threatening regulatory action against us related to loans originated on our platform by state
chartered-banks, and such statements and the perception of possible regulatory action could adversely affect our reputation and the willingness of bank
partners to originate loans on our platform. Bank regulators have also required banks to exit third-party programs that the regulators determined involved
unsafe and unsound practices or present other risks to the bank. We believe the payday or “small-dollar” loans that have been subject to more frequent
criticism and challenge are fundamentally different from loans facilitated on our platform in many ways, including that loans facilitated on our platform
typically have lower interest rates, longer terms and amortize over their life. If we are nevertheless associated with such payday or small-dollar consumer
loans, or if we are associated with increased criticism of non-payday loan programs involving relationships between bank originators and specialty finance
platforms and program managers, demand for loans facilitated on our platform could significantly decrease, which could cause our bank partners to
reduce their origination volumes or terminate their arrangements with us, impede our ability to attract new bank partners or delay the onboarding of bank
partners, impede our ability to attract capital sources or reduce the number of potential borrowers who use our platform. In addition, the increased focus
on environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues could damage our reputation or prospects if customers, prospective customers, investors or
third parties assigning ESG ratings to us are of the opinion that our practices, including without limitation our lending practices, are not sufficiently robust
from an ESG perspective. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Any negative publicity or public perception of loans facilitated on our platform or other similar consumer loans or the consumer lending service we
provide may also result in us being subject to more restrictive interpretation or application of laws and regulations and potential investigations and
enforcement actions. We may also become subject to additional lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, or other challenges such as government
enforcement or arbitration, against our bank partners or us for loans originated by our bank partners on our platform or loans we service or have serviced,
which we have been subject to in the past. See the section titled “Risk Factors—We have been in the past and may in the future be subject to federal and
state regulatory inquiries regarding our business” for more information. If there are changes in the laws or in the interpretation or enforcement of existing
laws affecting consumer loans similar to those offered on our platform, or our marketing and servicing of such loans, or if we become subject to such
lawsuits, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Machine learning and related technologies are subject to public debate and heightened regulatory scrutiny, particularly when used in connection
with obtaining financial services. Any negative publicity or negative public perception of machine learning could negatively impact demand for our
platform, hinder our ability to attract new bank partners. From time to time, certain advocacy groups have made claims that unlawful or unethical
discriminatory effects may result from the use of machine learning technology by various companies. Such claims, whether or not accurate, and whether
or not concerning us or our machine learning enabled underwriting platform, may harm our ability to attract prospective borrowers to our platform, retain
existing and attract new bank partners and achieve regulatory acceptance of our business.

Harm to our reputation can also arise from many other sources, including employee or former employee misconduct, misconduct by outsourced
service providers or other counterparties, failure by us or our bank partners to meet minimum standards of service and quality, and inadequate protection
of borrower information and compliance failures and claims. If we are unable to protect our reputation, our business, financial condition and results of
operations would be adversely affected.

If we do not compete effectively in our target markets, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

The specialty finance industry is highly competitive and increasingly dynamic as new entrants and emerging technologies continue to enter into the
marketplace. With the introduction of new technologies and the influx of new entrants, competition may persist and intensify in the future, which could
have an adverse effect on our operations or business.

Our inability to compete effectively could result in reduced loan volumes, reduced average size of loans facilitated on our platform, reduced fees,
increased marketing and borrower acquisition costs or the failure of our platform to achieve or maintain more widespread market acceptance, any of
which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Specialty finance is a broad and competitive market, and we compete to varying degrees with other sources of unsecured consumer credit. This
can include banks and non-bank financial institutions, such as online platforms. Because personal loans often serve as a replacement for credit cards, we
also compete with the convenience and ubiquity that credit cards represent. Many of our competitors operate with different business models, such as
lending-as-a-service or point-of-sale lending, have different cost structures or regulatory obligations, or participate selectively in different market
segments. They may ultimately prove more successful or more adaptable to new regulatory, economic, technological and other developments, including
utilizing new data sources or credit models. We may also face competition from banks or companies that have not previously competed in the consumer
lending market, including companies with access to vast amounts of consumer-related information that could be used in the development of their own
credit risk models. Our current or potential competitors may be better at
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developing new products due to their large and experienced data science and engineering teams, who are able to respond more quickly to new
technologies. Many of our current or potential competitors have significantly more resources, such as financial, technical and marketing resources, than
we do and may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their platforms and distribution channels. We face
competition in areas such as compliance capabilities, commercial financing terms and costs of capital, interest rates and fees (and other financing terms)
available to consumers from our bank partners, approval rates, model efficiency, speed and simplicity of loan origination, ease-of-use, marketing
expertise, service levels, products and services, technological capabilities and integration, borrower experience, brand and reputation. Our competitors
may also have longer operating histories, lower costs of capital, more extensive borrower bases, more diversified products and borrower bases,
operational efficiencies, more versatile or extensive technology platforms, greater brand recognition and brand loyalty, broader borrower and partner
relationships, more extensive and/or more diversified source of capital than we have, and more extensive product and service offerings than we have.
Furthermore, our existing and potential competitors may decide to modify their pricing and business models to compete more directly with us. Our ability
to compete will also be affected by our ability to provide our bank partners with a commensurate or more extensive suite of loan products than those
offered by our competitors. In addition, current or potential competitors, including digital specialty finance platforms and existing or potential bank
partners, may also acquire or form strategic alliances with one another, which could result in our competitors being able to offer more competitive loan
terms due to their access to lower-cost capital. Such acquisitions or strategic alliances among our competitors or potential competitors could also make
our competitors more adaptable to a rapidly evolving regulatory environment. To stay competitive, we may need to increase our regulatory compliance
expenditures or our ability to compete may be adversely affected.

Our industry is driven by constant innovation. We utilize machine learning, which is characterized by extensive research efforts and rapid
technological progress. If we fail to anticipate or respond adequately to technological developments, our ability to operate profitably could suffer. There
can be no assurance that research, data accumulation and development by other companies will not result in products superior to those we develop or
that any technologies, products or services we develop will be preferred to any existing or newly-developed technologies, products or services. If we are
unable to compete with such companies or fail to meet the need for innovation in our industry, the use of our platform could stagnate or substantially
decline, or our loan products could fail to maintain or achieve more widespread market acceptance, which could harm our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

If we are unable to manage the risks associated with fraudulent activity, our brand and reputation, business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Fraud is prevalent in the financial services industry and is likely to increase as perpetrators become more sophisticated. Although we have not
experienced any material business or reputational harm as a result of fraudulent activity in the past, we are subject to the risk of fraudulent activity
associated with borrowers and third parties handling borrower information. In the event of losses arising out of fraudulent loan applications, we may also
be contractually obligated to indemnify our bank partners or capital sources for such losses. Fraud rates could also increase in a downcycle economy. We
use several identity and fraud detection tools, including tools provided by third-party vendors and our proprietary machine learning models, to predict and
otherwise validate or authenticate applicant-reported data and data derived from third-party sources. We have historically had very low levels of fraud
rates; however, the possibility of fraudulent or other malicious activities and human error or malfeasance cannot be eliminated entirely and will evolve as
new and emerging technology is deployed, including the increasing use of personal mobile and computing devices that are outside of our network and
control environments. Moreover, if our efforts are insufficient to accurately detect and prevent fraud, the level of fraud-related losses of loans facilitated on
our platform could increase, which would decrease confidence in our platform. In addition, our bank partners, our sources of capital or we may not be
able to recover amounts disbursed on loans made in connection with inaccurate statements, omissions of fact or fraud, which could erode the trust in our
brand and negatively impact our ability to attract new bank partners and our sources of capital.

High profile fraudulent activity also could negatively impact our brand and reputation. In addition, significant increases in fraudulent activity could
lead to regulatory intervention, which could increase our costs and also negatively impact our brand and reputation. Further, if there is any increase in
fraudulent activity that increases the need for human intervention in screening loan application data, the level of automation on our platform could decline
and negatively affect our unit economics. If we are unable to manage these risks, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

We depend on our key personnel and other highly skilled personnel, and if we fail to attract, retain and motivate our personnel, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our success significantly depends on the continued service of our senior management team, including Todd Schwartz, our Chief Executive Officer,
Pamela Johnson, our Chief Financial Officer, and other highly skilled personnel. Our success also depends on our ability to identify, hire, develop,
motivate and retain highly qualified personnel for all areas of our organization.

29



Table of Contents

Competition for highly skilled personnel, including engineering and data analytics personnel, is extremely intense, including in Chicago where our
headquarters is located. We have experienced, and expect to continue to face, difficulty identifying and hiring qualified personnel in many areas,
especially as we pursue our growth strategy, and we may be required to pay increasingly higher wages to hire and retain adequate personnel. Further, as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, a large and increasing number of companies have adopted permanent work-from-home policies, which further
increases the challenges associated with hiring and retaining qualified personnel. We may not be able to hire or retain such personnel at compensation or
flexibility levels consistent with our existing compensation and salary structure and policies. Many of the companies with which we compete for
experienced employees have greater resources than we have and may be able to offer more attractive terms of employment. In particular, candidates
making employment decisions, specifically in high-technology industries, often consider the value of any equity they may receive in connection with their
employment. Any significant volatility in the price of our securities may adversely affect our ability to attract or retain highly skilled technical, financial and
marketing personnel.

In addition, we invest significant time and expense in training our employees, which increases their value to competitors who may seek to recruit
them. If we fail to retain our employees, we could incur significant expenses in hiring and training their replacements. While we are in the process of
training their replacements, the quality of our services and our ability to serve our bank partners, investors and borrowers whose loans we service may
suffer, resulting in an adverse effect on our business.

Security breaches of borrowers’ confidential information that we store may harm our reputation, adversely affect our results of
operations and expose us to liability.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology systems and infrastructure to operate our business. In the ordinary course of our
business, we collect, process, transmit and store large amounts of sensitive information, including personal information, credit information and other
sensitive data of borrowers and potential borrowers. It is critical that we do so in a manner designed to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of such sensitive information. We have made commitments to our bank partners as it relates to data security and information technology. We
also have arrangements in place with certain of our third-party vendors that require us to share consumer information. We have outsourced elements of
our operations (including elements of our information technology infrastructure) to third parties, and as a result, we manage a nhumber of third-party
vendors who may have access to our computer networks and sensitive or confidential information. In addition, many of those third parties may in turn
subcontract or outsource some of their responsibilities to other third parties. As a result, our information technology systems, including the functions of
third parties that are involved or have access to those systems, is large and complex, with many points of entry and access. While all information
technology operations are inherently vulnerable to inadvertent or intentional security breaches, incidents, attacks and exposures, the size, complexity,
accessibility and distributed nature of our information technology systems, and the large amounts of sensitive information stored on those systems, make
such systems potentially vulnerable to unintentional or malicious, internal and external attacks. Any vulnerabilities can be exploited from inadvertent or
intentional actions of our employees, third-party vendors, bank partners, loan investors or by malicious third parties. Attacks of this nature are increasing
in their frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with
a wide range of motives (including, but not limited to, industrial espionage) and expertise, including organized criminal groups, “hacktivists,” nation states
and others. In addition to the extraction of sensitive information, such attacks could include the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware, denial-of-
service attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity and availability of information and
systems. In addition, the prevalent use of mobile devices increases the risk of data security incidents. Further, our shift to a more flexible remote working
environment could increase the risk of a security breach. Significant disruptions of our, our bank partners’ and third-party vendors’ and/or other business
partners’ information technology systems or other similar data security incidents could adversely affect our business operations and result in the loss,
misappropriation, or unauthorized access, use or disclosure of, or the prevention of access to, sensitive information, which could result in financial, legal,
regulatory, business and reputational harm to us.

Because technigues used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until they are
launched against a target, we and our vendors may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. In
addition, many governments have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals of data security breaches involving their personal data. These
mandatory disclosures regarding a security breach are costly to implement and often lead to widespread negative publicity following a breach, which may
cause borrowers and potential borrowers to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our data security measures on our platform. Any security breach,
whether actual or perceived, would harm our reputation and ability to attract new borrowers to our platform.

We also face indirect technology, cybersecurity and operational risks relating to our borrowers, bank partners, investors, vendors and other third
parties with whom we do business or upon whom we rely to facilitate or enable our business activities, including vendors, payment processors, and other
parties who have access to confidential information due to our agreements with them. In addition, any security compromise in our industry, whether actual
or perceived, or information technology system disruptions, whether from attacks on our technology environment or from computer malware, natural
disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures, could interrupt our business or operations, harm our reputation, erode borrower
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confidence, negatively affect our ability to attract new borrowers, or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines or other action or liability, which
could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Like other financial services firms, we have been and continue to be the subject of actual or attempted unauthorized access, mishandling or misuse
of information, computer viruses or malware, and cyber-attacks that could obtain confidential information, destroy data, disrupt or degrade service,
sabotage systems or cause other damage, distributed denial of service attacks, data breaches and other infiltration, exfiltration or other similar events.

While we regularly monitor data flow inside and outside the company, attackers have become very sophisticated in the way they conceal access to
systems, and we may not be aware that we have been attacked. Any event that leads to unauthorized access, use or disclosure of personal information
or other sensitive information that we or our vendors maintain, including our own proprietary business information and sensitive information such as
personal information regarding borrowers, loan applicants or employees, could disrupt our business, harm our reputation, compel us to comply with
applicable federal and/or state breach notification laws and foreign law equivalents, subject us to time consuming, distracting and expensive litigation,
regulatory investigation and oversight, mandatory corrective action, require us to verify the correctness of database contents, or otherwise subject us to
liability under laws, regulations and contractual obligations, including those that protect the privacy and security of personal information. This could result
in increased costs to us and result in significant legal and financial exposure and/or reputational harm. In addition, any failure or perceived failure by us or
our vendors to comply with our privacy, confidentiality or data security-related legal or other obligations to our bank partners or other third parties, actual
or perceived security breaches, or any security incidents or other events that result in the unauthorized access, release or transfer of sensitive
information, which could include personally identifiable information, may result in governmental investigations, enforcement actions, regulatory fines,
litigation, or public statements against us by advocacy groups or others, and could cause our bank partners and other third parties to lose trust in us or we
could be subject to claims by our bank partners and other third parties that we have breached our privacy- or confidentiality-related obligations, which
could harm our business and prospects. Moreover, data security incidents and other inappropriate access can be difficult to detect, and any delay in
identifying them may lead to increased harm of the type described above. There can be no assurance that our security measures intended to protect our
information technology systems and infrastructure will successfully prevent service interruptions or security incidents. For example, in December 2018,
we were made aware of a software error by a vendor that displayed mismatched consumer data on a prepopulated form, which affected fewer than 100
participants on our platform. The vendor system was patched and we made changes to our systems designed to prevent similar issues in the future.
However, we cannot provide any assurance that similar vulnerabilities will not arise in the future as we continue to expand the features and functionalities
of our platform and introduce new loan products on our platform, and we expect to continue investing substantially to protect against security
vulnerabilities and incidents.

We maintain errors, omissions, and cyber liability insurance policies covering certain security and privacy damages. However, we cannot be certain
that our coverage will continue to be available on economically reasonable terms or will be available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large
claims, or that an insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim, or that any insurer will be adequately covered by reinsurance or other risk
mitigants or that any insurer will offer to renew policies at an affordable rate or offer such coverage at all in the future. The successful assertion of one or
more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium
increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

If we are unable to manage the risks related to our loan servicing and collections obligations, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Loans facilitated on our platform are not secured by any collateral, guaranteed or insured by any third party or backed by any governmental
authority. As a result, we are limited in our ability to collect on such loans on behalf of ourselves and our bank partners if a borrower is unwilling or unable
to repay them. We handle in-house substantially all of the servicing activities for loans facilitated on our platform, including collection activities, which
requires that we hire and train significant numbers of servicing personnel. For more information about our collections procedures and experience handling
collections, see the section titled “Business—Customer Advocates and Collections Arrangements .” Our need for servicing personnel may vary over time
and there is no assurance that we will be able to hire and train appropriate servicing personnel when necessary. For example, during periods of increased
delinquencies caused by economic downturns or otherwise, it is important that our servicing personnel are proactive and consistent in contacting a
borrower to bring a delinquent balance current and ultimately avoid the related loan becoming charged off, which in turn makes it extremely important that
the servicing personnel are properly staffed and trained to take prompt and appropriate action. If the servicing personnel are unable to maintain a high
quality of service, or fulfill their servicing obligations at all due to resource constraints resulting from the increased delinquencies, it could result in
increased delinquencies and charge-offs on the loans, which could decrease fees payable to us, cause our bank partners to decrease the volume of
loans facilitated on our platform and erode trust in our platform.
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In addition, loan servicing is a highly regulated activity. Errors in our servicing activities or failures to comply with our servicing obligations could
affect our internal and external reporting of the loans that we service, adversely affect our business and reputation and expose us to liability to borrowers,
bank partners or capital sources. In addition, the laws and regulations governing these activities are subject to change. For example, during the COVID-
19 pandemic certain states prohibited or restricted collection activities. If we are unable to comply with such laws and regulations, we could lose one or
more of our licenses or authorizations, become subject to greater scrutiny by regulatory agencies, or become subject to sanctions or litigation, which may
have an adverse effect on our ability to perform our servicing obligations or make our platform available to borrowers in particular states. Any of the
foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we charge our bank partners and capital sources a fixed percentage servicing fee based on the outstanding balance of loans serviced.
If we fail to efficiently service such loans and the costs incurred exceed the servicing fee charged, our results of operations would be adversely affected.

The soundness of other financial institutions or the financial services industry generally, such as actual concerns or events involving
liquidity, defaults or non-performance, may adversely affect us.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions for the financial
services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity
problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, the FDIC took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”), and on March 12, 2023,
the FDIC took control and was appointed receiver of Signature Bank, in each case due primarily to liquidity concerns related to those institutions. We did
not have any direct exposure to SVB or Signature Bank at such time. However, if other banks and financial institutions enter receivership or become
insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial markets, our ability to access our existing cash,
including cash held at financial institutions in excess of the FDIC insured limit, cash equivalents and investments and conduct our business operations
may be threatened. In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less demand for our services and
less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on
access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all or be able to provide loans to
our customers. Any decline in available funding or access to our cash and liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact our ability to
meet our operating expenses, financial obligations or fulfill our other obligations, or result in breaches of our financial and/or contractual obligations. Any
of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from the factors described above or other related or similar factors not described above, could have
material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and financial condition and results of operations.

Borrowers may prepay a loan at any time without penalty, which could reduce our servicing fees and deter our bank partners and
investors from investing in loans facilitated by our platform.

Borrowers may decide to prepay all or a portion of the remaining principal amount on loans facilitated by our platform at any time without penalty. If
the entire or a significant portion of the remaining unpaid principal amount of a loan is prepaid, we would not receive a servicing fee or we would receive
a significantly lower servicing fee associated with such prepaid loan. Prepayments may occur for a variety of reasons. If prepayments increase, the
amount of our servicing fees would decline, which could harm our business and results of operations. If a significant volume of prepayments occur that
our models do not accurately predict, returns targeted by us, our bank partners and our capital sources would be adversely affected and our ability to
attract new bank partners and capital sources would be negatively affected.

Our marketing efforts and brand promotion activities may not be effective, which could adversely affect our ability to grow our
business.

Promoting awareness of our platform is important to our ability to grow our business, attract new bank partners and increase the number of
potential borrowers on our platform. We believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase as competition in the consumer lending industry
expands. Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of marketing efforts and the overall user experience of our bank
partners and potential borrowers on our platform, which factors are outside our control. The marketing channels that we employ may also become more
crowded and saturated by other specialty finance platforms, which may decrease the effectiveness of our marketing campaigns and increase borrower
acquisition costs. Also, the methodologies, policies and regulations applicable to marketing channels may change. For example, internet search engines
could revise their methodologies, which could adversely affect borrower volume from organic ranking and paid search. Search engines may also
implement policies that restrict the ability of companies such as us to advertise their services and products, which could prevent us from appearing in a
favorable location or any location in the organic rankings or paid search results when certain search terms are used by the consumer.
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Our brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenues. If we fail to successfully build trust in our platform and the performance and
predictability of loans facilitated on our platform, we may lose existing bank partners to our competitors or be unable to attract new bank partners and
capital sources, which in turn would harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Even if our marketing efforts result in increased
revenue, we may be unable to recover our marketing costs through increases in loan volume, which could result in a higher borrower acquisition cost per
account. Any incremental increases in loan servicing costs, such as increases due to greater marketing expenditures, could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Unfavorable outcomes in legal proceedings may harm our business and results of operations.

We are, and may in the future become, subject to litigation, claims, examinations, investigations, legal and administrative cases and proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, or lawsuits by governmental agencies or private parties, which may affect our results of operations. These claims, lawsuits, and
proceedings could involve labor and employment, discrimination and harassment, commercial disputes, intellectual property rights (including patent,
trademark, copyright, trade secret, and other proprietary rights), class actions, general contract, tort, defamation, data privacy rights, antitrust, common
law fraud, government regulation, or compliance, alleged securities and law violations or other investor claims, and other matters. Due to the consumer-
oriented nature of our business and the application of certain laws and regulations, participants in our industry are regularly named as defendants in
litigation alleging violations of federal and state laws and regulations and liability for common law torts, including fraud. Many of these legal proceedings
involve alleged violations of consumer protection laws. In addition, we are, and may in the future become, subject to litigation, claims, examinations,
investigations, legal and administrative cases and proceedings related to the loans facilitated on our platform.

In particular, specialty finance programs that involve originations by a bank in reliance on origination-related services being provided by specialty
finance platforms and/or program managers are subject to potential litigation and government enforcement claims based on “rent-a-charter” or “true
lender” theories, particularly where such programs involve the subsequent sale of such loans or interests therein to the platform. See the section titled
“Risk Factors —If loans facilitated through our platform for one or more bank partners were subject to successful challenge that the bank partner was not
the “true lender,” such loans may be unenforceable, subject to rescission or otherwise impaired, we or other program participants may be subject to fines,
judgments and penalties, and/or our commercial relationships may suffer, each of which would adversely affect our business and results of operations”
below. In addition, loans originated by banks (which are exempt from certain state requirements), followed by the sale, assignment, or other transfer to
non-banks of such loans or interests therein are subject to potential litigation and government enforcement claims based on the theory that transfers of
loans from banks to non-banks do not transfer the ability to enforce contractual terms such as interest rates and fees which banks may charge, but non-
banks may not. See “—If loans originated by us or loans originated by our bank partners were found to violate the laws of one or more states, whether at
origination or after sale by the originating bank partner, loans facilitated through our platform may be unenforceable or otherwise impaired, we or other
program participants may be subject to, among other things, fines, judgments and penalties, and/or our commercial relationships may suffer, each of
which would adversely affect our business and results of operations” below. If we were subject to such litigation or enforcement, then any unfavorable
results of pending or future legal proceedings may result in contractual damages, usury related claims, fines, penalties, injunctions, the unenforceability,
rescission or other impairment of loans originated on our platform or other censure that could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Even if we adequately address the issues raised by an investigation or proceeding or successfully defend a third-party
lawsuit or counterclaim, we may have to devote significant financial and management resources to address these issues, which could harm our business,
financial condition, reputation and results of operations.

Recent financial, political and other events may increase the level of regulatory scrutiny on nonbank financial institutions. Regulatory bodies may
enact new laws or promulgate new regulations or view matters or interpret laws and regulations differently than they have in the past, or commence
investigations or inquiries into our business practices. Any such investigations or inquiries, whether or not accurate or warranted, or whether concerning
us or one of our competitors, could negatively affect our brand and reputation and the overall market acceptance of and trust in our platform. Any of the
foregoing could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may evaluate and potentially consummate acquisitions, which could require significant management attention, consume our
financial resources, disrupt our business and adversely affect our financial results.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to grow our business. In some circumstances, we may determine to do so through the acquisition of
complementary businesses and technologies rather than through internal development. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be
difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and we may not be able to successfully complete identified acquisitions. In the future, we may acquire, assets or
businesses. The risks we face in connection with acquisitions include:
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« diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to addressing acquisition integration challenges;

« utilization of our financial resources for acquisitions or investments that may fail to realize the anticipated benefits;

« inability of the acquired technologies, products or businesses to achieve expected levels of revenue, profitability, productivity or other benefits;
« coordination of technology, product development and sales and marketing functions and integration of administrative systems;

« transition of the acquired company’s borrowers to our systems;

« retention of employees from the acquired company;

« regulatory risks, including maintaining good standing with existing regulatory bodies or receiving any necessary approvals, as well as being
subject to new regulators with oversight over an acquired business;

« attracting financing;
« cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization;

« the need to implement or improve controls, procedures and policies at a business that prior to the acquisition may have lacked effective controls,
procedures and policies;

« potential write-offs of loans or intangibles or other assets acquired in such transactions that may have an adverse effect on our results of
operations in a given period,;

« liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark infringement claims, violations of laws,
commercial disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities;

» assumption of contractual obligations that contain terms that are not beneficial to us, require us to license or waive intellectual property or increase
our risk for liability; and

« litigation, regulatory criticisms, customer claims or other liabilities in connection with the acquired company.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with any future acquisitions and investments could cause us to fail
to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause us to incur unanticipated liabilities and harm our business generally. Future
acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of the combined company’s equity securities, the incurring of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization
expenses or the write-off of goodwill, any of which could harm our financial condition.

Our business is subject to the risks of natural disasters and other catastrophic events, and to interruption by man-made problems, any
of which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Significant natural disasters or other catastrophic events, such as earthquakes, fires, hurricanes, blizzards, or floods (many of which are becoming
more acute and frequent as a result of climate change), or interruptions by strikes, crime, terrorism, epidemics, pandemics, cyber-attacks, computer
viruses, internal or external system failures, telecommunications failures, power outages or increased risk of cybersecurity breaches due to a swift
transition to remote work brought about by a catastrophic event, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the global economy and consumer confidence. In addition, it is possible that
continued widespread remote work arrangements may have a negative impact on our operations, the execution of our business plans, the productivity
and availability of key personnel and other employees necessary to conduct our business, or otherwise cause operational failures. There is no guarantee
that we will be as effective while working remotely because our team is dispersed and employees may have less capacity to work due to increased
personal obligations (such as childcare, eldercare, or caring for family members who become sick). Additionally, remote work arrangements may make it
more difficult to scale our operations efficiently, as the recruitment, onboarding and training of new employees may be prolonged or delayed. We continue
to operate using a hybrid remote working model. If a natural disaster, power outage, connectivity issue, or other event occurred that impacted our
employees’ ability to work remotely, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. The
increase in remote working may also result in privacy, data protection, data security, and fraud risks.

In addition, acts of war and other armed conflicts, disruptions in global trade, travel restrictions and quarantines, terrorism and other civil, political
and geo-political unrest could cause disruptions in our business and lead to interruptions, delays or loss of critical data. Any of the foregoing risks may be
further increased if our business continuity plans prove to be inadequate and there can be no assurance that both personnel and non-mission critical
applications can be fully operational after a declared disaster within a defined recovery time. If our personnel, systems or data centers are impacted, we
may suffer
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interruptions and delays in our business operations. In addition, to the extent these events impact the ability of borrowers to timely repay their loans, our
business could be negatively affected.

We may not maintain sufficient business interruption or property insurance to compensate us for potentially significant losses, including potential
harm to our business that may result from interruptions in our ability to provide our financial products and services.

Risks Related to Our Financial Reporting and Risk Management

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect or financial reporting standards or
interpretations change, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires our management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and the
amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our
consolidated financial statements include those related to fair value determinations, stock-based compensation and consolidation of variable interest
entities, as well as tax matters. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those
in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of industry or financial analysts and investors, resulting in a
decline in the trading price of the our securities.

Additionally, we regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and review new pronouncements and drafts thereof
that are relevant to us. As a result of new standards, or changes to existing standards, and changes in their interpretation, we might be required to change
our accounting policies, alter our operational policies and implement new or enhance existing systems so that they reflect new or amended financial
reporting standards, or we may be required to restate our published financial statements. Such changes to existing standards or changes in their
interpretation may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, and profit and loss, or cause an adverse deviation from our
revenue and operating profit and loss target, which may negatively impact our results of operations.

The determination of the fair values of our finance receivables portfolio involves unobservable inputs that can be highly subjective and
may prove to be materially different than the actual economic outcome.

We began utilizing the fair value option for our finance receivables (other than SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables, which are carried at
amortized cost) effective January 1, 2021. The fair values of our finance receivables are determined using discounted cash flow analyses that factor in
estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using
historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Valuations are highly dependent upon the
reasonableness of our assumptions and estimates and the predictability of the relationships that drive the results of our valuation methodologies. A
variety of factors including, but not limited to, estimated customer default rates, the timing of expected payments, utilization rates on our line of credit
accounts, estimated costs to service the finance receivables, prepayment rates, discount rates, and valuations of comparable portfolios may ultimately
affect the fair values of our loans and finance receivables. Modifications to our assumptions due to the passage of time and more information becoming
available could result in material changes to our fair value calculations. These changes to fair value could adversely affect our results of operations.
Additionally, under the fair value option, these changes are generally recorded directly to the income statement, which may make our financial statements
less comparable to others in the industry that do not record their loan balances under the fair value option.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and determined that our disclosure controls and
procedures were ineffective as of December 31, 2023. If we are unable to remediate these material weaknesses, or if we identify additional
material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting as a
public company, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in our
financial reporting and the trading price of our securities may decline.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms, and that the information required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
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We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting relating to information technology general controls (“ITGCs")
associated with our financially relevant information systems. We determined that the Company’s user access controls designed to ensure appropriate
segregation of duties, adequate restriction of users and privileged access to our financially relevant information systems were not operating effectively
and that the Company’s user access control designed to ensure appropriate segregation of duties was also not designed effectively. Due to the material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we have also concluded our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of
December 31, 2023.

As further described in “Item 9A. Controls and Procedures,” we are taking the necessary steps to remediate the material weakness and believe that
compensating controls are in place and operating effectively to mitigate the risks associated with the identified material weakness as it is being
remediated. However, as the reliability of the internal control process requires repeatable execution, the successful on-going remediation of this material
weakness will require on-going review and evidence of effectiveness prior to concluding that the controls are effective. We cannot guarantee that these
initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects. While we have implemented a variety of steps to remediate this material weakness, this material
weakness will not be considered remediated until our remediation plan has been fully implemented, the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period
of time, and we have concluded, through testing, that the newly implemented and enhanced controls are operating effectively.

Further, other weaknesses in our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting have been discovered in the past
and may be discovered in the future. On December 6, 2022, the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”) of our Board of Directors concluded that certain
of our prior financial statements should no longer be relied upon due to a misapplication of accounting guidance in connection with the Company's
calculations of diluted earnings per share for such periods. In connection with such misapplication, management subsequently identified a deficiency in
controls related to the design of its control to contemplate all the relevant authoritative accounting guidance when considering securities of a subsidiary
that are convertible into its parent entity’'s common stock in the calculation of earnings per share and further concluded such deficiency represented a
material weakness. Our remediation plan included steps to design and implement new controls as well as expand training related to the accounting
considerations for complex financing transactions, and we have since concluded that this material weakness has been remediated.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act”), and the rules and regulations of the applicable listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE"). We expect that the requirements of
these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-
consuming, and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems, and resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. However, as an emerging growth company, an attestation of an independent registered public accounting firm will initially not be
required. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures. We are also continuing to improve our internal control
over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs, and significant
management oversight. Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our
business. We may need to upgrade our legacy information technology systems; implement additional financial and management controls, reporting
systems and procedures; and hire additional accounting and finance staff. If we are unable to hire the additional accounting and finance staff necessary to
comply with these requirements, we may need to retain additional outside consultants. If we or, if required, our independent registered public accounting
firm, are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting, which
could negatively impact the price of our securities.

Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to compliance initiatives applicable to public companies,
including compliance with Section 404 and the evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting within the prescribed
timeframe, as well as the remediation of the material weakness that we have identified. We cannot assure you that there will not be additional material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting now or in the future and we may discover additional deficiencies in existing systems and
controls that we may not be able to remediate in an efficient or timely manner. In the event that we are not able to remediate our existing material
weakness, or if we identify additional deficiencies, we may be required to further restate our financial statements and our results of operations and
financial condition could be negatively affected.

Any failure to maintain internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public
accounting firm determines that we have a material weakness in
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our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of
our securities could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the NYSE, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to
remedy any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of
public companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital markets.

We may face litigation and other risks as a result of the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.

As a result of the material weakness identified in our financial reporting, the restatement of certain of our financial statements, the change in
accounting for our diluted earnings per share, and other matters, we face potential for litigation or other disputes which may include, among others, claims
invoking the federal and state securities laws, contractual claims or other claims arising from the restatement of our financial statements, material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and the preparation of our financial statements. We have no knowledge of any such litigation
or dispute resulting from the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. However, we can provide no assurance that litigation or
disputes will not arise in the future. Any such litigation or dispute, whether successful or not, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

If our risk management framework does not effectively identify and control our risks, we could suffer unexpected losses or be adversely
affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our risk management processes and procedures seek to appropriately balance risk and return and mitigate risks. We have established processes
and procedures intended to identify, measure, monitor and control the types of risk to which we are subject, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk,
strategic risk, operational risk, cybersecurity risk and reputational risk. Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises when a loan obligor fails to meet the terms
of a loan repayment obligation, the loan enters default, and if uncured results in financial loss of remaining principal and interest to the investor. Our
exposure to credit risk mainly arises from our lending activities. Market risk is the risk of loss due to changes in external market factors, such as interest
rates, asset prices, and foreign exchange rates. Liquidity risk is the risk that financial condition or overall safety and soundness are adversely affected by
an inability, or perceived inability, to meet obligations (e.g., current and future cash flow needs) and support business growth. We actively monitor our
liquidity position. Strategic risk is the risk from changes in the business environment, ineffective business strategies, improper implementation of
decisions or inadequate responsiveness to changes in the business and competitive environment.

Our management is responsible for defining the priorities, initiatives, and resources necessary to execute our strategic plan, the success of which
is regularly evaluated by our Board. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, controls, people (e.g., human
error or misconduct) or systems (e.qg., technology problems), business continuity or external events (e.g., natural disasters), compliance, reputational,
regulatory, or legal matters and includes those risks as they relate directly to us, fraud losses attributed to applications and any associated fines and
monetary penalties as a result, transaction processing, or employees, as well as to third parties with whom we contract or otherwise do business.
Operational risk is one of the most prevalent forms of risk in our risk profile. We strive to manage operational risk by establishing policies and procedures
to accomplish timely and efficient processing, obtaining periodic internal control attestations from management, conducting internal process risk control
self-assessments and audit reviews to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls.

In order to be effective, among other things, our enterprise risk management capabilities must adapt and align to support any new product or loan
features, capability, strategic development, or external change. Cybersecurity risk is the risk of a malicious technological attack intended to impact the
confidentiality, availability, or integrity of our systems and data, including, but not limited to, sensitive client data. Our technology and information security
teams rely on a layered system of preventive and detective technologies, practices, and policies to detect, mitigate, and neutralize cybersecurity threats.
In addition, our information security team and third-party consultants regularly assesses our cybersecurity risks and mitigation efforts. Cyberattacks can
also result in financial and reputational risk.

Reputational risk is the risk arising from possible negative perceptions of us, whether true or not, among our current and prospective members,
counterparties, employees, and regulators. The potential for either enhancing or damaging our reputation is inherent in almost all aspects of business
activity. We manage this risk through our commitment to a set of core values that emphasize and reward high standards of ethical behavior, maintaining a
culture of compliance, and by being responsive to member and regulatory requirements.

Risk is inherent in our business, and therefore, despite our efforts to manage risk, there can be no assurance that we will not sustain unexpected
losses. We could incur substantial losses and our business operations could be disrupted to the extent our business model, operational processes,
control functions, technological capabilities, risk analyses, and business/product knowledge do not adequately identify and manage potential risks
associated with our strategic initiatives. There also may be
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risks that exist, or that develop in the future, that we have not appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated, including when processes are changed or
new products and services are introduced. If our risk management framework does not effectively identify and control our risks, we could suffer
unexpected losses or be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our projections are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates and uncertainties. As a result, our projected revenues, market
share, expenses and profitability may differ materially from our expectations.

We operate in a rapidly changing and competitive industry and our projections will be subject to the risks and assumptions made by management
with respect to our industry. Operating results are difficult to forecast because they generally depend on a number of factors, including the competition we
face and our ability to attract and retain bank partners. Additionally, our business may be affected by reductions in consumer borrowing, spending and
investing from time to time as a result of a number of factors which may be difficult to predict. This may result in decreased revenue levels, and we may
be unable to adopt measures in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in income. This inability could cause our operating results in
a given quarter to be higher or lower than expected. These factors make creating accurate forecasts and budgets challenging and, as a result, we may
fall materially short of our forecasts and expectations, which could cause the price of our securities to decline and investors to lose confidence in us.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Platform Development
It may be difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we may not be able to ensure their protection.

Our ability to operate our platform depends, in part, upon our proprietary technology. We may be unable to protect our proprietary technology
effectively, which would allow competitors to duplicate our machine learning models or machine learning enabled underwriting platform and adversely
affect our ability to compete with them. We rely on a combination of copyright, trade secret, trademark laws and other rights, as well as confidentiality
procedures, contractual provisions and our information security infrastructure to protect our proprietary technology, processes and other intellectual
property. We do not currently have patent protection on our intellectual property. The steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may be
inadequate. For example, a third party may attempt to reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary technology without our consent. The
pursuit of a claim against a third party for infringement of our intellectual property could be costly, and there can be no guarantee that any such efforts
would be successful. Our failure to secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our brand and adversely impact our
business.

Our proprietary technology, including our machine learning models, may actually or may be alleged to infringe upon third-party intellectual property,
and we may face intellectual property challenges from such other parties. We may not be successful in defending against any such challenges or in
obtaining licenses to avoid or resolve any intellectual property disputes. If we are unsuccessful, such claim or litigation could result in a requirement that
we pay significant damages or licensing fees, or we could in some circumstances be required to make changes to our business to avoid such
infringement, which would negatively impact our financial performance. We may also be obligated to indemnify parties or pay substantial settlement
costs, including royalty payments, in connection with any such claim or litigation and to modify applications or refund fees, which could be costly. Even if
we were to prevail in such a dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time consuming and divert the attention of our
management and key personnel from our business operations.

Moreover, it has become common in recent years for individuals and groups to purchase intellectual property assets for the sole purpose of making
claims of infringement and attempting to extract settlements from companies such as ours. Even in instances where we believe that claims and
allegations of intellectual property infringement against us are without merit, defending against such claims is time consuming and expensive and could
result in the diversion of time and attention of our management and employees. In addition, although in some cases a third party may have agreed to
indemnify us for such costs, such indemnifying party may refuse or be unable to uphold its contractual obligations. In other cases, our insurance may not
cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all, and we may be required to pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

Furthermore, our technology may become obsolete or inadequate, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully develop, obtain or
use new technologies to adapt our models and systems to compete with other technologies as they develop. If we cannot protect our proprietary
technology from intellectual property challenges, or if our technology becomes obsolete or inadequate, our ability to maintain our model and systems,
facilitate loans or perform our servicing obligations on the loans could be adversely affected.

Any significant disruption in our platform could prevent us from processing loan applicants and servicing loans, reduce the
effectiveness of our machine learning models and result in a loss of bank partners or borrowers.
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In the event of a system outage or other event resulting in data loss or corruption, our ability to process loan applications, service loans or
otherwise facilitate loans on our platform would be adversely affected. We also rely on facilities, components, and services supplied by third parties,
including data center facilities and cloud storage services. We currently rely on multiple providers of cloud infrastructure services, including Salesforce
and Amazon Web Services, for our platform. In the event that our service agreement with one or more third party providers is terminated, or there is a
lapse of service, interruption of internet service provider connectivity or damage to the third party data centers, we could experience interruptions in
access to our platform as well as delays and additional expense in the event we must secure alternative cloud infrastructure services. Any interference or
disruption of our technology and underlying infrastructure or our use of third-party services could adversely affect our relationships with our bank partners
and the overall user experience of our platform. Also, as our business grows, we may be required to expand and improve the capacity, capability and
reliability of our infrastructure. If we are not able to effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our systems as needed and continually develop our
technology and infrastructure to reliably support our business, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Additionally, in the event of damage or interruption, our insurance policies may not adequately compensate us for any losses incurred. Our disaster
recovery plan has not been tested under actual disaster conditions, and we may not have sufficient capacity to recover all data and services in the event
of an outage or other event resulting in data loss or corruption. These factors could prevent us from processing or posting payments on the loans,
damage our brand and reputation, divert our employees’ attention, subject us to liability and cause borrowers to abandon our business, any of which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our platform and internal systems rely on software that is highly technical, and if our software contains undetected errors, our business
could be adversely affected.

Our platform and internal systems rely on software that is highly technical and complex. In addition, our platform and internal systems depend on
the ability of such software to store, retrieve, process and manage high volumes of data. The software on which we rely has contained, and may now or
in the future contain, undetected errors or bugs. Some errors may only be discovered after the code has been released for external or internal use. Errors
or other design defects within the software on which we rely may result in failure to accurately predict a loan applicant’s creditworthiness, failure to
comply with applicable laws and regulations, approval of sub-optimally priced loans, incorrectly displayed interest rates to applicants or borrowers, or
incorrectly charged interest to borrowers or fees to bank partners or capital sources, failure to detect fraudulent activity on our platform, a negative
experience for consumers or bank partners, delayed introductions of new features or enhancements, or failure to protect borrower data or our intellectual
property. Any errors, bugs or defects discovered in the software on which we rely could result in harm to our reputation, loss of consumers or bank
partners, increased regulatory scrutiny, fines or penalties, loss of revenue or liability for damages, any of which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Some aspects of our business processes include open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of
these open source licenses could negatively affect our business.

We incorporate open source software into processes supporting our business. Such open source software may include software covered by
licenses like the GNU General Public License and the Apache License. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S.
courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that limits our use of the software, inhibits certain aspects of our systems
and negatively affects our business operations.

Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make source code available at no cost for modifications or derivative works we create
based upon the type of open source software we use.

We may face claims from third parties claiming ownership of, or demanding the release or license of, such modifications or derivative works (which
could include our proprietary source code) or otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. If portions of our proprietary
models are determined to be subject to an open source license, or if the license terms for the open source software that we incorporate change, we could
be required to publicly release the affected portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our model or change our business activities, any of
which could negatively affect our business operations and potentially our intellectual property rights. If we were required to publicly disclose any portion of
our proprietary models, it is possible we could lose the benefit of trade secret protection for our models.

In addition to risks related to license requirements, the use of open source software can lead to greater risks than the use of third-party commercial
software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Use of open source software may also
present additional security risks because the public availability of such software may make it easier for hackers and other third parties to determine how to
breach our website and systems that rely on open source software. Many of the risks associated with the use of open source software cannot be
eliminated and could adversely affect our business.
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Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We rely on strategic relationships with loan aggregators to attract applicants to our platform, and if we cannot maintain effective
relationships with loan aggregators or successfully replace their services, or if loan aggregators begin offering competing products, our
business could be adversely affected.

A significant number of consumers that apply for a loan on Opploans.com learn about and access Opploans.com through the website of a loan
aggregator, typically with a hyperlink from such loan aggregator’s website to a landing page on our website. For example, in 2021, 2022 and 2023,
approximately 18.5%, 22.8% and 21.3%, respectively, of our net loan issuances were derived from traffic from our top three loan aggregators. Our
agreements with these loan aggregators generally provide that either party may terminate the agreement immediately upon a material breach of any
provision of the agreement or at any time, with or without cause, by providing advance written notice. Even during the term of the agreements, loan
aggregators may not be required to display offers from Opploans.com or prohibited from working with our competitors or from offering competing
services. There is also no assurance that our top loan aggregators will continue to contract with us on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

While we are planning to move towards more direct acquisition channels, we anticipate that we will continue to depend in significant part on
relationships with loan aggregators to maintain and grow our business. Our current agreements with these loan aggregators do not require them to
display offers from lenders on Opploans.com nor prohibit them from working with our competitors or from offering competing services. Further, there is no
assurance that a loan aggregator will renew its contract with us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our competitors may be effective in providing
incentives to loan aggregators to favor their products or services or in reducing the volume of loans facilitated through our platform. Loan aggregators may
not perform as expected under our agreements with them, and we may have disagreements or disputes with them, which could adversely affect our
brand and reputation. If we cannot successfully enter into and maintain effective strategic relationships with loan aggregators, our business could be
adversely affected.

In addition, the limited information such loan aggregators collect from applicants does not always allow us to offer rates to applicants that we would
otherwise be able to through direct applicant traffic to Opploans.com. Typically, the rates offered to borrowers who come to Opploans.com directly are
lower and more competitive than those rates offered through aggregators. In the event we do not successfully optimize direct traffic, our ability to attract
borrowers would be adversely affected.

Such loan aggregators also face litigation and regulatory scrutiny for their part in the consumer lending ecosystem, and as a result, their business
models may require fundamental change or may not be sustainable in the future. For example, loan aggregators are increasingly required to be licensed
as loan brokers or lead generators in many states, subjecting them to increased regulatory supervision and more stringent business requirements. While
we require loan aggregators to make certain disclosures in connection with our bank partners’ offers and restrict how loan aggregators may display such
loan offers, loan aggregators may nevertheless alter or even remove these required disclosures without notifying us, which may result in liability to us.
Further, we do not have control over any content on loan aggregator websites, and it is possible that our brand and reputation may be adversely affected
by being associated with such content. An unsatisfied borrower could also seek to bring claims against us based on the content presented on a loan
aggregator’s website. Such claims could be costly and time consuming to defend and could distract management’s attention from the operation of the
business.

Our proprietary machine learning models rely in part on the use of loan applicant and borrower data and other third-party data, and if we
lose the ability to use such data, or if such data contain inaccuracies, our business could be adversely affected.

We rely on our proprietary models, which are statistical models built using a variety of data-sets. Our models rely on a wide variety of data sources,
including data collected from applicants and borrowers, credit bureau data and our credit experience gained through monitoring the payment performance
of borrowers over time. Under our agreements with our bank partners, we receive licenses to use data collected from loan applicants and borrowers. If
we are unable to access and use data collected from applicants and borrowers, data received from credit bureaus, repayment data collected as part of
our loan servicing activities, or other third-party data used in our models, or our access to such data is limited, our ability to accurately evaluate potential
borrowers, detect fraud and verify applicant data would be compromised. Any of the foregoing could negatively impact the accuracy of our pricing
decisions, the degree of automation in our loan application process and the volume of loans facilitated on our platform.

Third-party data sources on which we rely include the consumer reporting agencies regulated by the CFPB and other alternative data sources.
Such data is electronically obtained from third parties and used in our models to price applicants and in our fraud model to verify the accuracy of
applicant-reported information. Data from national credit bureaus and other consumer reporting agencies and other information that we receive from third
parties about an applicant or borrower may be inaccurate or
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may not accurately reflect the applicant or borrower’s creditworthiness for a variety of reasons, including inaccurate reporting by creditors to the credit
bureaus, errors, staleness or incompleteness. For example, loan applicants’ credit scores may not reflect such applicants’ actual creditworthiness
because the credit scores may be based on outdated, incomplete, or inaccurate consumer reporting data, including, as a consequence of us utilizing
credit reports for a specific period of time after issuance before such reports are deemed to be outdated. Similarly, the data taken from an applicant’s
credit report may also be based on outdated, incomplete or inaccurate consumer reporting data. Although we use numerous third-party data sources and
multiple credit factors within our proprietary models, which helps mitigate this risk, it does not eliminate the risk of an inaccurate individual report.

Further, although we attempt to verify the income, employment and education information provided by certain selected applicants, we cannot
guarantee the accuracy of applicant information. Our fraud model relies in part on data we receive from a number of third-party verification vendors, data
collected from applicants, and our experience gained through monitoring the performance of borrowers over time. Information provided by borrowers may
be incomplete, inaccurate or intentionally false. Applicants may also misrepresent their intentions for the use of loan proceeds. We do not verify or
confirm any statements by applicants as to how loan proceeds are to be used after loan funding. If an applicant supplied false, misleading or inaccurate
information and our fraud detection processes do not flag the application, repayments on the corresponding loan may be lower, in some cases
significantly lower, than expected, leading to losses for the bank partner or investor.

In addition, if third party data used to train and improve our models is inaccurate, or access to such third-party data is limited or becomes
unavailable to us, our ability to continue to improve our models would be adversely affected. Any of the foregoing could result in sub-optimally and
inefficiently priced loans, incorrect approvals or denials of loans, or higher than expected loan losses, which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We rely on third-party vendors and if such third parties do not perform adequately or terminate their relationships with us, our costs
may increase and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on our relationships with third-party vendors. In some cases, third-party vendors are one of a limited number of
sources. For example, we rely on national consumer reporting agencies, such as Clarity Services, Inc., a part of Experian, for a large portion of the data
used in our models. In addition, we rely on third-party verification technologies and services that are critical to our ability to maintain a high level of
automation on our platform. In addition, because we are not a bank, we cannot belong to or directly access the Automated Clearing House (“ACH")
payment network. As a result, we rely on one or more banks with access to the ACH payment network to process collections on loans facilitated on our
platform. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Regulators and payment processors are scrutinizing certain online lenders’ access to the ACH system to
disburse and collect loan proceeds and repayments, and any interruption or limitation on our ability to access this critical system would materially
adversely affect our business.” Most of our vendor agreements are terminable by either party without penalty and with little notice. If any of our third-party
vendors terminates its relationship with us or refuses to renew its agreement with us on commercially reasonable terms, we would need to find an
alternate provider, and may not be able to secure similar terms or replace such providers in an acceptable timeframe. We also rely on other software and
services supplied by vendors, such as communications, analytics and internal software, and our business may be adversely affected to the extent such
software and services do not meet our expectations, contain errors or vulnerabilities, are compromised or experience outages. Any of these risks could
increase our costs and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, any negative publicity related to any of our
third-party partners, including any publicity related to quality standards or safety concerns, could adversely affect our reputation and brand, and could
potentially lead to increased regulatory or litigation exposure.

We incorporate technology from third parties into our platform. We cannot be certain that our licensors are not infringing the intellectual property
rights of others or that the suppliers and licensors have sufficient rights to the technology in all jurisdictions in which we may operate. Some of our license
agreements may be terminated by our licensors for convenience. If we are unable to obtain or maintain rights to any of this technology because of
intellectual property infringement claims brought by third parties against our suppliers and licensors or against us, or if we are unable to continue to obtain
the technology or enter into new agreements on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to develop our platform containing that technology could be
severely limited and our business could be harmed. Additionally, if we are unable to obtain necessary technology from third parties, we may be forced to
acquire or develop alternate technology, which may require significant time and effort and may be of lower quality or performance standards. This would
limit and delay our ability to provide new or competitive loan products or service offerings and increase our costs. If alternate technology cannot be
obtained or developed, we may not be able to offer certain functionality as part of our platform and service offerings, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure by our third-party vendors or our failure to comply with legal or regulatory requirements or other contractual requirements could
have an adverse effect on our business.
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We have significant vendors that provide us with a number of services to support our platform. If any third-party vendors fail to comply with
applicable laws and regulations, fail to comply with their contractual requirements, including failure to maintain adequate systems addressing privacy and
data protection and security, or suffer disruptions in, or otherwise fail to provide, contracted services, we could be subject to regulatory enforcement
actions or litigation and suffer economic and reputational harm that could harm our business. Further, we may incur significant costs to resolve any such
failures to comply with applicable laws and regulations or contractual requirements or to resolve any disruptions in service or failure to provide contracted
services, which could adversely affect our business.

The CFPB and each of the prudential bank regulators that supervise our bank partners have issued guidance stating that institutions under their
supervision may be held responsible for the actions of the companies with which they contract. As a service provider to those supervised entities, we
must ensure we perform our obligations in accordance with applicable laws and contractual requirements and have implemented an adequate vendor
management program for our own vendors. We or our bank partners could be adversely impacted to the extent we or our vendors fail to comply with the
legal requirements applicable to the particular products or services being offered. Our use of third-party vendors is subject to increasing regulatory
attention.

The CFPB and the prudential bank regulators have also issued regulatory guidance that has focused on the need for financial institutions to
perform increased due diligence and ongoing monitoring of third-party vendor relationships, thus increasing the scope of management involvement in
connection with using third-party vendors. Moreover, if regulators conclude that we or our bank partners have not met the standards for oversight of our
third-party vendors or their third-party vendors, our bank partners could terminate their relationship with us or we or our bank partners could be subject to
enforcement actions, civil monetary penalties, supervisory orders to cease and desist or other remedial actions, which could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, as a service provider to banks, we are subject to examination and enforcement authority of the prudential bank regulators that
supervise our bank partners under the Bank Service Company Act. If we fail to comply with requirements applicable to us by applicable law or contract,
our bank partners could terminate their relationship with us or we or our bank partners could be subject to enforcement actions, civil monetary penalties,
supervisory orders to cease and desist or other remedial actions, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If loans originated by us or loans originated by our bank partners were found to violate the laws of one or more states, whether at
origination or after sale of participation rights by the originating bank partner, loans facilitated through our platform may be unenforceable or
otherwise impaired, we or other program participants may be subject to, among other things, fines, judgments and penalties, and/or our
commercial relationships may suffer, each of which would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

When establishing the interest rates and fees (including the amounts of certain fees constituting interest under federal banking laws related to
interest rate exportation, such as origination fees, late fees and non-sufficient funds fees) that are charged to borrowers on loans originated through our
platform and how such interest rates and fees are structured, our bank partners rely on certain authority under federal law to export the interest rate and
fees permitted by the state where each bank partner is located to borrowers in other states. Further, certain of our bank partners and capital sources rely
on the ability of subsequent holders of loans to continue charging such rates and fees and to enforce other contractual terms that the applicable bank
partners was permitted under federal and applicable state banking laws to charge and enforce at the time of origination following such subsequent
holder’s acquisition of the loans. The current annual percentage rates of the installment loans facilitated through our platform, for the year ended
December 31, 2023 typically range from approximately 59% to 160%. In some states, the interest rates of certain loans facilitated on our platform exceed
the maximum interest rate permitted for consumer loans made by non-bank lenders to borrowers residing in, or that have nexus to, such states. In
addition, the rate structures for loans facilitated on our platform may not be permissible in all states for non-bank lenders and/or the amount or structures
of certain fees charged in connection with loans facilitated on our platform may not be permissible in all states for non-bank lenders.

Usury, fee, and disclosure related claims involving loans facilitated on our platform may be raised in multiple ways. Program participants may face
litigation, government enforcement or other challenge, for example, based on claims that bank lenders did not establish loan terms that were permissible
in the state they were located or did not correctly identify the home or host state in which they were located for purposes of interest exportation authority
under federal law. Alternatively, we or our capital sources may face litigation, government enforcement, or other challenge, for example, based on claims
that rates and fees were lawful at origination and through any period during which the originating bank partner retained the loan and interests therein, but
that subsequent purchasers were unable to enforce the loan pursuant to its contracted-for terms, or that certain disclosures were not provided at
origination because while such disclosures are not required of banks they may be required of non-bank lenders.

In Madden v. Midland Funding, LLC, 786 F.3d 246 (2d Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 136 S.Ct. 2505 (June 27, 2016), for example, the United States
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit held that the non-bank purchaser of defaulted credit card
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debt could not rely on preemption standards under the National Bank Act applicable to the originator of such debt in defense of usury claims. Madden
addressed circumstances under which a defaulted extension of credit under a consumer credit card account was assigned, following default, to a non-
bank debt buyer that then attempted to collect the loan and to continue charging interest at the contracted-for rate. The debtor filed a suit claiming, among
other claims, that the rate charged by the non-bank collection entity exceeded the usury rates allowable for such entities under New York usury law.
Reversing a lower court decision, the Second Circuit held that preemption standards under the National Bank Act applicable to the bank that issued the
credit card were not available to the non-bank debt buyer as a defense to usury claims. Following denial of a petition for rehearing by the Second Circuit,
the defendant sought review by the United States Supreme Court. Following the United States Supreme Court’s request that the Solicitor General file a
brief setting forth the government’s position on whether the Supreme Court should hear the case in 2016, the Solicitor General filed its brief
recommending that the petition for a writ of certiorari be denied for certain vehicle suitability reasons, although the Solicitor General's brief concluded that
the Second Circuit’s decision was substantively incorrect as a matter of law. The Supreme Court denied certiorari on June 27, 2016, such that the
Second Circuit’s decision remains binding on federal courts in the Second Circuit (which include all federal courts in New York, Connecticut, and
Vermont). Upon remand to the District Court for consideration of additional issues, including whether a choice of law provision in the debtor’s credit card
agreement was enforceable to displace New York usury law and class certification, the parties settled the matter in 2019.

The scope and validity of the Second Circuit's Madden decision remain subject to challenge and clarification. For example, the Colorado
Administrator of the Colorado Uniform Consumer Credit Code, or the UCCC, reached a settlement with respect to complaints against two digital specialty
finance platforms whose business includes the use of bank partners and sale of loans to investors. The complaints included, among other claims,
allegations, grounded in the Second Circuit's Madden decision, that the rates and fees for certain loans could not be enforced lawfully by non-bank
purchasers of bank-originated loans. Under the settlement, these banks and nonbank partners committed to, among other things, limit the annual
percentage rates, or APR, on loans to Colorado consumers to 36% and take other actions. The nonbanks also agreed to obtain and maintain a Colorado
lending license. In Colorado, this settlement might provide a helpful model for what constitutes an acceptable bank partnership model. However, the
settlement may also invite other states to initiate their own actions, and set their own regulatory standards through enforcement.

As noted above, federal prudential regulators have also taken actions to address the Madden decision. On May 29, 2020, the OCC issued a final
rule clarifying that, when a national bank or savings association sells, assigns, or otherwise transfers a loan, interest permissible before the transfer
continues to be permissible after the transfer. That rule took effect on August 3, 2020. Similarly, the FDIC finalized on June 25, 2020 its 2019 proposal
declaring that the interest rate for a loan is determined when the loan is made, and will not be affected by subsequent events. On July 29, 2020,
California, New York and lllinois filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California to enjoin enforcement of the OCC rule (Case No.
20-CV-5200) and, similarly in the same court, on August 20, 2020 California, lllinois, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina,
and the District of Columbia sought to enjoin enforcement of the FDIC rule (Case No. 20-CV-5860), in each case related to permissible interest rates post-
loan transfer on the grounds that the OCC and FDIC exceeded their authority when promulgating those rules. In 2022, the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of California dismissed these challenges; however, there can be no assurance that these regulations will not be challenged in the future.

There are factual distinctions between our program and the circumstances addressed in the Second Circuit's Madden decision, as well as the
circumstances in the Colorado UCCC settlement and similar cases. As noted above, there are also bases on which the Madden decision’s validity might
be subject to challenge or the Madden decision may be addressed by federal regulation or legislation. Nevertheless, there can be no guarantee that a
Madden-like claim will not be brought successfully against us or our program participants.

If a borrower or any state agency were to successfully bring a claim against us, our bank partners or our capital sources for a state usury law or fee
restriction violation and the rate or fee at issue on the loan was impermissible under applicable state law, we, our bank partners or our capital sources
may face various commercial and legal repercussions, including that such parties would not receive the total amount of interest expected, and in some
cases, may not receive any interest or principal, may hold loans that are void, voidable, rescindable, or otherwise impaired or may be subject to
monetary, injunctive or criminal penalties. Were such repercussions to apply to us, we may suffer direct monetary loss or may be a less attractive
candidate for bank partners or capital sources to enter into or renew relationships; and were such repercussions to apply to our bank partners, such
parties could be discouraged from using our platform. We may also be subject to payment of damages in situations where we agreed to provide
indemnification, as well as fines and penalties assessed by state and federal regulatory agencies. Litigation or enforcement decisions might also affect our
decision to continue operating in any particular state.

If loans facilitated through our platform for one or more bank partners were subject to successful challenge that the bank partner was
not the “true lender,” such loans may be unenforceable, subject to rescission or otherwise impaired, we or other program participants may be
subject to fines, judgments and penalties, and/or our commercial relationships may suffer, each of which would adversely affect our business
and results of operations.

43



Table of Contents

Loans facilitated on our platform by our bank partners are originated in reliance on the fact that our bank partners are the “true lenders” for such
loans. That true lender status determines various loan program details and how we operate our business, including that we do not hold licenses required
solely for being the party that extends credit to consumers, and that loans facilitated on our platform by our bank partners may involve interest rates and
structures (and certain fees and fees structures) permissible at origination only because the loan terms and lending practices are permissible only when
the lender is a bank, and/or the disclosures provided to borrowers would be accurate and compliant only if the lender is a bank. Many state consumer
financial regulatory requirements, including usury restrictions (other than the restrictions of the state in which a bank partner originating a particular loan
is located) and many licensing requirements and substantive requirements under state consumer credit laws, are treated as inapplicable to loans
facilitated on our platform by our bank partners based on principles of federal preemption or express exemptions provided in relevant state laws for
certain types of financial institutions or loans they originate.

Certain recent litigation and regulatory enforcement has challenged, or is currently challenging, the characterization of bank partners as the “true
lender” in connection with programs involving origination and/or servicing relationships between a bank partner and specialty finance platforms or
program manager. As noted above, the Colorado Administrator has entered into a settlement agreement with certain banks and nonbanks that
addresses this true lender issue. Specifically, the settlement agreement sets forth a safe harbor indicating that a bank that is a party to the settlement
may lend in excess of Colorado’s usury rate for nonbanks if certain specific terms and conditions are met. Further, States have enacted, and additional
states may enact, laws that seek to deem certain entities to be the lender of a loan and prohibit any evasion or circumvention of state laws regulating
consumer lending. For example, in 2021 Maine adopted a law that, among other things, may deem an entity to be the lender of a loan if it (a) holds,
acquires or maintains the “predominant economic interest in the loan” or (b) markets, arranges or facilitates the loan and holds the right to purchase the
loan or interest in the loan, or (c) based on the totality of the circumstances, appears to be the lender, and the transaction is structured to evade certain
statutory requirements. States and consumers could bring lawsuits challenging whether our bank partners that originated through our platform are the
“true lenders” and whether the interest rates, fees, and structures of loans originated through our platform comply with federal and state law. For
example, in April 2021, the Washington, DC Attorney General filed a lawsuit against us for allegedly deceptively marketing high-cost loans with interest
rates above the Washington, DC usury cap. The usury claim was based on an allegation that we and not our partner bank, FinWise, was the “true lender
of these loans, and we were therefore in violation of the district’'s usury laws. FinWise has ceased originating loans in Washington D.C. and as a result,
we have ceased doing business in Washington, DC. In November 2021, we entered into a Consent Judgment and Order (“Settlement”) with the DC
Attorney General to resolve all matters in dispute related to this lawsuit. We deny the allegations in the lawsuit and deny that we violated any law or
engaged in any deceptive or unfair practices. The lawsuit was resolved to avoid the expense of protracted litigation, which is often expensive, time-
consuming, disruptive to our operations, distracting to management and may involve payment of damages. As part of the settlement, we agreed to,
among other things, refrain from certain business activities in the District of Columbia, pay $250,000 to the District of Columbia and provide refunds to
certain District of Columbia consumers.

We note that the OCC on October 27, 2020, issued a final rule to address the “true lender” issue for lending transactions involving a national bank.
For certain purposes related to federal banking law, including the ability of a national bank to “export” interest-related requirements from the state from
which they lend, the rule would treat a national bank as the “true lender” if it is named as the lender in the loan agreement or funds the loan. In June
2021, Congress utilized a procedure under the Congressional Review Act to repeal the OCC's “true lender” rule. Repeal of the “true lender” rule under
the CRA prevents the OCC from issuing any substantially similar rule unless subsequently authorized by law to do so. The OCC rule did not apply to
state-chartered banks and there can be no assurance that the FDIC will issue a similar rule applicable to state-chartered banks. While we do not
anticipate any material changes to our business model as a result of the repeal of the OCC'’s “true lender” rule because (i) the banks with whom we
partner are state chartered, FDIC regulated banks and are the lenders under such loans, and (ii) the repeal of the OCC'’s “true lender” rule does not have
direct implications on the rules finalized by the OCC and FDIC last year around the continued validity of the “valid when made doctrine,” we cannot be
certain that the repeal of such rule, or the restrictions on the OCC implementing a similar rule without statutory approval, will not have a material effect on
our business or our industry.

We, our bank partners and similarly situated parties could become subject to challenges like that presented by the Colorado settlement and, if so,
we could face penalties and/or loans facilitated on our platform by our bank partners may be void, voidable, or otherwise impaired in a manner that may
have adverse effects on our operations (directly, or as a result of adverse impact on our relationships with our bank partners, institutional investors or
other commercial counterparties).

There can be no assurance that the Colorado Administrator or other regulators or customers will not make assertions similar to those made in its
present actions with respect to the loans facilitated by our platform in the future. It is also possible that other state agencies or regulators could make
similar assertions. If a court or a state or federal enforcement agency were to determine that we, rather than our bank partners, are the “true lender” for
loans originated on our platform by our bank partners, and if for this reason (or any other reason) the loans were deemed subject to and in violation of
certain state consumer finance

44



Table of Contents

laws, we could be subject to fines, damages, injunctive relief (including required modification or discontinuation of our business in certain areas) and
other penalties or consequences, and the loans could be rendered void or unenforceable in whole or in part, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

If we are unable to successfully challenge the position of the DFPI that we are subject to the CFL, our bank partners’ ability to originate
loans in California could suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In February 2022, the DFPI informed us that the commissioner of the DFPI had taken the position that we are the “true lenders” for certain loans
(“Program Loans”) originated by our federally-insured state-chartered bank partners serviced through the OppFi technology and service platform
pursuant to a contractual arrangement with each such bank (“Program”), and as such we would be subject to the CFL, which would apply an interest rate
cap of 36% to certain of the Program Loans. On March 7, 2022, we filed a lawsuit seeking a declaration that the interest rate caps set forth in the CFL do
not apply to Program Loans and injunctive relief against the commissioner of the DFPI, preventing the DFPI from enforcing interest rate caps under the
CFL against us based on activities related to the Program.

While we believe that Program Loans made through the OppFi platform pursuant to the Program are constitutionally and statutorily exempt from
the CFL because the Program Loans are made by state-chartered banks located in Utah and because federal law permits state-chartered banks to export
the interest rates allowed in their chartering state to any other state in the country, we cannot assure you that we will prevail in our action against the
DFPI or that we will not otherwise be unable to prevent the DFPI from enforcing interest rate caps under the CFL against us. As of December 31, 2023,
more than 5% of our finance receivables portfolio was related to loans originated in the State of California, and if we become subject to the CFL interest
rate cap of 36%, our bank partners’ ability to originate Program Loans in California could suffer. This could have an adverse effect on our relationships
with our bank partners and financing sources, who may choose not to finance our purchase of participation interests in loans originated by our bank
partners on our platform in California, and our ability to maintain and grow our finance receivables portfolio, and potentially subject us to fines damages,
and other penalties or consequences, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Regulators and payment processors are scrutinizing certain online lenders’ access to the ACH system to disburse and collect loan
proceeds and repayments, and any interruption or limitation on our ability to access this critical system would materially adversely affect our
business.

When making loans, we typically use the ACH system to deposit loan proceeds into borrowers’ bank accounts. This includes loans originated by
our bank partners. We also depend on the ACH system to collect amounts due on loans by withdrawing funds from borrowers’ bank accounts when the
borrower has provided authorization to do so. ACH transactions are processed through banks and may involve other payment processors, and if these
banks or payment processors cease to provide ACH processing services or are not allowed to do so, we would have to materially alter, or possibly
discontinue, some or all of our business if alternative ACH processors or other payment mechanisms are not available.

In the past, heightened regulatory scrutiny by the U.S. Department of Justice, the FDIC and other regulators has caused some banks and ACH
payment processors to cease doing business with consumer lenders who are operating legally, without regard to whether those lenders are complying
with applicable laws, simply to avoid the risk of heightened scrutiny or even litigation. These actions have reduced the number of banks and payment
processors that provide ACH payment processing services to companies such as ours, could conceivably make it increasingly difficult to find bank
partners and payment processors in the future and/or could lead to significantly increased costs for these services. If we are unable to maintain access to
needed services on favorable terms, we would have to materially alter, or possibly discontinue, some or all of our business if alternative processors are
not available.

If we lost access to the ACH system because our payment processor was unable or unwilling to access the ACH system on our behalf, we would
experience a significant reduction in borrower loan payments. Although we would notify borrowers that they would need to make their loan payments via
physical check, debit card or other method of payment a large number of borrowers would likely go into default because they are expecting us to arrange
automated payment processing through ACH system. Similarly, if regulatory changes limited our access to the ACH system or reduced the number of
times ACH transactions could be re-presented, we would experience higher losses.

Our offshore service providers involve inherent risks which could result in harm to our business.

We have and may in the future engage outsourcing partners that provide offshore customer-facing activities. These international activities are
subject to inherent risks that are beyond our control, including:

« risks related to government regulation or required compliance with local laws;

« local licensing and reporting obligations;
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« difficulties in developing, staffing and simultaneously managing a number of varying foreign operations as a result of distance, language and
cultural differences;

« different, uncertain, overlapping or more stringent local laws and regulations;
« political and economic instability, tensions, security risks and changes in international diplomatic and trade relations;

« state or federal regulations that restrict offshoring of business operational functions or require offshore partners to obtain additional licenses,
registrations or permits to perform services on our behalf;

« geopolitical events, including natural disasters, public health issues, epidemics or pandemics, acts of war, and terrorism;
« the impact of, and response of local governments to, the COVID-19 pandemic;

» compliance with applicable U.S. laws and foreign laws related to consumer protection, intellectual property, privacy, data security, corruption,
money laundering, and export/trade control;

» misconduct by our outsourcing partners and their employees or even unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct;
« risks due to lack of direct involvement in hiring and retaining personnel; and
« potentially adverse tax developments and consequences.

Violations of the complex foreign and U.S. laws, rules and regulations that apply to our international operations and offshore activities of our service
providers may result in heightened regulatory scrutiny, fines, criminal actions or sanctions against us, our directors, our officers or our employees, as well
as restrictions on the conduct of our business and reputational damage.

Risks Related to Our Requlatory Environment

Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, remediation costs
and/or requirements resulting in increased expenses.

In the ordinary course of business, we have been named as a defendant in various legal actions, including class action lawsuits and other litigation.
Generally, this litigation arises from the dissatisfaction of a consumer with the products or services offered on our platform. All such legal actions are
inherently unpredictable and, regardless of the merits of the claims, litigation is often expensive, time-consuming, disruptive to our operations, and
distracting to management. In addition, certain actions may include claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. Our involvement in any such matter
also could cause significant harm to our or our bank partners’ reputations and divert management attention from the operation of our business, even if the
matters are ultimately determined in our favor. If resolved against us, legal actions could result in significant verdicts and judgments, injunctive relief,
equitable relief, and other adverse consequences that may affect our financial condition and how we operate our business, including our decision to
continue operating in certain states.

In addition, a number of participants in the consumer financial services industry, ourselves included, have been the subject of putative class action
lawsuits, state attorney general actions and other state regulatory enforcement actions and federal regulatory enforcement actions, including actions
relating to alleged unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, violations of state licensing and lending laws, including state usury and disclosure laws
and allegations of noncompliance with various state and federal laws and regulations relating to originating, servicing and collecting consumer finance
loans and other consumer financial services and products. The current regulatory environment of increased regulatory compliance efforts and enhanced
regulatory enforcement has resulted in us undertaking significant time-consuming and expensive operational and compliance improvement efforts, and in
some cases litigation to assert our rights under existing laws, which may delay or preclude our or our bank partners’ ability to provide certain new
products and services. There is no assurance that these regulatory matters or other factors will not, in the future, affect how we conduct our business
and, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business. In particular, legal proceedings brought under state consumer protection statutes or under
several of the various federal consumer financial protection statutes may result in a separate fine assessed for each statutory and regulatory violation or
substantial damages from class action lawsuits, potentially in excess of the amounts we earned from the underlying activities.

Some of our agreements used in the course of our business include arbitration clauses. If our arbitration agreements were to become
unenforceable for any reason, we could experience an increase to our consumer litigation costs and exposure to potentially damaging class action
lawsuits, with a potential material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We contest our liability and the amount of damages, as appropriate, in each pending matter. The outcome of pending and future matters could be
material to our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, and could materially adversely affect our business.
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In addition, from time to time, through our operational and compliance controls, we identify compliance issues that require us to make operational
changes and, depending on the nature of the issue, result in financial remediation to impacted borrowers. These self-identified issues and voluntary
remediation payments could be significant, depending on the issue and the number of borrowers impacted, and could generate litigation or regulatory
investigations that subject us to additional risk.

We are subject to or facilitate compliance with a variety of federal, state, and local laws, including those related to consumer protection,
privacy and loan financings, and if we fail to comply with such laws, our business could be adversely affected.

We must comply with regulatory regimes or facilitate compliance with regulatory regimes on behalf of our bank partners that are independently
subject to federal and/or state oversight by bank regulators, including those applicable to our referral and marketing services, consumer credit
transactions, loan servicing and collection activities and the purchase and sale of whole loans and other related transactions. Certain state laws generally
regulate interest rates and other charges and require certain disclosures. In addition, other federal and state laws may apply to the origination, servicing
and collection of loans originated on our platform or the purchase and sale of whole loans or participation rights. In particular, certain laws, regulations
and rules we or our bank partners are subject to include:

« state lending laws and regulations that require certain parties to hold licenses or other government approvals or filings in connection with
specified activities, and impose requirements related to loan disclosures and terms, fees and interest rates, credit discrimination, credit reporting,
servicemember relief, debt collection, repossession, unfair or deceptive business practices and consumer protection, as well as other state laws relating
to privacy, information security, conduct in connection with data breaches and money transmission;

« the Truth-in-Lending Act and Regulation Z promulgated thereunder, and similar state laws, which require certain disclosures to borrowers
regarding the terms and conditions of their loans and credit transactions, require creditors to comply with certain lending practice restrictions, limit the
ability of a creditor to impose certain loan terms and impose disclosure requirements in connection with credit card origination;

« the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B promulgated thereunder, and similar state fair lending laws, which prohibit creditors from
discouraging or discriminating against credit applicants on the basis of race, color, sex, age, religion, national origin, marital status, the fact that all or part
of the applicant’'s income derives from any public assistance program or the fact that the applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the federal
Consumer Credit Protection Act;

« the Fair Credit Reporting Act and Regulation V promulgated thereunder, imposes certain obligations on users of consumer reports and those that
furnish information to consumer reporting agencies, including obligations relating to obtaining consumer reports, using consumer reports, taking adverse
action on the basis of information from consumer reports, addressing risks of identity theft and fraud and protecting the privacy and security of consumer
reports and consumer report information;

» Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, which prohibits unfair and deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce, and Section
1031 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which prohibits unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices in connection with any consumer financial product or service,
and analogous state laws prohibiting unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices;

« the Credit Practices Rule which prohibits lenders from using certain contract provisions that the Federal Trade Commission has found to be unfair
to consumers, requires lenders to advise consumers who co-sign obligations about their potential liability if the primary obligor fails to pay and prohibits
certain late charges;

« the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and similar state debt collection laws, which provide guidelines and limitations on the conduct of third-party
debt collectors (and some limitation on creditors collecting their own debts) in connection with the collection of consumer debts;

» the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and Regulation P promulgated thereunder, which includes limitations on financial institutions’ disclosure of nonpublic
personal information about a consumer to nonaffiliated third parties, in certain circumstances requires financial institutions to limit the use and further
disclosure of nonpublic personal information by nonaffiliated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires financial institutions to
disclose certain privacy notices and practices with respect to information sharing with affiliated and unaffiliated entities as well as to safeguard personal
borrower information, and other privacy laws and regulations;

« state financial privacy laws in California, Vermont and a limited number of other states that require financial institutions to obtain opt-in consent
before sharing a consumer’s nonpublic financial information with nonaffilaited third parties;

« limited provisions of the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), including provisions enforceable by California’s new privacy agency and its
Department of Justice that require specific privacy policy disclosures and give
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consumers the right to opt out of the sale or sharing of personal information for certain behavioral advertising purposes, and which also includes a private
right of action for negligent data breaches, all of which are subject to civil and administrative penalties and statutory damages (for private right of action)
assessed on a per-consumer or per-incident basis, in addition to actual damages and injunctive relief;

« the Bankruptcy Code, which limits the extent to which creditors may seek to enforce debts against parties who have filed for bankruptcy
protection;

« the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, which allows military members to suspend or postpone certain civil obligations, requires creditors to reduce
the interest rate to 6% on loans to military members under certain circumstances, and imposes restrictions on enforcement of loans to servicemembers,
so that the military member can devote his or her full attention to military duties;

« the Military Lending Act, which requires those who lend to “covered borrowers”, including members of the military and their dependents, to only
offer Military APRs (a specific measure of all-in-cost-of-credit) under 36%, prohibits arbitration clauses in loan agreements, and prohibits certain other
loan agreement terms and lending practices in connection with loans to military servicemembers, among other requirements, and for which violations
may result in penalties including voiding of the loan agreement;

« the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E promulgated thereunder, which provide guidelines and restrictions on the electronic transfer of
funds from consumers’ bank accounts, including a prohibition on a creditor requiring a consumer to repay a credit agreement in preauthorized (recurring)
electronic fund transfers and disclosure and authorization requirements in connection with such transfers;

« the Telephone Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, which impose various consumer consent requirements and
other restrictions in connection with telemarketing activity and other communication with consumers by phone, fax or text message, and which provide
guidelines designed to safeguard consumer privacy in connection with such communications;

« the federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 and the Telemarketing Sales Rule and analogous
state laws, which impose various restrictions on marketing conducted use of email, telephone, fax or text message;

« the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act and similar state laws, particularly the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, which
authorize the creation of legally binding and enforceable agreements utilizing electronic records and signatures and which require creditors and loan
servicers to obtain a consumer’s consent to electronically receive disclosures required under federal and state laws and regulations;

« the Right to Financial Privacy Act and similar state laws enacted to provide the financial records of financial institution customers a reasonable
amount of privacy from government scrutiny;

« the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act, which relate to compliance with anti-money laundering, borrower due diligence, transaction
monitoring and reporting and record-keeping policies and procedures;

« the Executive Orders and regulations promulgated by the Office of Foreign Assets Control under the U.S. Treasury Department related to the
administration and enforcement of sanctions against foreign jurisdictions and persons that threaten U.S. foreign policy and national security goals,
primarily to prevent targeted jurisdictions and persons from accessing the U.S. financial system; and

« federal and state securities laws, including, among others, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (referred to as the I1AA) and the Investment Company Act of 1940,
as amended, or the Investment Company Act, rules and regulations adopted under those laws, and similar state laws and regulations, which govern how
we offer, sell and transact in our loan financing products; and other state-specific and local laws and regulations.

We may not always have been, and may not always be, in compliance with these and other applicable laws, regulations and rules. Compliance with
these requirements is also costly, time-consuming and limits our operational flexibility. Even if we believe we are in compliance with applicable laws,
regulators may assert that we are not in compliance with such laws, and we have and may in the future be required to seek redress against regulators
through legal action or otherwise, which could be costly and time-consuming. Additionally, Congress, the states and regulatory agencies, as well as local
municipalities, could further regulate the consumer financial services industry in ways that make it more difficult or costly for us to offer our platform and
related services or facilitate the origination of loans for our bank partners. These laws also are often subject to changes that could severely limit the
operations of our business model. For example, in July 2021, a bill was reintroduced in the U.S. Senate that would create a national cap of 36% APR on
most consumer loans, and 18 states and Washington, D.C. have
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enacted interest rate caps on certain types of consumer loans. Although the proposed national rate cap may never be enacted into law, if such a bill were
to be enacted, it would greatly restrict the number of loans that could be funded through our platform. In another example, in June 2023, Colorado
enacted a law to opt out from interest rate preemption afforded state-chartered banks with respect to installment loans made in Colorado, pursuant to the
Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980. The law becomes effective July 1, 2024. lowa and Puerto Rico also have
exercised this opt out. Other states and jurisdictions are considering similar legislation. If other states or jurisdictions adopt similar legislation, it may limit
the interest rates that could be charged on new loans made in such states by state chartered banks that originate loans on our platform and may restrict
the number of loans that could be funded through our platform. Further, changes in the regulatory application or judicial interpretation of the laws and
regulations applicable to financial institutions also could impact the manner in which we conduct our business. The regulatory environment in which
financial institutions operate has become increasingly complex, and following the financial crisis that began in 2008 and the financial distress experienced
by many consumer as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, supervisory efforts to apply relevant laws, regulations and policies have become more intense.
Additionally, states are increasingly introducing and, in some cases, passing laws that restrict interest rates and APRs on loans similar to the loans made
on our platform. For example, in California the DFPI is considered a “mini-CFPB” because it has sought to increase oversight over bank partnership
relationships and strengthen state consumer protection authority of state regulators to police debt collections and unfair, deceptive or abusive acts and
practices. Additionally, voter referendums have been introduced and, in some cases, passed restrictions on interest rates and/or APRs. If such legislation
or bills were to be propagated, or state or federal regulators seek to restrict regulated financial institutions such as our bank partners from engaging in
business us in certain ways, our bank partners’ ability to originate loans in certain states could be greatly reduced, and as a result, our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Where applicable, we seek to comply with state broker, credit service organization, small loan, finance lender, servicing, collection, money
transmitter and similar statutes. Nevertheless, if we are found to not comply with applicable laws, we could lose one or more of our licenses or
authorizations, become subject to greater scrutiny by other state regulatory agencies, face other sanctions or be required to obtain a license in such
jurisdiction, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to continue to facilitate loans, perform our servicing obligations or make our platform available
to consumers in particular states, which may harm our business. Further, failure to comply with the laws and regulatory requirements applicable to our
business and operations may, among other things, limit our ability to collect all or part of the principal of or interest on loans facilitated on our platform. In
addition, non-compliance could subject us to civil penalties, damages, revocation of required licenses, class action lawsuits, administrative enforcement
actions and civil and criminal liability, all of which would harm our business.

Internet-based loan origination processes may give rise to greater risks than paper-based processes and may not always be allowed
under state law.

We use the internet to obtain application information and distribute certain legally required notices to applicants and borrowers, and to obtain
electronically signed loan documents in lieu of paper documents with actual borrower signatures. These processes may entail greater risks than would
paper-based loan origination processes, including risks regarding the sufficiency of notice for compliance with consumer protection laws, risks that
borrowers may challenge the authenticity of loan documents, and risks that despite internal controls, unauthorized changes are made to the electronic
loan documents. In addition, our software could contain “bugs” that result in incorrect calculations or disclosures or other non-compliance with federal or
state laws or regulations. If any of those factors were to cause any loans, or any of the terms of the loans, to be unenforceable against our borrowers, or
impair our ability to service loans, the performance of the underlying promissory notes could be adversely affected.

If we are found to be operating without having obtained necessary state or local licenses, our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

Certain states have adopted laws regulating and requiring licensing by parties that engage in certain activities regarding consumer finance
transactions, including facilitating and assisting such transactions in certain circumstances. Furthermore, certain states and localities have also adopted
laws requiring licensing for consumer debt collection or servicing and/or purchasing or selling consumer loans. While we believe we have obtained all
necessary licenses, the application of some consumer finance licensing laws to our platform and the related activities we perform is unclear. In addition,
state licensing requirements may evolve over time, including, in particular, recent trends toward increased licensing requirements and regulation of
parties engaged in loan solicitation activities. States also maintain licensing requirements pertaining to the transmission of money, and certain states may
broadly interpret such licensing requirements to cover loan servicing and the transmission of funds to investors. If we were found to be in violation of
applicable state licensing requirements by a court or a state, federal, or local enforcement agency, we could be subject to fines, damages, injunctive relief
(including required modification or discontinuation of our business in certain areas), criminal penalties and other penalties or consequences, and the
loans originated by our bank partners on our platform could be rendered void or unenforceable in whole or in part, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.
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The CFPB has sometimes taken expansive views of its authority to regulate consumer financial services, creating uncertainty as to how
the agency'’s actions or the actions of any other new agency could impact our business.

The CFPB, which commenced operations in July 2011, has broad authority to create and modify regulations under federal consumer financial
protection laws, such as Regulation Z (implementing the Truth in Lending Act), Regulation B (implementing ECOA), Regulation V (implementing the Fair
Credit Reporting Act), and Regulation E (implementing the Electronic Fund Transfer Act), among other regulations, and to enforce compliance with those
laws. The CFPB supervises banks, thrifts and credit unions with assets over $10 billion and examines certain of our bank partners. Further, the CFPB is
charged with the examination and supervision of certain participants in the consumer financial services market, including short-term, small dollar lenders,
and larger participants in other areas of financial services. The CFPB is also authorized to prevent “unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices” through
its rulemaking, supervisory and enforcement authority. To assist in its enforcement, the CFPB maintains an online complaint system that allows
consumers to log complaints with respect to various consumer finance products, including our loan products. This system could inform future CFPB
decisions with respect to its regulatory, enforcement or examination focus. The CFPB may also request reports concerning our organization, business
conduct, markets and activities and conduct on-site examinations of our business on a periodic basis if the CFPB were to determine or suspect, as a
result of information provided through its complaint system, that we were engaging in activities that pose risks to consumers.

Only one digital specialty finance platforms has ever received a no-action letter from the CFPB with respect to ECOA compliance as it pertains to
underwriting applicants for unsecured non-revolving credit, and there continues to be uncertainty about the future of the CFPB and as to how its
strategies and priorities, including in both its examination and enforcement processes, will impact our business and our results of operations going
forward. In addition, evolving views regarding the use of alternative variables and machine learning in assessing credit risk and/or stated focus of the
Administration and CFPB leadership on fair lending could result in the CFPB taking actions that result in requirements to alter or cease offering affected
financial products and services, making them less attractive and restricting our ability to offer them. The CFPB could also implement rules that restrict our
effectiveness in servicing our financial products and services. Although we have committed resources to enhancing our compliance programs, any
actions by the CFPB (or other regulators) against us, our bank partners or our competitors could discourage the use of our services or those of our bank
partners, which could result in reputational harm, a loss of bank partners, borrowers or capital sources, or discourage the use of our or their services and
adversely affect our business. If the CFPB changes regulations or madifies through supervision or enforcement past regulatory guidance or interprets
existing regulations in a different or stricter manner than they have been interpreted in the past by us, the industry or other regulators, our compliance
costs and litigation exposure could increase materially. This is particularly true with respect to the application of ECOA and Regulation B to credit risk
models that rely upon alternative variables and machine learning, an area of law where regulatory guidance is currently uncertain and still evolving, and
for which there are not well-established regulatory norms for establishing compliance. If future regulatory or legislative restrictions or prohibitions are
imposed that affect our ability to offer certain of our products or that require us to make significant changes to our business practices, and if we are unable
to develop compliant alternatives with acceptable returns, these restrictions or prohibitions could have a material adverse effect on our business. If the
CFPB, or another regulator, were to issue a consent decree or other similar order against us or our competitors, this could also directly or indirectly affect
our results of operations.

We have been in the past and may in the future be subject to federal and state regulatory inquiries regarding our business, which may
cause significant harm to our reputation, lead to investigations and enforcement actions from regulatory agencies or litigants, and divert
management attention and resources from the operation of our business.

We have, from time to time in the normal course of our business, received, and may in the future receive or be subject to, inquiries or investigations
by state and federal regulatory agencies and bodies such as the CFPB, state attorneys general, state financial regulatory agencies, such as the DFPI,
and other state or federal agencies or bodies regarding our platform, including the marketing of loans for lenders, underwriting and pricing of consumer
loans for our bank partners, our fair lending compliance program and licensing and registration requirements. We have addressed these inquiries directly
and engaged in open dialogue with regulators. For example, the CFPB has issued a civil investigative demand, or CID, to us, as a result of a consumer
complaint, the stated purpose of which is to determine whether our lending practices violated any consumer financial laws with respect to the Military
Lending Act. We have responded to the CFPB to refute the number of affected consumers, and on August 25, 2021 we received notification from the
staff of the CFPB that the CFPB had completed its investigation and does not intend to recommend that the CFPB take enforcement action against us.

We have also received inquiries from state regulatory agencies regarding requirements to obtain licenses from or register with those states,
including in states where we have determined that we are not required to obtain such a license or be registered with the state, and we expect to continue
to receive such inquiries. Any such inquiries or investigations could involve substantial time and expense to analyze and respond to, could divert
management’s attention and other resources from running our business, has and could in the future lead to public enforcement actions or lawsuits and
fines, penalties, injunctive relief, and the need to obtain additional licenses that we do not currently possess. For example, in the case of the inquiry
initiated by
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the DFPI with respect to Program Loans, we have sought declaratory and injunctive relief in response to action by the DFPI, the outcome of which is
uncertain at this time. Our involvement in any such matters, whether tangential or otherwise and even if the matters are ultimately determined in our
favor, could also cause significant harm to our reputation, lead to additional investigations and enforcement actions from other agencies or litigants, and
further divert management attention and resources from the operation of our business. As a result, the outcome of legal and regulatory actions arising out
of any state or federal inquiries we receive could be material to our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The collection, processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of existing or new
governmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements or differing views of personal privacy rights.

We receive, transmit and store a large volume of personally identifiable information and other sensitive data from applicants and borrowers. There
are federal, state and foreign laws regarding privacy and the storing, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of personally identifiable information and
sensitive data. Specifically, cybersecurity and data privacy issues, particularly with respect to personally identifiable information are increasingly subject to
legislation and regulations to protect the privacy and security of personal information that is collected, processed and transmitted. For example, the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act or the GLBA includes limitations on financial institutions’ disclosure of nonpublic personal information about a consumer to
nonaffiliated third parties, in certain circumstances requires financial institutions to limit the use and further disclosure of nonpublic personal information
by nonaffiliated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires financial institutions to disclose certain privacy notices and practices
with respect to information sharing with affiliated and unaffiliated entities as well as to safeguard personal borrower information. Financial privacy laws in
some states provide additional limitations on the use of nonpublic personal information, including requiring opt-in consent before it can be disclosed to
nonaffiliated entities. In addition, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or the CCPA, which went into effect on January 1, 2020 and applies to employees,
business contacts, job applicants, and certain personal data not subject to the GLBA, requires, among other things, that covered companies provide
detailed disclosures to California residents and afford California residents rights to access, delete and correct their personal information as well as the
right to opt out of the sale of their personal information or the disclosure of their personal information to third parties for cross-context behavioral
advertising. Additionally, other U.S. states are proposing and enacting laws and regulations that impose obligations similar to the CCPA or that otherwise
involve significant obligations and restrictions. Compliance with current and future borrower privacy data protection and information security laws and
regulations could result in higher compliance, technical or operating costs. Further, any actual or perceived violations of these laws and regulations may
require us to change our business practices, data infrastructure or operational structure, address legal claims and regulatory investigations and
proceedings and sustain monetary penalties and/or other harms to our business. We could also be adversely affected if new legislation or regulations are
adopted or if existing legislation or regulations are modified such that we are required to alter our systems or change our business practices or privacy
policies.

The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and many state attorneys general are interpreting existing federal and state consumer protection laws to
impose evolving standards for the collection, use, dissemination and security of personally identifiable information, including financial information. For
instance, the FTC published an advance notice of proposed rulemaking on commercial surveillance and data security in 2022 and may implement new
trade regulation rules or other regulatory alternatives relating to the ways in which companies (1) collect, aggregate, protect, use, analyze, and retain
consumer data, as well as (2) transfer, share, sell, or otherwise monetize that data in ways that are unfair or deceptive in the coming years. Privacy laws
require us to publish statements describing how we handle personal information and choices individuals may have concerning the way we handle their
personal information. Violating individuals’ privacy rights, publishing false or misleading information about security practices, or failing to take appropriate
steps to keep individuals’ personal information secure may constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. Federal
regulators, state attorneys general and plaintiffs’ attorneys have been and will likely continue to be active in this space, and if we do not comply with
existing or new laws and regulations related to personally identifiable information, we could be subject to criminal or civil sanctions.

In addition, there has been a noticeable increase in class actions in the U.S. where plaintiffs have utilized a variety of laws, including state
wiretapping laws, in relation to the use of tracking technologies, such as cookies and pixels. Actual, potential, or perceived violations of such laws could
result in regulatory investigations, fines, orders to cease/change our use of such technologies and processing of personal data, as well as civil claims

including class actions, reputational damage and ongoing compliance costs, any of which could harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

As the regulatory framework for machine learning technology evolves, our business, financial condition and results of operations may
be adversely affected.

The regulatory framework for machine learning technology, particularly when used in connection with the offering of financial services, is
developing and being discussed by several regulatory agencies, including the CFPB. It is possible that in
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the coming years ahead, new laws and regulations will be adopted in the United States, or existing laws and regulations may be interpreted in new ways,
both of which could affect the operation of our platform and the way in which we use machine learning technology, including with respect to fair lending
laws. Further, the cost to comply with such laws or regulations could be significant and would increase our operating expenses, which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are required to register under the Investment Company Act, our ability to conduct business could be materially adversely affected.

The Investment Company Act contains substantive legal requirements that regulate the manner in which “investment companies” are permitted to
conduct their business activities. In general, an “investment company” is a company that holds itself out as an investment company or holds more than
40% of the total value of its assets (minus cash and government securities) in “investment securities.” We believe we are not an investment company. We
do not hold ourselves out as an investment company. We understand, however, that the loans held on our balance sheet could be viewed by the SEC or
its staff as “securities,” which could in turn cause the SEC or its staff to view Opportunity Financial, LLC or an affiliate as an “investment company”
subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act. We believe that we have never been an investment company because, among other reasons,
we are primarily engaged in the business of providing a specialty finance platform to banks. If we were ever deemed to be in non-compliance with the
Investment Company Act, we could also be subject to various penalties, including administrative or judicial proceedings that might result in censure, fine,
civil penalties, cease-and-desist orders or other adverse consequences, as well as private rights of action, any of which could materially adversely affect
our business.

Anti-money laundering, anti-terrorism financing, anti-corruption and economic sanctions laws could have adverse consequences for us.

We maintain a compliance program designed to enable us to comply with all applicable anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism financing laws
and regulations, including the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act and U.S. economic sanctions laws administered by the Office of Foreign
Assets Control. This program includes policies, procedures, processes and other internal controls designed to identify, monitor, manage and mitigate the
risk of money laundering and terrorist financing and engaging in transactions involving sanctioned countries persons and entities. These controls include
procedures and processes to detect and report suspicious transactions, perform borrower due diligence, respond to requests from law enforcement, and
meet all recordkeeping and reporting requirements related to particular transactions involving currency or monetary instruments. We are also subject to
anti-corruption and anti-bribery and similar laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, the U.S. domestic
bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, and the U.S. Travel Act, which prohibit companies and their employees and agents from promising,
authorizing, making, or offering improper payments or other benefits to government officials and others in the private sector in order to influence official
action, direct business to any person, gain any improper advantage, or obtain or retain business. We have implemented an anti-corruption policy to
ensure compliance with these anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws. No assurance is given that our programs and controls will be effective to ensure
compliance with all applicable anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism financing and anti-corruption laws and regulations, and our failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could subject us to significant sanctions, fines, penalties, contractual liability to our bank partners or institutional investors, and
reputational harm, all of which could harm our business.

Risks Related to Loan Funding and Indebtedness

Our warehouse facilities expose us to certain risks, and we can provide no assurance that we will be able to access the whole loan sales
markets, or secured warehouse credit facilities, in the future, which may require us to seek more costly financing.

We have funded, and may in the future fund, certain loans on our balance sheet and our purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our
bank partners by selling such loans or participation interests to warehouse special purpose entities, or SPEs, which loan and participation rights sales are
partially financed with associated warehouse credit facilities from financial institutions. Concurrently, the SPE borrows money from financial institutions
pursuant to credit and security agreements. The lines of credit borrowed by the SPEs are each secured by the pool of loans and participation rights
owned by the applicable SPE.

During periods of financial disruption, such as the financial crisis that began in 2008 and the COVID-19 pandemic that began in early 2020, the
credit market constrained, and this could continue or occur again in the future. In addition, other matters, such as (i) accounting standards applicable to
the foregoing transactions and (ii) capital and leverage requirements applicable to banks and other regulated financial institutions, could result in
decreased investor demand, or increased competition from other institutions that undertake similar transactions. In addition, compliance with certain
regulatory
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requirements, including the Dodd-Frank Act, the Investment Company Act and the so-called “Volcker Rule,” may affect the type of transactions that we
are able to complete.

If it is not possible or economical for us to engage in whole loan or participation rights sales in the future, we would need to seek alternative
financing to support our loan funding programs and to meet our existing debt obligations. Such funding may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. If the cost of such loan funding mechanisms were to be higher than that of our whole loan and participation right sales, the fair value of
the loans and participation rights would likely be reduced, which would negatively impact our results of operations. If we are unable to access such
financing, our ability to originate loans and acquire participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners and our results of operations, financial
condition and liquidity would be materially adversely affected.

If we are unable to maintain diverse and robust sources of capital, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on maintaining diverse and robust sources of capital to originate loans facilitated on our platform in certain states and to
acquire participation rights in loans that our bank partners originate using our platform. We currently have committed financing agreements with two non-
banks lenders and one commercial bank. We cannot be sure that these funding sources will continue to be available on reasonable terms or at all beyond
the current maturity dates of our existing credit facilities. See the section “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” for more information.

Events of default or breaches of financial, performance or other covenants, or worse than expected performance of certain pools of loans
underpinning our credit facilities, could reduce or terminate our access to funding from such facilities. Loan performance is dependent on a number of
factors, including the predictiveness of our models and social and economic conditions. The availability and capacity of sources of capital also depends on
many factors that are outside of our control, such as credit market volatility and regulatory reforms. In the event that we do not maintain adequate sources
of capital, we may not be able to maintain the necessary levels of funding to retain current loan volume, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In connection with our credit facilities, we make representations and warranties concerning the loans or participation rights sold, and if
such representations and warranties are not accurate when made, we could be required to repurchase such loans or participation rights.

Under our credit facilities we make numerous representations and warranties concerning the characteristics of the loans facilitated on our platform,
or participation rights with respect thereto, sold and transferred in connection with such transactions, including representations and warranties that the
loans meet the eligibility requirements of those facilities. If those representations and warranties were not accurate when made, we may be required to
repurchase the underlying loans or participation rights. Failure to repurchase so-called ineligible receivables when required could constitute an event of
default or termination event under our credit facilities. Historically, we have not had to repurchase loans or participations rights as a result of inaccurate
representations or warranties related to loans facilitated on our platform. While only a small number of loans or participation rights have been historically
repurchased by us, there can be no assurance that we would have adequate cash or other qualifying assets available to make such repurchases if and
when required. Such repurchases could be limited in scope, relating to small pools of loans or participation rights, or significant in scope, across multiple
pools of loans or participation rights. If we were required to make such repurchases and if we do not have adequate liquidity to fund such repurchases,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We rely on borrowings under our corporate and warehouse credit facilities to fund certain aspects of our operations, and any inability to
meet our obligations as they come due or to comply with various covenants could harm our business.

Our corporate credit facilities consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities that we have drawn on to finance our operations and for other
corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $333 million outstanding principal under these term loans and revolving credit
facilities. These borrowings are generally secured by all the assets of the company that have not otherwise been sold or pledged to secure our structured
finance facilities, such as assets belonging to our SPEs. These credit agreements contain operating and financial covenants, including customary
limitations on the incurrence of certain indebtedness and liens, restrictions on certain transactions and limitations on distributions and stock repurchases.
We have in the past, and may in the future, fail to comply with certain operating or financial covenants in our credit agreements, requiring a waiver from
our lenders. Our ability to comply with or renegotiate these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, and breaches of these covenants
could result in a default under such agreements and any future financial agreements into which we may enter. If we were to default on our credit
obligations and such defaults were not waived, our lenders may require repayment of any outstanding debt and terminate their agreements with us.

In addition, we, through our SPEs, have entered into warehouse credit facilities to partially finance the origination of loans by us on our platform or
the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners through our
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platform, which credit facilities are secured by the loans or participation rights. We generally hold these loans or participation rights on our balance sheet
until we can liquidate them. As of December 31, 2023, outstanding borrowings under these warehouse credit facilities were $283 million. See the section
titted “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources " for more information
about our term loans and revolving loan facilities.

Our warehouse credit facilities impose operating and financial covenants on the SPEs, and under certain events of default, the lenders could
require that all outstanding borrowings become immediately due and payable or terminate their agreements with us. We have in the past, and may in the
future, fail to comply with certain operating or financial covenants in our credit facilities, requiring waivers from our lenders. If we are unable to repay our
obligations at maturity or in the event of default, the borrowing SPEs may have to liquidate the loans or participation rights held as collateral at an
inopportune time or price or, if the lender liquidated the loans or participation rights, the SPE, and in certain situations we, would have to pay any amount
by which the original purchase price exceeded their sale price. An event of default would negatively impact our ability to originate loans on our platform
and purchase participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners on our platform and require us to rely on alternative funding sources, which
might increase our costs or which might not be available when needed. If we were unable to arrange new or alternative methods of financing on favorable
terms, we might have to curtail our specialty finance programs, which could have an adverse effect on our and our bank partners’ ability or willingness to
originate new loans, which in turn would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Some of our borrowings carry a floating rate of interest linked to the London Inter-bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR. On July 27, 2017, the United
Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), announced that it intended to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of
LIBOR after 2021. In response, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC”), made up of financial and capital market institutions, was convened
to address the replacement of LIBOR in the U.S. The ARRC identified a potential successor to LIBOR in the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(“TSOFR”) and has crafted a plan to facilitate the transition. In March 2022, the Adjustable Interest Rate (LIBOR) Act (the “LIBOR Act”) was enacted,
providing that LIBOR-based contracts that lack practicable replacement benchmarks will automatically transition to the applicable reference rates
recommended by the Federal Reserve. In December 2022, the Federal Reserve issued a Final Rule establishing benchmark replacements based on
TSOFR. However, the ICE Benchmark Administration (“IBA”), the authorized and regulated administrator of LIBOR, expects to continue publishing some
LIBOR tenors until June 2023 and may be compelled to continue publishing other tenors under a different methodology after the FCA completes a
consultation and makes a final determination on the matter (expected in 2023). While our agreements generally include alternative rates to LIBOR, if a
change in indices results in interest rate increases on our debt, debt service requirements will increase, which could adversely affect our cash flow and
results of operations. We do not expect a materially adverse change to our financial condition or liquidity as a result of any such changes or any other
reforms to LIBOR that may be enacted in the United States, the United Kingdom or elsewhere.

Changes in interest rates could adversely affect our performance.

Our results of operations depend to a great extent on our net interest and loan related income, which is related to the difference between the
interest rates earned on interest-earning assets such as loans and investment securities, and the interest rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities such as
borrowings under our credit facilities. We are exposed to interest rate risk because our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities do not react
uniformly or concurrently to changes in interest rates. The interest rates of borrowings under some of our credit facilities are based on floating interest
rates and are sensitive to factors that are beyond our control, including domestic and international economic conditions and the policies of various
governmental and regulatory agencies, including the Federal Reserve. The monetary policies of the Federal Reserve, implemented through open market
operations, the federal funds rate targets, the discount rate for banking borrowings and reserve requirements, affect prevailing interest rates. For
instance, between August 2019 and March 2020, the Federal Open Market Committee of the Federal Reserve Board decreased its target range for short-
term interest rates by 200 basis points, while between March 2022 and December 2023, it raised interest rates by 525 basis points and indicated that
further changes may occur in 2024. A material change in any of these policies could affect the cost of borrowings under our credit facilities which in turn
could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may need to raise additional funds in the future, including through equity, debt or convertible debt financings, to support business
growth and those funds may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges,
including the need to develop new loan products, enhance our models, improve our operating infrastructure, or acquire complementary businesses and
technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity, debt or convertible debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds by
issuing equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities, the combined company’s stockholders may experience dilution. Debt financing, if
available,
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may involve covenants restricting our operations or our ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or additional equity financing that we raise may contain
terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders.

If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, we may be unable to pursue certain business
opportunities and our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be impaired and our business may
be harmed.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities
Having a minority share position may reduce the influence of stockholders on the management of the Company.

At December 31, 2023, (i) the Company’s public stockholders owned approximately 17.0% of the Company’s Common Stock and the Members
owned approximately 83.0% of the Company’s Common Stock. The ownership percentage does not take into account (i) the Warrants; (ii) the issuance
of any shares under the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan or the OppFi Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan; or (iii) any shares of Class A
Common Stock that may be repurchased pursuant to the Repurchase Program (as defined below). To the extent that any shares of Class A Common
Stock are issued upon exercise of the Warrants or pursuant to our incentive plan or employee stock purchase plan, current stockholders may experience
substantial dilution, and to the extent any shares of Class A Common Stock are repurchased pursuant to the Repurchase Program, the relative ownership
interest of the Members will increase. This dilution, or increase in the relative ownership interest of the Members could, among other things, further limit
the ability of our current stockholders to influence management of our company.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of the NYSE.

Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are currently listed on the NYSE. If the NYSE delists our Class A Common Stock from trading on
its exchange for failure to meet the listing standards, we and our stockholders could face significant adverse consequences including:

« a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;
« reduced liquidity for our securities;

« a determination that our Class A Common Stock is a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in our Class A Common Stock to adhere to
more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our securities;

« a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
« decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

The National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996, which is a federal statute, prevents or preempts the states from regulating the sale of
certain securities, which are referred to as “covered securities.” Because our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on the NYSE, they
are covered securities. Although the states are preempted from regulating the sale of our securities, the federal statute does allow the states to
investigate companies if there is a suspicion of fraud, and, if there is a finding of fraudulent activity, then the states can regulate or bar the sale of covered
securities in a particular case. While we are not aware of a state, other than the state of Idaho, having used these powers to prohibit or restrict the sale of
securities issued by blank check companies, certain state securities regulators view blank check companies unfavorably and might use these powers, or
threaten to use these powers, to hinder the sale of securities of blank check companies in their states. Further, if we were no longer listed on the NYSE,
our securities would not be covered securities and we would be subject to regulation in each state in which we offer our securities, including in
connection with our initial business combination.

Future resales of Class A Common Stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is
doing well.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 66.4 million Retained OppFi-LLC Units (“Initial Shares”) may be exchanged for shares of our Class A
Common Stock by the Members pursuant to the Members’ Exchange Rights, and may be sold without any contractual restriction by the Members.
Pursuant to the lock-up restrictions agreed to in connection with the Investor Rights Agreement, beginning on the nine month anniversary of the Closing
(unless earlier waived by the Company in its capacity as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC), or with respect to the Earnout Units, on such later date the
Earnout Units are earned in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement, all of the Retained OppFi-LLC Units held by the Members may be
exchanged, upon the exercise of such Members’ Exchange Rights, for either one share of Class A Common Stock or, at the election of the Company in
its capacity as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC, the cash equivalent of the market value of one share of Class A Common Stock, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the OppFi-LLC A&R LLCA. Assuming the full exercise of the Exchange Rights by all of the Members (including with respect to the Initial
Shares and the Earnout Units), the Members will own 83.0% of our Class A Common Stock.
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Except with respect to the restrictions described above, the Members will not be restricted from selling the shares of Class A Common Stock held
by them following their exercise of Exchange Rights, other than by applicable securities laws. As such, sales of a substantial number of shares of Class A
Common Stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares
intend to sell shares, could cause the market price of our securities to decline or increase the volatility in the market price of our securities.

The amount and frequency of our share repurchases may fluctuate, and we cannot guarantee that we will continue to repurchase shares
of our Class A Common Stock , or that it will enhance long-term stockholder value. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility of the
trading price of our stock and will diminish our cash reserves.

In January 2022, we announced a program to repurchase up to $20.0 million in the aggregate of shares of Class A Common Stock (“Repurchase
Program”). The Repurchase Program expired in December 2023. As of the expiration, we had purchased approximately $2.5 million of shares of Class A
Common Stock under the Repurchase Program. There can be no guarantee that the Board will approve a new share repurchase program. Any decision
to approve a new share repurchase program will be made by the Board from time to time based on the Board's evaluation of the best interests of the
Company and our stockholders.

We cannot guarantee that any additional shares of Class A Common Stock will be repurchased under a new repurchase program or that it will
enhance long-term stockholder value. The timing and amount of any repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements. A new
repurchase program could affect the trading price of our securities and increase volatility, and any announcement of a pause in, or termination of, a
program may result in a decrease in the trading price of our securities. In addition, a new repurchase program could diminish our cash reserves.

There is no guarantee that the Warrants will ever be in the money, and they may expire worthless and the terms of our Warrants may be
amended.

The exercise price for our Warrants (other than the $15 Exercise Price Warrants) is $11.50 per share of Class A Common Stock, and the exercise
price of the $15 Exercise Price Warrants is $15.00 per share of Class A Common Stock. There is no guarantee that the Warrants will ever be in the
money prior to their expiration, and as such, the Warrants may expire worthless.

Our only significant asset is our ownership interest in OppFi-LLC and the ownership may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make
distributions or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our Class A Common Stock or satisfy our other financial obligations.

We have no direct operations and no significant assets other than our ownership interest in OppFi-LLC. We depend on OppFi-LLC for distributions,
loans and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet our financial obligations, including our expenses as a publicly traded company and to
pay any dividends with respect to our Class A Common Stock. The financial condition and operating requirements of OppFi-LLC may limit our ability to
obtain cash from OppFi-LLC. The earnings from, or other available assets of, OppFi-LLC may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make distributions or
loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our Class A Common Stock or satisfy our other financial obligations.

We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, restructuring and impairment or other charges that could negatively affect our
financial condition, results of operations and our stock price.

As a result of factors beyond our control, we may be forced to write-down or write-off assets, restructure our operations, or incur impairment or
other charges that could result in our reporting losses. Unexpected risks may arise and previously known risks may materialize. Even though these
charges may be non-cash items and not have an immediate impact on our liquidity, the fact that we report charges of this nature could contribute to
negative market perceptions about us or our securities.

The historical financial results of OppFi-LLC included in this Annual Report may not be indicative of what our actual financial position or
results of operations would have been.

The historical financial results of OppFi included in this Annual Report that include periods prior to the Business Combination do not necessarily
reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows we would have achieved as a combined company during the periods presented or those
that we will achieve in the future. This is primarily the result of the following factors: (i) we have incurred additional ongoing costs as a result of the
Business Combination, including costs related to public company reporting, investor relations and other compliance related costs; and (ii) our capital
structure is also different from that reflected in OppFi-LLC's historical financial statements. Our financial condition and future results of operations could
be materially different from amounts reflected in its historical financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, so it may be difficult for
investors to compare our future results to historical results or to evaluate our relative performance or trends in our business.

Our Certificate of Incorporation (“Charter”) includes a forum selection clause, which could discourage claims or limit stockholders’
ability to make a claim against us, our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders.
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The Charter includes a forum selection clause. The charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder (including a
beneficial owner) to bring any: (i) derivative action or proceeding; (ii) action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors,
officers or other employees to us or our stockholders; (iii) action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any
provision of the DGCL or the charter or bylaws; or (iv) action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or employees governed by the internal
affairs doctrine, except for, as to each of (i) through (iv) above, any claim (A) as to which the Court of Chancery determines that there is an indispensable
party not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of
Chancery within ten days following the determination), (B) that is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than the Court of Chancery,
(C) for which the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction, or (D) any action arising under the Securities Act as to which the Court of
Chancery and the federal district court for the District of Delaware shall have concurrent jurisdiction. Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under federal securities laws, including the Securities Act. Under the Securities Act, federal and state courts have
concurrent jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act, and stockholders cannot waive compliance with
the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a forum
selection provision as written in connection with claims arising under the Securities Act. This forum selection clause may also discourage claims or limit
stockholders’ ability to submit claims in a judicial forum that they find favorable and may result in additional costs for a stockholder seeking to bring a
claim. While we believe the risk of a court declining to enforce this forum selection clause is low, if a court were to determine the forum selection clause to
be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs in conjunction with our efforts to resolve the dispute in an alternative
jurisdiction, which could have a negative impact on our results of operations and financial condition. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the forum selection
clause will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal district courts of
the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum.

Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We will be subject to income taxes in the United States, and our domestic tax liabilities will be subject to the allocation of expenses in differing
jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

« changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;

« expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;
« tax effects of stock-based compensation;

« costs related to intercompany restructurings;

« changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations thereof; and

« lower than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated future earnings in
jurisdictions where we have higher statutory tax rates.

In addition, we may be subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by U.S. federal and state authorities. Outcomes from
these audits could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

A market for our securities may not continue, which would adversely affect the liquidity and price of our securities.

The price of our securities may fluctuate. An active trading market for our securities may never develop or, if developed, it may not be sustained. In
addition, the price of our securities can vary due to general economic conditions and forecasts, our general business condition and the release of our
financial reports. Additionally, if our securities become delisted from the NYSE for any reason, and are quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, an
inter-dealer automated quotation system for equity securities that is not a national securities exchange, the liquidity and price of our securities may be
more limited. You may be unable to sell your securities unless a market for such securities can be sustained.

The trading price of our securities could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our
control. Any of the factors listed below could have a material adverse effect on any investment in our securities which may trade at prices significantly
below the price you paid for them. In these circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.
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If an active market for our securities develops and continues, the trading price of our securities could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in
response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Any of the factors listed below could adversely effect on your investment in our
securities and our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for them. In these circumstances, the trading price of our securities
may not recover and may experience a further decline.

Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include:

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to us;
« changes in the market’s expectations about our operating results;

« the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;

« speculation in the press or investment community;

« success of competitors;

« our operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;

« changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning the post-combination company or the market in general;
« operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the post-combination company;

« our ability to market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;

« changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

* commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the post-combination company;

« changes in the post-combination company'’s capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

« the volume of shares of our Class A Common Stock available for public sale;

* any major change in our Board or management;

« sales of substantial amounts of Class A Common Stock by our directors, officers or significant stockholders or the perception that such sales
could occur; and

« general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, inflation, monetary policy changes, fuel prices, international currency
fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism.

Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating performance. The stock
market in general and the NYSE have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of the particular companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of our securities, may not be predictable. A loss
of investor confidence in the market for the stocks of other companies that investors perceive to be similar to us could depress our stock price regardless
of our business, prospects, financial conditions or results of operations. For example, the volatility resulting from the failures of SVB and Signature Bank
particularly impacted the price of securities issued by financial institutions and participants in the financial services industry generally, including ours. A
decline in the market price of our securities also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing
in the future.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of
litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources and could also require us to make substantial payments to
satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly and could fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors due
to seasonality and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, resulting in a decline in our stock price.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly because of several factors, including:
« profitability of our products, especially in new markets and due to seasonal fluctuations;

« changes in interest rates;
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« impairment of assets;

* macroeconomic conditions, including inflation and interest rate changes, both nationally and locally;
« negative publicity relating to our products;

« changes in consumer preferences and competitive conditions; and

* expansion to new markets.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us our business, or our market, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our Class A Common Stock adversely, then the price and trading volume of our securities could
decline.

The trading market for our securities will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our
business, our market, or our competitors. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on us. If no securities or
industry analysts commence coverage of us, our stock price and trading volume would likely be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who may cover
us change their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of
our securities would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

We may be unable to obtain additional financing to fund our operations and growth.

We may require additional financing to fund our operations or growth. We cannot assure you that such financing will be available on acceptable
terms, if at all. The failure to secure additional financing could adversely affect our continued development or growth. None of our officers, directors or
stockholders are required to provide any financing to us.

Changes in laws, regulations or rules, or a failure to comply with any laws, regulations or rules, may adversely affect our business.

We are subject to laws, regulations and rules enacted by national, regional and local governments and the NYSE. In particular, we are required to
comply with certain SEC, NYSE and other legal or regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws, regulations and rules
may be difficult, time consuming and costly. Those laws, regulations or rules and their interpretation and application may also change from time to time
and those changes could adversely affect our business, investments and results of operations. In addition, a failure to comply with applicable laws,
regulations or rules, as interpreted and applied, could adversely affect our business.

A recent ruling by the Court of Chancery in Delaware introduced uncertainty as to whether Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation
Law (the “DGCL") required a separate vote in favor of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock, in addition to a vote in
favor of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A and Class B Common Stock, voting together as a single class, to properly authorize an
increase or decrease in the aggregate number of authorized shares of such Class A Common Stock. At a special meeting of the stockholders of the
Company held on July 16, 2021 (the “Special Meeting”), a majority of the then-outstanding shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock, voting together as a single class, voted to approve the Company’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which,
among other things, increased the authorized capital stock from 401,000,000 shares, consisting of 380,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock,
20,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, to 501,000,000 shares, consisting of
500,000,000 shares of common stock, including (i) 379,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, (ii) 6,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock, and
(iii) 115,000,000 shares of Class V Voting Stock and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock by creating an additional 100,000,000 shares of common stock
(the “Capitalization Amendment”). Notwithstanding the fact that the proxy statement relating to the Special Meeting did not disclose that a separate vote
of the Class A Common Stock was required, a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock voted in favor of the Capitalization
Amendment. Accordingly, we do not believe that the Delaware ruling applies to us. However, if the Court of Chancery in Delaware were to determine that
this ruling does apply to us, this or any other failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations or rules, as interpreted and applied, could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations and, with respect to the Capitalization Amendment, require us to seek relief with the Delaware
Court of Chancery.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of NYSE rules and, as a result, are exempt from certain corporate governance
requirements.

So long as Schwartz Capital Group, LTHS Capital Group, or TGS Capital Group (f/k/a Todd Schwartz Capital Group), and any of their respective
permitted transferees (collectively, the “SCG Holders”) and their affiliates maintain holdings of more than 50% of the voting power of our capital stock, we
will be a “controlled company” within the meaning of NYSE
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corporate governance standards. Under these standards, a company need not comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including the
requirements that:

« a majority of our board of directors consist of “independent directors” as defined under NYSE rules;

« the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the
committee’s purpose and responsibilities;

» we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing
the committee’s purpose and responsibilities, or otherwise have director nominees selected by vote of a majority of the independent directors; and

« the requirement for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and compensation committees.

We have relied on certain of these exemptions. As a result, our board of directors would not be required to consist of a majority of independent
directors, and our compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance committee would not consist entirely of independent directors and
will not be subject to annual performance evaluations. If we are no longer eligible to rely on the controlled company exception, we will comply with all
applicable NYSE corporate governance requirements, but we will be able to rely on phase-in periods for certain of these requirements in accordance with
NYSE rules. Accordingly, our stockholders may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all NYSE
corporate governance requirements.

The SCG Holders and their affiliates will have significant influence or control and their interests may conflict with those of other
stockholders.

The SCG Holders and their affiliates collectively hold 83.0% of total voting power of all outstanding shares of Common Stock, voting together as a
single class. Additionally, the Company has entered into the Investor Rights Agreement, pursuant to which the SCG Holders’ Representative has the
right to nominate five directors to the Board.

The Investor Rights Agreement also provides that at each meeting at which directors are to be elected, the Company shall take such necessary
action to include in the slate of nominees recommended by the Board for election as directors (i) five directors chosen by the SCG Holders’
Representative as long as the SCG Holders have at least of 50% of the voting power entitled to vote in the election of directors, (ii) four directors chosen
by the SCG Holders’ Representative as long as the SCG Holders have at least of 40% of the voting power entitled to vote in the election of directors, (iii)
three directors chosen by the SCG Holders’ Representative as long as the SCG Holders have at least of 30% of the voting power entitled to vote in the
election of directors, (iv) three directors chosen by the SCG Holders’ Representative as long as the SCG Holders have at least of 30% of the voting power
entitled to vote in the election of directors, (v) two directors chosen by the SCG Holders’ Representative as long as the SCG Holders have at least of 20%
of the voting power entitled to vote in the election of directors and (vi) one director chosen by the SCG Holders’ Representative as long as the SCG
Holders have at least of 5% of the voting power entitled to vote in the election of directors.

As such, the SCG Holders and their affiliates will have significant influence over the election of the members of our Board and thereby may
significantly influence our policies and operations, including the appointment of management, future issuances of our Class A Common Stock or other
securities, the payment of dividends, if any, the incurrence or modification of debt, amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and the
entering into of extraordinary transactions, and the SCG Holders’ interests may not in all cases be aligned with those of other stockholders.

In the event of a conflict between our interests and the interests of the SCG Holders and their affiliates, we have adopted policies and procedures,
specifically a Code of Ethics and a Related Party Transactions Policy, to identify, review, consider and approve such conflicts of interest. In general, if an
affiliate of a director, executive officer or significant stockholder, including the SCG Holders and their affiliates, intends to engage in a transaction
involving us, that director, executive officer or significant stockholder must report the transaction for consideration and approval by our audit committee.
However, there are no assurances that our efforts and policies to eliminate the potential impacts of conflicts of interest will be effective.

We may amend the terms of the Warrants in a manner that may be adverse to holders of Public Warrants with the approval by the
holders of at least 50% of the then-outstanding Warrants. As a result, the exercise price of your Warrants could be increased, the exercise
period could be shortened and the number of shares of our Class A Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of a Warrant could be
decreased, all without your approval.

Our Warrants have been issued under a Warrant Agreement between the Warrant Agent, and us. The Warrant Agreement provides that the terms
of the Warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision, but requires the approval by
the holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding Public Warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the registered holders of
Public Warrants. Accordingly, we may amend the
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terms of the Public Warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding Public Warrants approve of such
amendment. Although our ability to amend the terms of the Public Warrants with the consent of at least 50% of the then outstanding Public Warrants is
unlimited, examples of such amendments could be amendments to, among other things, increase the exercise price of the Warrants, convert the
Warrants into cash or stock (at a ratio different than initially provided), shorten the exercise period or decrease the number of shares of Class A Common
Stock purchasable upon exercise of a Warrant.

We may redeem unexpired Public Warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to the holders of outstanding Public
Warrants, thereby making the Public Warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding Public Warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a price of
$0.01 per Public Warrant, provided that the last reported sales price of our Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for
stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third
trading day prior to the date on which we give proper notice of redemption and provided certain other conditions are met. If and when the Public Warrants
become redeemable by us, we may not exercise our redemption right if the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock upon exercise of the Public
Warrants is not exempt from registration or qualification under applicable state blue sky laws or we are unable to effect registration or qualification. We
will use our best efforts to register or qualify the shares of Class A Common Stock under the blue-sky laws of the state of residence in those states in
which the Public Warrants were offered by us in the IPO. Redemption of the outstanding Public Warrants could force the holders of outstanding Public
Warrants to (i) exercise their Public Warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous to do so, (ii) sell their Public
Warrants at the then-current market price when they might otherwise wish to hold Public Warrants or (iii) accept the nominal redemption price which, at
the time the outstanding Public Warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be substantially less than the market value of your Public Warrants. None
of the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by us so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees, or the Underwriters and
their permitted transferees, respectively.

Warrants are exercisable for our Class A Common Stock, which would increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the
public market and result in dilution to our stockholders.

We have outstanding (i) Public Warrants to purchase 11,887,500 shares of Class A Common Stock, (ii) Private Placement Unit Warrants to
purchase 231,250 shares of Class A Common Stock, (iii) Underwriter Warrants to purchase 59,437 shares of Class A Common Stock, (iv) Founder
Warrants to purchase 2,248,750 shares of Class A Common Stock, and (v) $15 Exercise Price Warrants to purchase 912,500 shares of Class A Common
Stock. The shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of our Warrants will result in dilution to the then existing holders of Class A Common
Stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of shares Class A Common Stock in the
public market could adversely affect the market price of our Class A Common Stock.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in the Charter and Amended and Restated Bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could
impair a takeover attempt.

The Charter contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their best interests.
These provisions provide, among other things, that the Company shall not engage in any business combination (as such term is defined in the Charter),
at any point in time at which the Class A Common Stock is registered under Section 12(b) or 12(g) of the Exchange Act, with any interested stockholder
(which, as defined in the Charter, shall not include SCG or any of its affiliates, or any person that acquires (other than in a registered public offering)
directly from SCG or any of its successors, any “group”, or any member of any such group, of which such persons are a member of under Rule 13d-5 of
the Exchange Act beneficial ownership of fifteen percent (15%) or more of the then outstanding voting stock of the Company) for a period of three years
following the time that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless: (i) prior to such time, the Board approved either the business
combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder; or (ii) upon consummation of the transaction that
resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the Company
outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting
stock owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned by (A) persons who are directors and also officers of the Company and (B) employee
stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a
tender or exchange offer; (iii) at or subsequent to such time, the applicable business combination is approved by the Board and authorized at an annual
or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock of the Company
that is not owned by the interested stockholder; or (iv) the stockholder became an interested stockholder inadvertently and (A) as soon as practicable
divested itself of ownership of sufficient shares so that the stockholder ceased to be an interested stockholder and (B) was not, at any time within the
three-year period immediately prior to a business combination between the Company and such stockholder, an interested stockholder but for the
inadvertent acquisition of ownership, which provision of the Charter may
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only be amended by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of all then outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company.

Together these provisions may make more difficult the removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve
payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our securities.

We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from
disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it
more difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

We are an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of
certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including,
but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor internal controls attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act,
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As
a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We could be an emerging growth company for up to five
years, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the market value of our Class A Common Stock held by non-affiliates
exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, in which case we would no longer be an emerging growth company as of the following
December 31. We cannot predict whether investors will find our securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find
our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be lower than they otherwise would
be, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the trading prices of our securities may be more volatile.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial
accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a
class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act
provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth
companies but any such an election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a
standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the
new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with
another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Additionally, we are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may take advantage
of certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements. We will remain a smaller
reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in which (1) the market value of our Common Stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $250 million as of
the prior June 30th, and (2) our annual revenues exceeded $100 million during such completed fiscal year and the market value of our Common Stock
held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th. To the extent we take advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, it may also
make comparison of our financial statements with other public companies difficult or impossible.

Our only principal asset is our interest in OppFi-LLC, and accordingly we depend on distributions from OppFi-LLC to pay distributions,
taxes, other expenses, and make any payments required to be made by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our ownership of the OppFi-LLC Units. We are not expected to have
independent means of generating revenue or cash flow, and our ability to pay our taxes, operating expenses, and pay any dividends in the future, if any,
will be dependent upon the financial results and cash flows of OppFi-LLC. There can be no assurance that OppFi-LLC will generate sufficient cash flow to
distribute funds to us or that applicable state law and contractual restrictions, including negative covenants under debt instruments, will permit such
distributions. If OppFi-LLC does not distribute sufficient funds to us to pay our taxes or other liabilities, we may default on contractual obligations or have
to borrow additional funds. In the event that we are required to borrow additional funds it could adversely affect our liquidity and subject us to additional
restrictions imposed by lenders.

OppFi-LLC will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to any
entity- level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, to the holders of OppFi-LLC Units.
Accordingly, we are required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on our allocable share of the net taxable income of OppFi-LLC. Under the terms of the
OppFi-LLC A&R LLCA, OppFi-LLC is obligated to
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make tax distributions to holders of OppFi-LLC Units (including us) calculated at certain assumed rates. In addition to tax expenses, we will also incur
expenses related to our operations, including our payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which could be significant and some of
which will be reimbursed by OppFi-LLC (excluding payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement). We intend to cause OppFi-LLC to make
ordinary distributions and tax distributions to the holders of OppFi-LLC Units on a pro rata basis in amounts sufficient to cover all applicable taxes,
relevant operating expenses, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and dividends, if any, declared by us. However, as discussed below,
OppFi-LLC’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restrictions, including, but not limited to, retention of amounts
necessary to satisfy the obligations of OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries and restrictions on distributions that would violate any applicable restrictions
contained in OppFi-LLC’s debt agreements, or any applicable law, or that would have the effect of rendering OppFi-LLC insolvent. To the extent we are
unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid,
provided, however, that nonpayment for a specified period and/or under certain circumstances may constitute a material breach of a material obligation
under the Tax Receivable Agreement and therefore accelerate payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which could be substantial.

Additionally, although OppFi-LLC generally will not be subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax, it may be liable under certain federal
income tax legislation for adjustments to its tax return, absent an election to the contrary. In the event OppFi-LLC’s calculations of taxable income are
incorrect, OppFi-LLC and/or its members, including us, in later years may be subject to material liabilities pursuant to this federal income tax legislation
and its related guidance.

We anticipate that the distributions we receive from OppFi-LLC may, in certain periods, exceed our actual liabilities and our obligations to make
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The Board, in its sole discretion (and in compliance with our credit facilities), will make any
determination from time to time with respect to the use of any such excess cash so accumulated, which may include, among other uses, to pay dividends
on our Class A Common Stock. We will have no obligation to distribute such cash (or other available cash other than any declared dividend) to our
stockholders. We may, if necessary, undertake ameliorative actions, which may include pro rata or non-pro rata reclassifications, combinations,
subdivisions or adjustments of outstanding OppFi-LLC Units, to maintain one-for-one parity between OppFi-LLC Units held by us and shares of our Class
A Common Stock.

Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we are required to pay to the Members and/or the exchanging holders of Retained OppFi-
LLC Units, as applicable, 90% of the net income tax savings that we realize as a result of increases in tax basis in our assets related to the
Business Combination and the future exchange of the Retained OppFi-LLC Units for shares of Class A Common Stock (or cash) pursuant to
the OppFi-LLC A&R LLCA and tax benefits related to entering into the Tax Receivable Agreement, including tax benefits attributable to
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and those payments may be substantial.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Members were deemed for U.S. federal (and applicable state and local) income tax purposes to
have sold to us OppFi-LLC Units and may in the future exchange their OppFi-LLC Units, together with the cancelation of an equal number of shares of
Class V Voting Stock, for shares of our Class A Common Stock (or cash) pursuant to the OppFi-LLC A&R LLCA, subject to certain conditions and transfer
restrictions as set forth therein and in the Investor Rights Agreement. These sales and exchanges are expected to result in increases in our allocable
share of the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of OppFi-LLC. These increases in tax basis may increase (for income tax purposes)
depreciation and amortization deductions allocable to us and therefore reduce the amount of income or franchise tax that we would otherwise be required
to pay in the future had such sales and exchanges never occurred.

We have entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement, which generally provides for the payment by us of 90% of certain net tax benefits, if any, that
we realize (or in certain cases are deemed to realize) as a result of these increases in tax basis and tax benefits related to the transactions contemplated
under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi-LLC Units for Class A Common Stock (or cash) pursuant to the OppFi-
LLC A&R LLCA and tax benefits related to entering into the Tax Receivable Agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement. These payments are our obligation and not of OppFi-LLC. The actual increase in our allocable share of OppFi-LLC's tax basis in
its assets, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors,
including the timing of exchanges, the market price of the Class A Common Stock at the time of the exchange and the amount and timing of the
recognition of our income. While many of the factors that will determine the amount of payments that we will make under the Tax Receivable Agreement
are outside of our control, we expect that the payments we will make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be substantial and could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition.

Any payments we make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been
available to us. To the extent that we are unable to make timely payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts will
be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; however, nonpayment for a
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specified period and/or under certain circumstances may constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax Receivable Agreement and
therefore accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement, as further described below. Furthermore, our future obligation to make
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an acquirer that
cannot use some or all of the tax benefits that may be deemed realized under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Increases in our income tax rates, changes in income tax laws or disagreements with tax authorities can adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Increases in our income tax rates or other changes in income tax laws in the United States or any particular jurisdiction in which we operate could
reduce our after-tax income from such jurisdiction and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Existing tax laws in the
United States have been and could in the future be subject to significant change. For example, in December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”")
was signed into law in the United States which provided for significant changes to then-existing tax laws and subsequent legislation (such as the
enactment of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act in March 2020) modifying certain TCJA provisions and additional guidance issued
by the IRS pursuant to the TCJA may continue to impact us in future periods. Additional changes in the U.S. tax regime, including changes in how
existing tax laws are interpreted or enforced, can adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We will also be subject to regular reviews, examinations and audits by the IRS and other taxing authorities with respect to income and non-income-
based taxes. Economic and political pressures to increase tax revenues in jurisdictions in which we operate, or the adoption of new or reformed tax
legislation or regulation, may make resolving tax disputes more difficult and the final resolution of tax audits and any related litigation can differ from our
historical provisions and accruals, resulting in an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Tax Risks Related to Our Tax Structure and Taxes

Although we may be entitled to tax benefits relating to additional tax depreciation or amortization deductions as a result of the tax basis
step-up we receive in connection with the exchanges of Retained OppFi-LLC Units into our Class A Common Stock and related transactions,
we are required to pay the Members 90% of these tax benefits under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 66.4 million Initial Shares may be exchanged for shares of our Class A Common Stock by the Members
pursuant to the Members’ Exchange Rights, and may be sold without any contractual restriction by the Members. Pursuant to the lock-up restrictions
agreed to into in connection with the Investor Rights Agreement, beginning on the nine month anniversary of the Closing (unless earlier waived by the
Company in its capacity as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC), or with respect to the Earnout Units, on such later date the Earnout Units are earned in
accordance with the Business Combination Agreement, each Retained OppFi-LLC Unit (other than the Initial Shares) held by the Members may be
exchanged, upon the exercise of such Members’ Exchange Rights, for either one share of Class A Common Stock or, at the election of the Company in
its capacity as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC, the cash equivalent of the market value of one share of Class A Common Stock, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the OppFi-LLC A&R LLCA. The deemed exchanges in the business combination and any exchanges pursuant to the OppFi-LLC A&R
LLCA, are expected to result in increases in our allocable share of the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of OppFi-LLC. These increases in
tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization deductions and therefore reduce the amount of income or franchise tax that we
would otherwise be required to pay in the future, although the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or any applicable foreign, state or local tax authority may
challenge all or part of that tax basis increase, and a court could sustain such a challenge.

At the Closing, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement, which generally provides for the payment by us to holders of Retained OppFi-LLC
Units of 90% of certain tax benefits, if any, that we realize as a result of these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to entering
into the Tax Receivable Agreement, including income or franchise tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. These
payment obligations pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement are the obligation of the Company and not of OppFi-LLC. The actual increase in our
allocable share of OppFi-LLC's tax basis in its assets, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary
depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the market price of shares of our Class A Common Stock at the time of the
exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of our income. Because none of the foregoing factors are known at
this time, we cannot determine the amounts (if any) that would be payable under the Tax Receivable Agreement. However, we expect that as a result of
the possible size and frequency of the exchanges and the resulting increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of OppFi-LLC, the
payments that we expect to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be substantial and could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition. The payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership of the Company by the holders of units.
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The Members will not be required to reimburse us for any excess payments that may previously have been made under the Tax Receivable
Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from examinations by taxing authorities. Rather, excess payments made to such holders will be
netted against payments otherwise to be made, if any, after the determination of such excess. As a result, in certain circumstances we could make
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual income or franchise tax savings, which could materially impair our financial
condition.

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated or significantly exceed the actual benefits we
realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that we determine, and the IRS or another taxing
authority may challenge all or any part of the tax basis increases, as well as other tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In
the event that any tax benefits initially claimed by us are disallowed, the Members and the exchanging holders will not be required to reimburse us for any
excess payments that may previously have been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from
examinations by the IRS or other taxing authorities. Rather, excess payments made to such holders will be applied against and reduce any future cash
payments otherwise required to be made by us, if any, after the determination of such excess. However, a challenge to any tax benefits initially claimed
by us may not arise for a number of years following the initial time of such payment and, even if challenged earlier, such excess cash payment may be
greater than the amount of future cash payments that we might otherwise be required to make under the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreement and, as
a result, there might not be future cash payments against which such excess can be applied. As a result, in certain circumstances we could make
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual income or franchise tax savings, which could materially impair our financial
condition.

Moreover, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in the event that we exercise our right to early termination of the Tax Receivable
Agreement, or in the event of a change of control of the Company or we are more than 90 days late in making of a payment due under the Tax
Receivable Agreement, the Tax Receivable Agreement will terminate, and we are required to make a lump-sum payment to the Members equal to the
present value of all forecasted future payments that would have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which lump-sum payment
would be based on certain assumptions, including those relating to our future taxable income. The change of control payment to the Members could be
substantial and could exceed the actual tax benefits that we receive as a result of acquiring units from owners of OppFi-LLC because the amounts of such
payments would be calculated assuming that we would have been able to use the potential tax benefits each year for the remainder of the amortization
periods applicable to the basis increases, and that tax rates applicable to us would be the same as they were in the year of the termination.

Decisions made in the course of running our business, such as with respect to mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other
changes in control, may influence the timing and amount of payments that are received by the other holders of Retained OppFi-LLC Units under the Tax
Receivable Agreement. For example, the earlier disposition of assets following an exchange or acquisition transaction will generally accelerate payments
under the Tax Receivable Agreement and increase the present value of such payments, and the disposition of assets before an exchange or acquisition
transaction will increase an existing owner’s tax liability without giving rise to any rights of holders of Retained OppFi-LLC Units to receive payments
under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed the actual income or
franchise tax savings that we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement or if distributions to us by OppFi-LLC are not
sufficient to permit us to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement after we have paid taxes and other expenses. Furthermore, our
obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an
acquirer that cannot use some or all of the tax benefits that are deemed realized under the Tax Receivable Agreement. We may need to incur additional
indebtedness to finance payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement to the extent our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under
the Tax Receivable Agreement as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

We may not be able to realize all or a portion of the tax benefits that are expected to result from the acquisition of Retained OppFi-LLC
Units from OppFi-LLC Members.

Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement, the Company will share tax savings resulting from (A) the amortization of the anticipated step-up in tax
basis in OppFi-LLC’s assets as a result of (i) the business combination and (ii) the exchange of Retained OppFi-LLC Units that were received in
connection with the Business Combination, for shares of Class A Stock pursuant to the OppFi-LLC A&R LLCA and (B) certain other related transactions
with the Members. The amount of any such tax savings attributable to the payment of cash to the Members in the business combination and the
exchanges contemplated by the Exchange Agreement will be paid 90% to the Members and retained 10% by the Company. Any such amounts payable
will only be due once the relevant tax savings have been realized by the Company. Our ability to realize, and benefit from, these tax

65



Table of Contents

savings depends on a number of assumptions, including that we will earn sufficient taxable income each year during the period over which the
deductions arising from any such basis increases and payments are available and that there are no adverse changes in applicable law or regulations. If
our actual taxable income were insufficient to fully utilize such tax benefits or there were adverse changes in applicable law or regulations, we may be
unable to realize all or a portion of these expected benefits and our cash flows and stockholders’ equity could be negatively affected.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use, gross receipts,
value added or similar taxes and may successfully impose additional obligations on us, and any such assessments or obligations could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The application of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, value-added tax, goods and services tax, business tax and gross receipts tax, to
platform businesses is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutes and regulations that impose these taxes were established before
the adoption and growth of the Internet and e-commerce. Significant judgment is required on an ongoing basis to evaluate applicable tax obligations and
as a result amounts recorded are estimates and are subject to adjustments. In many cases, the ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is not
clear how new and existing statutes might apply to our business.

In addition, governments are increasingly looking for ways to increase revenue, which has resulted in discussions about tax reform and other
legislative action to increase tax revenue, including through indirect taxes. For example, on November 6, 2018, voters in San Francisco approved
“Proposition C,” which authorizes San Francisco to impose additional taxes on businesses in San Francisco that generate a certain level of gross
receipts, and in January 2022, the California assembly introduced legislation proposing a statewide tax on business that generate gross receipts of over
$2 million. Such taxes would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We may face various indirect tax audits in various U.S. jurisdictions. In certain jurisdictions, we collect and remit indirect taxes. However, tax
authorities may raise questions about or challenge or disagree with our calculation, reporting or collection of taxes and may require us to collect taxes in
jurisdictions in which we do not currently do so or to remit additional taxes and interest, and could impose associated penalties and fees. For example,
after the U.S. Supreme Court decision in South Dakota v. Wayfair Inc., certain states have adopted, or started to enforce, laws that may require the
calculation, collection and remittance of taxes on sales in their jurisdictions, even if we do not have a physical presence in such jurisdictions. A successful
assertion by one or more tax authorities requiring us to collect taxes in jurisdictions in which we do not currently do so or to collect additional taxes in a
jurisdiction in which we currently collect taxes, could result in substantial tax liabilities, including taxes on past sales, as well as penalties and interest,
could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Although we have reserved for potential payments of possible past tax liabilities in
our financial statements, if these liabilities exceed such reserves, our financial condition will be harmed.

As a result of these and other factors, the ultimate amount of tax obligations owed may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements
and any such difference may adversely impact our results of operations in future periods in which we change our estimates of our tax obligations or in
which the ultimate tax outcome is determined.

Changes in U.S. tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act contains significant changes to U.S. tax law, including a reduction in the corporate tax rate and a
transition to a new territorial system of taxation. The primary impact of the new legislation on our provision for income taxes was a reduction of the future
tax benefits of our deferred tax assets as a result of the reduction in the corporate tax rate. The impact of the Tax Act will likely be subject to ongoing
technical guidance and accounting interpretation, which we will continue to monitor and assess. As we expand the scale of our business activities, any
changes in the U.S. taxation of such activities may increase our effective tax rate and harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We confront substantial cybersecurity risks driven by various factors. These risks are rooted in the wide range of systems we must safeguard against
cyberattacks, further exacerbated by the complexity and technical sophistication of our products and systems. Additionally, our reliance on third-party
products, services, and components adds complexity to our risk landscape.

In response, we have adopted a cybersecurity program to manage cybersecurity risks, prioritizing the protection of data entrusted to us by our customers
and other stakeholders. We employ various mechanisms, controls, technologies, and processes aimed at assessing, identifying, and managing these
risks.

Our cybersecurity program is rooted in industry best practices, drawing upon frameworks established by the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (“NIST"), the International Organization for Standardization, and other relevant industry standards. This does not mean that we meet any
particular technical standards, specifications, or requirements, but only that we use these standards as a guide to help us design and assess our program.

Our policies, standards, processes, and practices for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into
our overall risk management program. Regular cybersecurity risk assessments are conducted, leveraging both internal and external sources of
information to drive alignment on initiatives aimed at enhancing security controls. We maintain a cybersecurity incident response plan that identifies the
activities and escalation processes to be implemented upon detection of a cybersecurity incident, and we regularly test and evaluate the effectiveness of
such plan.

Technical safeguards undergo periodic assessment and enhancement designed to protect information systems from cybersecurity threats, utilizing
vulnerability assessments, threat intelligence, and incident response experience. Our policies also mandate that our employees contribute to our security
efforts. We regularly remind our employees of the importance of handling and protecting customer and employee data through quarterly security training
and testing, aimed at enhancing employee awareness and improving their ability to detect and respond to cybersecurity threats.

Additionally, controls have been implemented that are designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third-party service
providers. Certain providers undergo security risk assessments upon onboarding and upon detection of an increase in their risk profile. Our risk
assessments utilize various inputs, including information supplied by the providers and third parties. Furthermore, we mandate that our providers meet
appropriate security requirements, controls, and responsibilities. We also investigate security incidents impacting our third-party providers as necessary.

Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are regularly assessed by external consultants and auditors. These assessments include
a variety of activities including information security maturity assessments, audits and independent reviews of our information security control environment
and operating effectiveness. For example, for the last three years, we conducted an independent cyber security risk assessment to assess our
cybersecurity maturity against the NIST cybersecurity framework. The results of significant assessments are reported to management and our Audit
Committee. Cybersecurity processes are adjusted based on the information provided from these assessments.

For more information on our cybersecurity risks that may materially affect us, please refer to the section titled “Risk Factors — Security breaches of
borrowers’ confidential information that we store may harm our reputation, adversely affect our results of operations and expose us to liability — and — If
our risk management framework does not effectively identify and control our risks, we could suffer unexpected losses or be adversely affected, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business.” While to date we have not identified any breaches from known cybersecurity threats, including as
a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy,
results of operations, or financial condition, the sophistication of cybersecurity threats continues to increase, and the preventative actions we take to
reduce the risk of cybersecurity incidents and protect our systems and information may be insufficient. Accordingly, no matter how well our program is
designed or implemented, we will not be able to anticipate all security breaches, and we may not be able to implement effective preventive measures
against such security breaches in a timely manner, which could result in substantial expenses and reputational damage.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board of Directors and management are actively involved in the oversight of our risk management program, with cybersecurity representing a critical
component to ensure alignment with our strategic objectives. The Audit Committee directly

67



Table of Contents

oversee and regularly review our cybersecurity program, receiving periodic reports from our Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”) on various
matters including risk assessment results, progress of risk reduction initiatives, feedback from external auditors, control maturity assessments, and
relevant internal and industry cybersecurity incidents.

While our Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the oversight of our enterprise-wide risk management, of which cybersecurity risk management
is one component, our management team is responsible for day-to-day risk management, including the implementation of our cybersecurity program. We
have established an information security council (the “Information Security Council”), with full participation from our senior management team, to serve as
the steward of our information security program. Designed to meet quarterly or more frequently as needed, the council reviews security performance
metrics, stays abreast of industry trends and regulatory changes, and evaluates progress on security initiatives. The council plays a crucial role in
promoting a culture of security awareness and ensuring OppFi remains resilient against evolving cyber threats.

Our corporate information security organization manages and continually enhances a robust enterprise security structure with the goal of averting
cybersecurity incidents while increasing our system resilience to minimize the business impact should an incident occur. Led by our CISO, who reports to
the Chief Technology Officer (“CTQ"), our corporate information security organization is composed of seasoned professionals, some holding certifications
such as Certified Information Systems Security Professional or Certified Information Security Manager. Our CTO has served in various leadership roles
in information technology for over 20 years, including a nine-year tenure as the Chief Technology Officer at a fintech company. He holds a bachelor's
degree in computer engineering and a master's degree in information systems. Our CISO, with over 20 years of leadership experience in IT and security,
was a CISO at a financial services company before joining OppFi. She has an MBA and a master's degree in Computer Information Systems and is a
Certified Information Security Manager (CISM). Additionally, both the CISO and CTO are members of the Information Security Council, providing regular
updates to our senior management team regarding our cybersecurity program, mitigation strategy, and progress.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

OppFi's corporate headquarters is located in Chicago, lllinois and consists of approximately 79,928 square feet under a lease that expires in 2030. We
sublease 10,481 square feet to a subtenant under a three-year lease that expires on August 31, 2025. OppFi believes that its facilities are adequate for
its current needs and that, if necessary, additional facilities will be available to accommodate the expansion of its business. We do not own any real
property.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See “Legal contingencies” of Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PARTII

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Stockholders

The Company’s Class A Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “OPFL.” As of March 22, 2024, there were 32
stockholders of record of our Class A Common Stock and 1 stockholder of record of our Class V Voting Stock. In addition to holders of record of our Class
A Common Stock, we believe there is a substantially greater number of “street name” holders or beneficial holders whose Class A Common Stock is held
of record by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our common stock, and do not currently have any plans to declare or pay any dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future. The declaration of cash dividends in the future is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will
depend on a number of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, and other relevant
factors.

Stock Performance Graph
As a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and pursuant to Instruction 6 to Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K, we are
not required to provide this information.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On January 6, 2022, OppFi announced that its Board of Directors (“Board”) had authorized the Repurchase Program. The Repurchase Program expired
in December 2023. There was no repurchase activity during the fourth quarter of 2023.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information relating to equity compensation plans will be set forth in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is
incorporated herein by reference. The Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION

OVERVIEW

OppFi is a tech-enabled, mission-driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit access to everyday
Americans. The Company'’s platform powers banks to offer accessible lending products through its proprietary technology and top-rated customer
experience. OppFi's primary mission is to facilitate financial inclusion and credit access to the 63 million everyday Americans who are credit marginalized
with digital specialty finance products and an unwavering commitment to its customers.

OppFi works with banks to facilitate short-term credit options for everyday Americans who lack access to mainstream financial products. OppFi's specialty
finance platform focuses on helping these consumers rebuild their financial health. Customers on OppFi’s platform benefit from a highly automated,
transparent, efficient, and fully digital experience. The banks that work with OppFi benefit from its turn-key, outsourced marketing, data science, and
proprietary technology to digitally acquire, underwrite and service these consumers.

69



Table of Contents

OppFi's primary products are offered by its OppLoans platform. Customers on this platform are U.S. consumers, who are employed, have bank accounts,
and generally earn median wages. The average installment loan facilitated by OppFi is approximately $1,500, payable in installments and with an
average contractual term of 11 months. Neither SalaryTap nor OppFi Card contributed meaningfully to OppFi’'s results during the year ended December
31, 2023.

On the Closing Date, OppFi completed the Business Combination. At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi's Class A Common
Stock and Public Warrants are listed on the NYSE under the symbols “OPFI” and “OPFI WS,” respectively.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to “OppFi” or the “Company” refer OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries prior to the Closing,
or to OppFi Inc. and its subsidiaries from and after the Closing. See Item 1. “Business” for more information.

HIGHLIGHTS

Our financial results as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 are summarized below:

* Basic and diluted loss per share of $0.06 and $0.06 for the year ended December 31, 2023, respectively;

* Adjusted earnings per share (“Adjusted EPS”) @ of $0.51 for the year ended December 31, 2023;

* Ending receivables increased 4% to $416.5 million from $402.2 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively;

* Total revenue increased 12% to $508.9 million from $452.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively;

* Netincome of $39.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $36.1 million from $3.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022; and

* Adjusted net income (“Adjusted Net Income”) @ of $43.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $38.4 million from $5.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

@ Adjusted EPS and Adjusted Net Income are not prepared in accordance with the United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).
For information regarding our uses and definitions of these measures and for reconciliations to the most directly comparable United States GAAP

measures, see the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

Key Performance Metrics

We regularly review the following key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate
financial projections, and make strategic decisions, which may also be useful to an investor. The following tables and related discussion set forth key
financial and operating metrics for the Company’s operations as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The key performance metrics presented are for the OppLoans product only and exclude the SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Prior period metrics
currently presented may differ slightly than previously reported due to the exclusion of SalaryTap and OppFi Card.

Total Net Originations

We measure originations to assess the growth trajectory and overall size of our loan portfolio. There is a direct correlation between origination growth and
revenue growth. We include both bank partner originations as well as those originated by us directly. OppFi ended its direct lending program during 2023
and exclusively utilizes a bank partner model, as of December 31, 2023. Loans are considered to be originated when the contract is signed between us
and the prospective borrower. The vast majority of our originations ultimately disburse to a borrower, but disbursement timing lags that of originations.
Originations may be useful to an investor because they help understand the growth trajectory of our revenues.

The following table presents total net originations (defined as gross originations net of transferred balance on refinanced loans), percentage of net
originations by bank partners, and percentage of net originations by new loans for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %
Total net originations $ 747,839 $ 752,918 $ (5,079) (0.7) %
Percentage of net originations by bank partners 97.7 % 94.6 % N/A 33 %
Percentage of net originations by new loans 43.6 % 51.2 % N/A (14.8) %

Net originations decreased to $747.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $752.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Despite
greater application volume, the 0.7% decrease was driven by relatively tighter credit standards with the qualified rate (defined as qualified applications
over total applications) dropping year over year.

Total net originations by our bank partners increased to 97.7% for the year ended December 31, 2023 from 94.6% for the year ended December 31,
2022. The 3.3% increase is due to our origination mix continuing to shift towards a servicing / facilitation model for bank partners from a direct origination
model.

Total net originations of new loans as percentage of total loans decreased to 43.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023 from 51.2% for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The decrease is a result of credit adjustments midway through 2022 causing a lower qualified rate on new loans as well as
marketing campaigns targeting email engagement rates in the refinance population.

Ending Receivables

Ending receivables are defined as the unpaid principal balances of loans at the end of the reporting period. The following table presents ending
receivables as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

As of December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %
Ending receivables $ 416,463 $ 402,180 $ 14,283 3.6 %

Ending receivables increased to $416.5 million as of December 31, 2023 from $402.2 million as of December 31, 2022. The 3.6% increase was primarily
driven by a higher receivables balance to begin the year in 2023 relative to 2022 as well as a healthier portfolio leading to less charge-offs year over year.

Average Yield

Average yield represents interest income from the period as a percent of average receivables. Receivables are defined as the unpaid principal balances
of loans. The following table presents average yield for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 %
Average yield 127.3 % 120.0 % 6.1 %

Average yield increased to 127.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023 from 120.0% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The 6.1% increase was
driven by a decrease in delinquent loans in the portfolio that were not accruing interest and a decrease in enrollment in our hardship and assistance
programs, which provide payment relief due to natural disasters, loss of income, increase in expenses, or other unpredictable events such as COVID-19,
as well as a relative shift away from states with lower interest rates.

Net Charge-Offs as a Percentage of Average Receivables

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables represents total charge-offs from the period less recoveries as a percent of average receivables.
Receivables are defined as the unpaid principal balances of loans. Our charge-off policy is based on a review of delinquent finance receivables on a loan
by loan basis. Finance receivables are charged off at the earlier of the time
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when accounts reach 90 days past due on a recency basis, when we receive notification of a customer bankruptcy, or when finance receivables are
otherwise deemed uncollectible.

The following table presents net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 %
Net charge-offs as % of average receivables 55.4 % 61.9 % (10.5) %

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables decreased by 10.5% to 55.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023 from 61.9% for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2023 is a combination of the lower quality loans originated prior to credit
adjustments midway through 2022 having charged off and higher quality loans being originated following the credit adjustments.

Auto-Approval Rate

Auto-approval rate is calculated by taking the number of approved loans that are not decisioned by a loan advocate or underwriter (auto-approval)
divided by the total number of loans approved. The following table presents auto approval rate for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 %
Auto-approval rate 719 % 65.3 % 10.1 %

Auto-approval rate increased by 10.1% for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 71.9% from 65.3% for the year ended December 31, 2022, driven by
the continued application of algorithmic automation projects that streamline frictional steps of the origination process.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except number of

shares and per share data).

Interest and loan related income
Other revenue
Total revenue
Change in fair value of finance receivables
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables
Net revenue
Expenses:
Sales and marketing
Customer operations
Technology, products, and analytics
General, administrative, and other
Total expenses before interest expense
Interest expense
Total expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Other income
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc.

(Loss) earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:
(Loss) earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Total Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %
505,430 $ 451,448 53,982 12.0 %
3,519 1,411 2,108 149.4
508,949 452,859 56,090 12.4
(231,419) (233,959) 2,540 (1.1)
(4,348) (1,940) (2,408) 124.1
273,182 216,960 56,222 25.9
46,222 54,407 (8,185) (15.0)
41,559 42,314 (755) (1.8)
39,161 33,439 5,722 17.1
53,135 57,980 (4,845) (8.4)
180,077 188,140 (8,063) (4.3)
46,750 35,162 11,588 33.0
226,827 223,302 3,525 1.6
46,355 (6,342) 52,697 830.9
(4,976) 9,352 (14,328) (153.2)
431 53 378 713.2
41,810 3,063 38,747 1265.0
2,331 (277) 2,608 941.5
39,479 3,340 36,139 1082.0
40,484 (3,758) 44,242 1177.3
(1,005) $ 7,098 (8,103) (114.2) %
(0.06) $ 0.51
(0.06) $ 0.05
16,391,199 13,913,626
16,391,199 84,256,084

Total revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from interest on receivables from outstanding loans based on the interest method. We also earn
revenue from referral fees related primarily to our turn-up program, which represented 0.3% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Total revenue increased by $56.1 million, or 12.4%, to $508.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $452.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The increase was due to higher average receivables balances throughout the year as well as stronger payment activity driving a
higher yield on the balances.

Change in Fair Value and Provision for Credit Losses on Finance Receivables

Commencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair value, we generally utilize
discounted cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and
prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future
performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that we believe a market participant would require based on the risk characteristics
of the loans. We did not elect the fair value option on our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables, which are carried at amortized cost, net of
allowance for credit losses.

Change in fair value consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the
fair value on the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled $231.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was comprised of
$220.9 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $10.5 million, down from $234.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
which was comprised of $232.3 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $1.7 million. The fair value mark decreased primarily due
to an increase in the default rate, partially offset by an increase in the weighted average interest rate of the portfolio.

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of recoveries, plus the change in allowance for
credit losses for our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Provision for credit losses on finance receivables increased by $2.4 million to $4.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, from $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Provision for credit losses on finance receivables for the
year ended December 31, 2023 increased due to higher charge-offs throughout the year, particularly due to the OppFi Card portfolio.

Net Revenue

Net revenue is equal to total revenue less the change in fair value and total provision costs. Total net revenue increased by $56.2 million, or 25.9%, to
$273.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $217.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was mainly due to the
increase in total revenue.

Expenses

Expenses include costs related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales and marketing, customer
operations, technology, products, and analytics, and general, administrative, and other expenses.

Expenses increased by $3.5 million, or 1.6%, to $226.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $223.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The increase in expenses was primarily related to elevated interest expense as a result of increased debt draws to support higher
receivables balances and a rising interest rate environment and higher professional fees related to accounting, legal, and staffing matters. The increase
was partially offset by lower direct marketing costs resulting from lower total originations as well as a relative shift in originations towards lower-cost
refinance loans. Despite the overall increase in expenses, expenses as a percent of total revenue decreased from 49.3% to 44.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Income (Loss) from Operations

Income (loss) from operations is the difference between net revenue and expenses. Total income from operations increased by $52.7 million to $46.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from loss from operations of $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was due to
higher net revenue outweighing higher total expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 as a result of the reasons discussed above.
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Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities totaled $(5.0) million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and $9.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2022. These warrant liabilities arose with respect to warrants issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and is subject to re-
measurement at each balance sheet date.

Other Income

Other income totaled $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, other income includes the $0.3 million in income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space and $0.1 million
from the gain on partial loan forgiveness of the secured borrowing payable. For the year ended December 31, 2022, other income includes the income
related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space.

Income Before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes is the sum of income (loss) from operations, the change in fair value of warrant liabilities, and other income. Income before
income tax increased by $38.7 million to $41.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

OppFi Inc. recorded an income tax expense of $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $2.6 million from income tax benefit of
$0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was largely attributed to the change in fair value of warrant liabilities.

Net Income

Net income increased by $36.1 million to $39.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
for all of the reasons stated above.

Net (Loss) Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.

Net loss attributable to OppFi Inc. was $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, down from net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $7.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the income solely attributable to stockholders of OppFi
Inc. As a result of the Company’s Up-C structure, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally expense
items related to OppFi Inc.’s status as a public company, the income or expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the Company’s
warrants, and the Company’s approximate percentage interest in the non-controlling interest. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the underlying
income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. include the loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $5.0 million, tax expense
of $2.1 million, general and administrative expense of $0.6 million, and board fees of $0.4 million, for total loss attributable to OppFi Inc. of $8.1 million.
The loss also includes OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to non-controlling interest of $7.1 million, for net loss attributable to
OppFi Inc. of $1.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc.
include the gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $9.4 million and tax benefit of $0.3 million, partially offset by payroll and stock
compensation expense of $0.8 million, general and administrative expense of $0.7 million, and board fees of $0.4 million, for total income attributable to
OppFi Inc. of $7.8 million. The income also includes OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the loss attributable to non-controlling interest of $0.7 million, for
net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $7.1 million.

Diluted Earnings per Share

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company’s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were excluded in computing the diluted earnings per
share as the inclusion of these shares would have had an antidilutive effect under the if-converted method. Under the if-converted method, shares of the
Company’s Class V Voting Stock are assumed to be exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of
the beginning of the period. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company’s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were included in
computing the diluted earnings per share as the inclusion of these shares had a dilutive effect under the if-converted method.
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Condensed Balance Sheets
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table presents our condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %
Assets
Cash and restricted cash $ 73,943  $ 49,670 $ 24,273 48.9 %
Finance receivables at fair value 463,320 457,296 6,024 1.3
Finance receivables at amortized cost, net 110 643 (533) (82.9)
Other assets 64,170 72,230 (8,060) (11.2)
Total assets $ 601,543 $ 579,839 $ 21,704 3.7 %
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities $ 26,448 $ 29,558 % (3,110) (10.5) %
Other liabilities 40,086 42,183 (2,097) (5.0)
Total debt 334,116 347,060 (12,944) (3.7)
Warrant liabilities 6,864 1,888 4,976 263.6
Total liabilities 407,514 420,689 (13,175) (3.1)
Total stockholders’ equity 194,029 159,150 34,879 21.9
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 601,543 $ 579,839 $ 21,704 3.7 %

Total cash and restricted cash increased by $24.3 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 driven by an increase in received
payments relative to originations. Finance receivables at fair value increased by $6.0 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022
due to strength in issuance volume and decrease in charge-offs throughout the second half of the year. Finance receivables at amortized cost, net
decreased by $0.5 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 due to the continued rundown of OppFi Card and SalaryTap finance
receivables. Other assets decreased by $8.1 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 mainly due to a decrease in property,
equipment, and software of $3.7 million, a decrease in the operating lease right of use asset of $1.4 million, and a decrease in the deferred tax asset of
$1.0 million.

Current liabilities decreased by $3.1 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 driven by a decrease in accounts payable of $1.9
million and a decrease in accrued expenses of $1.2 million. Other liabilities decreased by $2.1 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to

December 31, 2022 driven by a decrease in the operating lease liability of $1.5 million and a decrease in the tax receivable agreement liability of $0.6
million. Total debt decreased by $12.9 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 driven by a decrease in utilization of revolving
lines of credit of $12.0 million, paydown of the secured borrowing payable of $0.8 million, and a decrease in notes payable of $0.2 million. Warrant
liabilities increased by $5.0 million due to the increase in the valuation of the warrants as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022. Total
stockholders’ equity increased by $34.9 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 driven by net income and stock-based
compensation.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

We believe that the provision of non-GAAP financial measures in this report, including Adjusted EPS, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBT, and Adjusted Net
Income can provide useful measures for period-to-period comparisons of our business and useful information to investors and others in understanding
and evaluating our operating results. However, non-GAAP financial measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP measures, should not be

considered an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, and may not be comparable to
the non-GAAP financial measures of other companies.
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Adjusted EBT, Adjusted Net Income, and Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBT is a non-GAAP measure defined as our GAAP net income (loss) adjusted to eliminate the effect of certain items as shown below, including
provision for income taxes, debt issuance cost amortization, other addbacks and one-time expenses and sublease income. Adjusted Net Income is a
non-GAAP measure defined as our Adjusted EBT less pro forma taxes for comparison purposes. We believe that Adjusted EBT and Adjusted Net Income
are important measures because they allow management, investors, and our board of directors to evaluate and compare our operating results from
period-to-period by making the adjustments described below.

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined as our Adjusted Net Income adjusted for the items as shown below, including pro forma and business
(non-income) taxes, depreciation and amortization, and interest expense. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure because it allows
management, investors, and our board of directors to evaluate and compare our operating results from period-to-period by making the adjustments
described below. In addition, it provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business, as it removes the effect of taxes, certain non-
cash items, variable charges, and timing differences.

Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain expenses that are required in accordance with GAAP because they are non-recurring items (such as severance), non-
cash expenditures (such as depreciation and amortization, changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities, and expenses related to stock compensation), or
are not related to our underlying business performance (such as interest expense). We believe these adjustments provide investors with a comparative
view of expenses that the Company expects to incur on an ongoing basis.
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(in thousands, except share and per share data) Year Ended December 31, Variance

(unaudited) 2023 2022 %

Net income $ 39,479 % 3,340 1082.0 %
Income tax expense (benefit) 2,331 (277) 941.5
Debt issuance cost amortization 2,428 2,372 2.4
Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net(a) 12,790 1,180 983.9
Sublease income (318) (53) 500.0

Adjusted EBT 56,710 6,562 764.2
Less: pro forma taxes(b) (13,361) (1,586) 742.4

Adjusted net income 43,349 4,976 771.2
Pro forma taxes(b) 13,361 1,586 742.4
Depreciation and amortization 12,735 13,581 (6.2)
Interest expense 44,322 32,789 35.2
Business (non-income) taxes 917 934 (1.8)

Adjusted EBITDA $ 114,684 $ 53,866 112.9 %

Adjusted earnings per share $ 051 $ 0.06

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 85,051,304 84,256,084

(a) For the year ended December 31, 2023, other addbacks and one-time expenses, net of $12.8 million included a $5.0 million expense related to the
change in fair value of the warrant liabilities, $4.1 million in expenses related to provision for credit losses on the OppFi Card finance receivables, $4.1
million in expenses related to stock-based compensation, $1.5 million in expenses related to corporate development, $0.9 million in expenses related to
severance and retention, $0.3 million in expenses related to legal fees, a $(3.0) million addback related to the reclassification of OppFi Card finance
receivables from assets held for sale to assets held for investment at amortized cost, and a $(0.1) million addback related to partial forgiveness of the
secured borrowing payable. For the year ended December 31, 2022, other addbacks and one-time expenses, net of $1.2 million included a $(9.4) million
addback related to the change in fair value of the warrant liabilities, a $3.6 million expense related to the impairment of OppFi Card finance receivables
as a result of their reclassification as held for sale, $3.4 million in expenses related to stock-based compensation, $3.0 million in expenses related to
severance and retention, a $0.5 million expense related to the impairment of the operating lease right of use asset, and $0.1 million in expenses related
to legal fees.

(b) Assumes the entire Company is a C-Corp with a tax rate of 23.56% for the year ended December 31, 2023 and a tax rate of 24.17% for the year
ended December 31, 2022, reflecting the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended statutory rate for state income taxes, in order to allow for a
comparison with other publicly traded companies.
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Adjusted Earnings Per Share

Adjusted EPS is defined as adjusted net income divided by weighted average diluted shares outstanding, which represent shares of both classes of
common stock outstanding, excluding 25,500,000 shares related to earnout obligations and including the impact of restricted stock units, performance
stock units, and the employee stock purchase plan. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and others because, due to the
Company’s Up-C structure, Basic EPS calculated on a GAAP basis excludes a large percentage of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock,
which are Class V Voting Stock, and Diluted EPS calculated on a GAAP basis excludes dilutive securities, including Class V Voting Stock, in any period
in which the Company reports a loss as dilutive securities are considered to be antidilutive. Shares of the Company’s Class V Voting Stock may be
exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to
investors and others because it presents the Company’s Adjusted Net Income on a per share basis based on the shares of the Company’s common
stock that would be issued but for, and can be issued as a result of, the Company’s Up-C structure, excluding the forfeitable earnout shares from the
Company’s Business Combination. The earnout shares issued in the Business Combination are excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EPS because
such earnout shares are subject to potential forfeiture pending the achievement (if any) of certain earnout targets pursuant to the terms of the Business
Combination, and we believe that, until such shares are forfeited or no longer subject to forfeiture, it is useful to investors and others to provide per share
earnings information based only on those shares that are not subject to forfeiture.

Year Ended December 31,

(unaudited) 2023 2022
Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding 16,391,199 13,913,626
Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding 93,857,926 95,724,487
Elimination of earnouts at period end (25,500,000) (25,500,000)
Dilutive impact of restricted stock units 261,595 105,928
Dilutive impact of performance stock units 40,584 9,492
Dilutive impact of employee stock purchase plan — 2,551
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 85,051,304 84,256,084
Year Ended Year Ended
(in thousands, except share and per share data) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(unaudited) $ Per Share $ Per Share
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 85,051,304 84,256,084
Net income $ 39,479 $ 046 $ 3340 $ 0.04
Income tax expense (benefit) 2,331 0.03 (277) —
Debt issuance cost amortization 2,428 0.03 2,372 0.03
Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net 12,790 0.15 1,180 0.01
Sublease income (318) — (53) —
Adjusted EBT 56,710 0.67 6,562 0.08
Less: pro forma taxes (13,361) (0.16) (1,586) (0.02)
Adjusted net income 43349 $ 0.51 4976 $ 0.06
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

To date, the funds received from operating income and our ability to obtain lending commitments have provided the liquidity necessary for us to fund our
operations.

Maturities of our financing facilities are staggered over three years to help minimize refinance risk.

The following table presents our unrestricted cash and undrawn debt as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Unrestricted cash $ 31,791 $ 16,239
Undrawn debt $ 192,333 $ 136,800

As of December 31, 2023, OppFi had $31.8 million in unrestricted cash, an increase of $15.6 million from December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023,
OppFi had an additional $192.3 million of unused debt capacity under its financing facilities for future availability, representing a 37% overall undrawn
capacity, an increase from $136.8 million as of December 31, 2022. The increase in undrawn debt was driven primarily by the increase in capacity of the
revolving credit agreement with affiliates of Atalaya Capital Management in July 2023. Including total financing commitments of $525.0 million, and cash
on the balance sheet of $73.9 million, OppFi had approximately $598.9 million in funding capacity as of December 31, 2023.

We believe that our unrestricted cash, undrawn debt and funds from operating income will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for at least the next 12
months from the date of this Annual Report. Our future capital requirements will depend on multiple factors, including our revenue growth, aggregate
receivables balance, interest expense, working capital requirements, cash provided by and used in operating, investing and financing activities and capital
expenditures.

To the extent our unrestricted cash balances, funds from operating income and funds from undrawn debt are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs in
the future, we may need to raise additional capital through equity or debt financing and may not be able to do so on terms acceptable to it, if at all. If we
are unable to raise additional capital when needed, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely impacted.

Cash Flows

The following table presents cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 296,146 $ 243,297 $ 52,849 21.7 %
Net cash used in investing activities (244,292) (317,244) 72,952 (23.0)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (27,581) 61,255 (88,836) (145.0)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash $ 24273 % (12,692) $ 36,965 291.2 %
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $296.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This was an increase of $52.8 million when
compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $243.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Cash provided by operating activities
increased mainly due to higher net income and less gain from the change in fair value of warrant liabilities compared to the prior year.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $244.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This was a decrease of $73.0 million when compared to
net cash used in investing activities of $317.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly due to lower finance receivables originated and
acquired and higher finance receivables repaid and recovered.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $27.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This was an increase of $88.8 million when compared to
net cash provided by financing activities of $61.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to an increase in member distributions and
net payments of senior debt and notes payable, partially offset by a decrease in net payments of secured borrowings payable.
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Financing Arrangements

Our corporate credit facilities consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities that we have drawn on to finance our operations and for other corporate
purposes. These borrowings are generally secured by all the assets of OppFi-LLC that have not otherwise been sold or pledged to secure our structured
finance facilities, such as assets belonging to certain of the special purpose entity subsidiaries of OppFi-LLC (“SPEs”). In addition, we, through our SPEs,
have entered into warehouse credit facilities to partially finance the origination of loans by us on our platform or the purchase of participation rights in
loans originated by our bank partners through our platform, which credit facilities are secured by the loans or participation rights. See Note 18,
Subsequent Events, in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion regarding
the Company’s revolving credit agreement with UMB Bank, N.A.

The following is a summary of OppFi's borrowings as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December December
Borrowing 31, 31, Interest Rate as of Maturity
Purpose Borrower(s) Capacity 2023 2022 December 31, 2023 Date
Secured borrowing Opportunity Funding SPE II,
payable LLC — $ — 3 756 15.00 % —
Senior debt
Opportunity Funding SPE V,
LLC; Opportunity Funding SPE
Revolving line of credit VII, LLC (Tranche A) $ — 3 —  $ 37,500 SOFR plus 7.36%  April 2024
Opportunity Funding SPE V,
Revolving line of credit LLC (Tranche B) $ 125000 $ 103,400 $ 121,647 SOFR plus 6.75%  June 2026
Opportunity Funding SPE V,
Revolving line of credit LLC (Tranche C) $ 125,000 $ 37,500 $ —  SOFR plus 7.50%  July 2027
Opportunity Funding SPE IV,
LLC; SalaryTap Funding SPE, SOFR plus 0.11%
Revolving line of credit LLC $ — 3 — 3 — plus 3.85% February 2024
Opportunity Funding SPE [X,
Revolving line of credit LLC $ 150,000 $ 93,871 $ 91,871  SOFR plus 7.50% December 2026
Revolving line of credit Gray Rock SPV, LLC $ 75,000 $ 48,442 % 44,716  SOFR plus 7.25%  April 2025
Total revolving lines of
credit $ 475000 $ 283213 $ 295,734
Term loan, net OppFi-LLC $ 50,000 $ 49454 $ 48,954 LIBOR plus 10.00% March 2025
Total senior debt $ 525000 $ 332,667 $ 344,688
Notes payable
Financed insurance
premium OppFi-LLC $ — & — 3 1,616 7.07 % July 2023
Financed insurance
premium OppFi-LLC $ 1,449 $ 1,449 $ — 9.70 % June 2024
Total notes payable $ 1,449 $ 1,449 $ 1,616

82



Table of Contents

LIBOR Transition

In July 2017, the FCA, which regulates LIBOR, announced its intention to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021.
On December 31, 2021, IBA, the administrator of LIBOR, announced plans to cease publication for all USD LIBOR tenors (except the one- and two-week
tenors, which ceased on December 31, 2021) on June 30, 2023. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York have identified
the SOFR as its preferred alternative to LIBOR in derivatives and other financial contracts. Each of our credit facilities, except for the senior secured
multi-draw term loan, provided for the replacement of LIBOR as discussed above in “Financing Arrangements.” As of December 31, 2023, all of our
LIBOR-based credit facilities, except for the senior secured multi-draw term loan, have been transitioned to the SOFR. As of December 31, 2023, the
senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement was subject to the synthetic LIBOR rates until the senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement is
amended. The replacement of LIBOR did not have any material effect on our liquidity or the financial terms of our credit facilities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires OppFi to make estimates and judgments that affect reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and related disclosures. OppFi bases estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under current circumstances, results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of certain assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Estimates are evaluated on an ongoing basis. To the extent that
there are differences between OppFi's estimates and actual results, OppFi's future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows will be affected.

Accounting policies, as described in detail in the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, are an integral part of the OppFi's
consolidated financial statements. A thorough understanding of these accounting policies is essential when reviewing OppFi's reported results of
operations and financial position. Management believes that the critical accounting policies and estimates listed below require OppFi to make difficult,
subjective, or complex judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain:

— Valuation of installment finance receivables accounted for under the fair value option; and
— Valuation of the public and private warrants.

Fair value is the price that could be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the
measurement date. Fair value is determined using different inputs and assumptions based upon the instrument being valued. Where observable market
prices from transactions for identical assets or liabilities are not available, we identify market prices for similar assets or liabilities. If observable market
prices are unavailable or impracticable to obtain for any such similar assets or liabilities, we look to other modeling techniques, which often incorporate
unobservable inputs which are inherently subjective and require significant judgment. Fair value estimates requiring significant judgments are determined
using various inputs developed by management with the appropriate skills, understanding and knowledge of the underlying asset or liability to ensure the
development of fair value estimates is reasonable. In certain cases, our assessments, with respect to assumptions market participants would make, may
be inherently difficult to determine, and the use of different assumptions could result in material changes to these fair value measurements.
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Installment Finance Receivables: To derive the fair value, the Company generally utilizes discounted cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses
and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss data and
include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that the
Company believes a market participant would require.

The following describes the primary inputs to the discounted cash flow analyses that require significant judgment:

¢ Discount rate: The discount rate utilized in the discounted cash flow analyses reflects our estimate of the rate of return that a market participant
would require when investing in financial instruments with similar risk and return characteristics.

e Servicing cost: The servicing cost percentage that is applied to portfolio’s expected cash flows reflects our estimate of the amount we would incur
to service the underlying assets over the assets’ remaining lives. Servicing costs are derived from an internal analysis of our cost structure
considering the characteristics of our installment finance receivables and have been benchmarked against observable information on comparable
assets in the marketplace.

* Remaining life: Remaining life is the time weighted average of the remaining contractual loan term divided by the principal balance at the
measurement date. The timing of estimated principal payments is impacted by scheduled amortization of loans, charge-offs, and prepayments.

* Default rate: The default rate reflects our estimate of principal payments that will not be repaid over the remaining life of an installment finance
receivable. Charge-off expectations are developed using the historical performance of our installment finance receivable portfolio but also
incorporate discretionary adjustments based on our expectations of future credit performance.

* Prepayment rate: The prepayment rate is the estimated percentage of principal payments that will occur earlier than contractually required over
the remaining life of an installment finance receivable. Prepayments accelerate the timing of principal repayment and reduce interest payments.
Prepayment rates in our discounted cash flow models are developed using historical results but may also incorporate discretionary adjustments
based on our expectations of future performance.

Warrants: OppFi holds public and private placement warrants that are recorded as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets. These liabilities are
subjected to remeasurement at each balance sheet date and are recorded at fair value. We value Public Warrants at market price based on the
observable traded price in the marketplace. For Private Placement Warrants, Private Units Warrants and Underwriter Warrants, we estimate the fair
value using a Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. This model utilizes observable inputs such as risk-free interest rate and common stock price
and unobservable inputs, including expected volatility and dividend yield. These inputs may be influenced by several factors that can change significantly
and are difficult to predict. These estimates are inherently risky and require significant judgment on the part of management.

Changes in these estimates, that are likely to occur from period to period, or the use of different estimates that the Company could have reasonably used
in the current period, would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and pursuant to Item 305(e) of Regulation S-K, we are not required to
provide this information.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 202 3, 2022 and 2021
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 202 3, 2022 and 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of OppFi Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OppFi Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity/members’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

/s RSM US LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2014.

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 27, 2024
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Assets
Cash(1)
Restricted cash(1)
Total cash and restricted cash
Finance receivables at fair value(1)

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses of $346 and $96 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,

respectively

Settlement receivable(1)

Assets held for sale

Debt issuance costs, net(1)

Property, equipment and software, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Deferred tax asset

Other assets(1)

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Liabilities:

Accounts payable(1)

Accrued expenses(1)

Operating lease liabilities

Secured borrowing payable(1)

Senior debt, net(1)

Notes payable

Warrant liabilities

Tax receivable agreement liability

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value (1,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023

and 2022, respectively)

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value (379,000,000 shares authorized with 19,554,774 shares issued and 18,850,860 shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 15,464,480 shares issued and 14,760,566 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022)

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value (6,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,

2023 and 2022, respectively)

Class V voting stock, $0.0001 par value (115,000,000 shares authorized with 91,898,193 and 94,937,285 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively)

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share data)

Treasury stock at cost, 703,914 shares as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Total OppFi Inc.'s stockholders' equity (deficit)

Noncontrolling interest
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

(1) Includes amounts in consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") presented separately in the table below.

Continued on next page
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December 31,

2023 2022
31,791 $ 16,239
42,152 33,431
73,943 49,670
463,320 457,296
110 643
1,904 2,000
— 550
3,834 4,049
10,292 14,039
12,180 13,587
25,777 26,758
10,183 11,247
601,543 $ 579,839
4,442 $ 6,338
22,006 23,220
15,061 16,558
— 756
332,667 344,688
1,449 1,616
6,864 1,888
25,025 25,625
407,514 420,689
2 2
9 9
76,480 65,501
(63,591) (63,546)
(2,460) (2,460)
10,440 (494)
183,589 159,644
194,029 159,150
601,543 $ 579,839
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets - Continued
(in thousands)

The following table summarizes the consolidated assets and liabilities of VIEs, which are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The assets below may only be used to settle

obligations of VIEs and are in excess of those obligations.

Assets of consolidated VIEs, included in total assets above
Cash
Restricted cash
Total cash and restricted cash
Finance receivables at fair value
Settlement receivable
Debt issuance costs, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs, included in total liabilities above
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Secured borrowing payable
Senior debt, net
Total liabilities

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
368 —
32,782 24,577
33,150 24,577
417,138 417,476
1,904 2,000
3,834 4,049
7 108
456,033 448,210
5 109
3,614 3,428
— 756
283,213 295,734
286,832 300,027
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Revenue:
Interest and loan related income
Other revenue

Change in fair value of finance receivables

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables
Net revenue
Expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits

Direct marketing costs

Interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs

Interest expense - related party

Professional fees

Depreciation and amortization

Technology costs

Payment processing fees

Occupancy

OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

Lower of cost or market adjustment on transfer of finance receivables from held for sale to held for

investment
Impairment of assets held for sale
Management fees - related party
General, administrative and other
Total expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other (expense) income:
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan
Other income
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc.

(Loss) earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:
(Loss) earnings per common share:

Basic

Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic

Diluted

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2023 2022 2021
$ 505,430 $ 451,448 $ 349,029
3,519 1,411 1,539
508,949 452,859 350,568
(231,419) (233,959) (85,960)
(4,348) (1,940) (929)
273,182 216,960 263,679
60,680 59,976 65,049
50,562 58,294 52,462
46,750 35,162 24,119
— — 137
18,027 12,940 18,838
12,735 13,581 10,282
12,543 13,054 10,064
10,439 10,418 7,480
4,431 4,441 3,781
(2,983) — —
= 3,571 =
— — 350
13,643 11,865 13,860
226,827 223,302 206,422
46,355 (6,342) 57,257
(4,976) 9,352 26,405
— — 6,444
431 53 =
41,810 3,063 90,106
2,331 (277) 311
39,479 3,340 89,795
40,484 (3,758) 64,241
$ (1,005 $ 7,098 $ 25,554
$ (0.06) $ 051 $ 1.93
$ (0.06) $ 005 $ 0.48
16,391,199 13,913,626 13,218,119
16,391,199 84,256,084 84,474,039
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity / Members’ Equity
(in thousands, except share data)

Total
Stockholders'
Preferred Units Class A Common Stock Class V Voting Stock Additional Paid-  Accumulated Treasury Noncontrolling Equity /
Units Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount in Capital Earnings (Deficit) Stock Interest Members' Equity
Balance, December 31, 2020 41,102,500 $ 6,660 —$ = —$ — $ 352 $ 92,320 $ — 3 — 8 99,332
Effects of adopting fair value option — — — — — — — 69,435 — — 69,435
Net income before transaction — — — — — — — 44,970 — — 44,970
Profit interest compensation — — — — — — 229 — — — 229
Member contribution — 200 — — — — — — — — 200
Member distributions — — — — — — — (50,241) — (783) (51,024)
Warrant units exercised 486,852 = 486,852 = (486,852) = 5,517 = = = 5,517
Reverse recapitalization (41,589,352) (6,860) 12,977,690 1 96,987,093 10 52,830 (252,791) — 148,693 (58,117)
Exchange of Class V shares — — 161,767 — (161,767) — 233 30 — (263) —
Issuance of common stock under equity
incentive plan — — 5,175 — — — — — — — —
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 2,511 — — — 2,511
Net income after transaction — — — — — — — 25,554 — 19,271 44,825
Balance, December 31, 2021 — — 13,631,484 1 96,338,474 10 61,672 (70,723) — 166,918 157,878
Exchange of Class V shares — — 1,401,189 1 (1,401,189) (1) 2,128 79 — (2,207) —
Issuance of common stock under equity
incentive plan — — 387,180 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan — — 44,627 — — — 125 — — — 125
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 3,354 — — — 3,354
Purchase of treasury stock — — (703,914) — — — — — (2,460) — (2,460)
Member distributions = = = = = = = = = (1,309) (1,309)
Tax receivable agreement — — — — — — (1,778) — — — (1,778)
Net income (loss) = = = = = = = 7,098 = (3,758) 3,340
Balance, December 31, 2022 — — 14,760,566 2 94,937,285 9 65,501 (63,546) (2,460) 159,644 159,150
Exchange of Class V shares — — 3,039,092 — (3,039,092) — 5,349 960 — (6,309) —
Issuance of common stock under equity
incentive plan — — 979,216 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan — — 189,622 — — — 328 — — — 328
Exercise of stock options — — 18,651 — — — 59 — — — 59
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 4,067 — — — 4,067
Tax withholding on vesting of restricted stock
units — — (136,287) — — — (280) — — — (280)
Member distributions — — — — — — — — — (10,230) (10,230)
Tax receivable agreement — — — — — — 459 — — — 459
Deferred tax asset = = = = = = 997 = = = 997
Net (loss) income — — — — — — — (1,005) — 40,484 39,479
Balance, December 31, 2023 — 3 — 18,850,860 $ 2 91,898,193 $ 98 76,480 $ (63,591) $ (2,460) $ 183589 $ 194,029

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 39,479 % 3340 $ 89,795
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Change in fair value of finance receivables 231,419 233,959 85,960
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables 4,348 1,940 929
Depreciation and amortization 12,735 13,581 10,282
Debt issuance cost amortization 2,428 2,372 2,310
Stock-based compensation and profit interest expense 4,067 3,354 3,012
Loss on disposition of equipment 3] 1 6
Lower of cost or market adjustment on transfer of finance receivables from held for sale to held for
investment (2,983) — —
Impairment loss on assets held for sale — 3,571 —
Impairment of right of use asset — 465 —
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment 163 (36) 296
Deferred income taxes 1,667 (553) (544)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 4,976 (9,352) (26,405)
Change in fair value of warrant units — — 4,208
Gain on forgiveness of debt (113) — —
Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan — — (6,444)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest and fees receivable (2,258) (5,148) (2,751)
Settlement receivable 96 (2,000) —
Operating lease, net (90) (@) —
Other assets 3,478 2,453 (4,969)
Accounts payable (1,896) 238 3,437
Accrued expenses (1,373) (4,881) 8,224
Net cash provided by operating activities 296,146 243,297 167,346
Cash flows from investing activities:
Finance receivables originated and acquired (721,287) (738,413) (587,639)
Finance receivables repayments 485,986 434,419 402,542
Purchases of equipment and capitalized technology (8,991) (13,250) (14,373)
Net cash used in investing activities (244,292) (317,244) (199,470)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Member distributions (10,230) (1,309) (51,024)
Member contributions — — 200
Payments to Opportunity Financial, LLC unit holders — — (91,646)
Cash received in reverse capitalization — — 91,857
Payment of capitalized transaction costs — — (21,591)
Net (payments) advances of secured borrowing payable (643) (21,687) 6,418
Net (payments) advances of senior debt (12,522) 92,734 120,943
Net payments of notes payable (2,581) (1,627) —
Payment of subordinated debt - related party — — (4,000)
Payment for debt issuance costs (1,712) (4,521) (2,328)
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 328 125 —
Exercise of stock options 59 — —
Payments of tax withholdings on vesting of restricted stock units (280) — —
Repurchases of common stock — (2,460) —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (27,581) 61,255 48,829
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash 24,273 (12,692) 16,705
Cash and restricted cash
Beginning 49,670 62,362 45,657
Ending $ 73,943 $ 49,670 $ 62,362

Continued on next page
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
(in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid on borrowed funds
Income taxes paid

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities
Non-cash change from adopting the fair value option on finance receivables
Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of tax receivable agreement
Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of adjustment to deferred tax asset
Operating lease right of use asset recognized
Operating lease liability recognized
Operating lease right of use asset recognized from adoption of ASU 2016-02
Operating lease liability recognized from adoption of ASU 2016-02
Reclassification of finance receivables held for sale to held for investment
Reclassification of finance receivables at amortized cost to assets held for sale

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Prepaid insurance financed with promissory notes
Warrant liabilities recognized in the reverse recapitalization
Additional paid-in capital recognized in the reverse capitalization
Conversion of warrant unit liability to additional paid-in capital
Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2021
$ 43,725 % 32,086 $ 22,041
$ 73 $ 356 $ =
$ — 3 — 3 69,435
$ 459 $ 1,778) $ —
$ 997 $ — $ —
$ 159 $ — $ —
$ 159 $ — $ —
$ — $ 15459 $ =
$ — $ 17,972 $ —
$ 2,637 $ — $ —
$ — $ 550 $ —
$ 2,414 % 3243 % =
$ — 3 — 3 37,645
$ — $ — $ 78,468
$ — 3 — 3 5,517
$ — $ — $ 6,444
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Note 1. Organization and Nature of Operations

OppFi Inc. (“OppFi”), formerly FG New America Acquisition Corp. (“FGNA”), collectively with its subsidiaries (“Company”), is a tech-enabled, mission-
driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit access to everyday Americans. OppFi's primary products
are offered by its installment loan product, OppLoans. OppFi’'s products also include its payroll deduction secured installment loan product, SalaryTap,
and credit card product, OppFi Card.

On July 20, 2021 (“Closing Date”), the Company completed a business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement (“Business
Combination Agreement”), dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC (“OppFi-LLC"), a Delaware limited liability company,
OppFi Shares, LLC (“OFS”), a Delaware limited liability company, and Todd Schwartz (“Members’ Representative”), in his capacity as the representative
of the members of OppFi-LLC (“Members”) immediately prior to the closing (“Closing”). The transactions contemplated by the Business Combination
Agreement are referred to herein as the “Business Combination.” At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi's Class A common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (“Class A Common Stock”) and redeemable warrants exercisable for Class A Common Stock (“Public Warrants”) are listed
on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbols “OPFI” and “OPFI WS,” respectively.

Following the Closing, the Company is organized in an “Up-C” structure in which substantially all of the assets and the business of the Company are held
by OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries, and OppFi’'s only direct assets consist of Class A common units of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi Units”). As of December 31,
2023 and 2022, OppFi owned approximately 17.0% and 13.5% of the OppFi Units, respectively, and controls OppFi-LLC as the sole manager of OppFi-
LLC in accordance with the terms of the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi A&R LLCA"). All
remaining OppFi Units (“Retained OppFi Units”) are beneficially owned by the Members. OFS holds a controlling voting interest in OppFi through its
ownership of shares of Class V common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of OppFi (“Class V Voting Stock”) in an amount equal to the number of
Retained OppFi Units and therefore has the ability to control OppFi-LLC.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Overview: The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OppFi and OppFi-LLC with its subsidiaries: Opportunity Funding
SPE Il, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IIl, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC,
Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VIII, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC, OppWin BPI, LLC (f/k/a Opportunity Funding
SPE X, LLC), OppWin, LLC, Opportunity Manager, LLC, Opportunity Financial Card Company, LLC, OppWin Card, LLC, SalaryTap, LLC, OppWin
SalaryTap, LLC, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC and Gray Rock SPV LLC.

On April 26, 2023, Opportunity Funding SPE X, LLC changed its name to OppWin BPI, LLC.

In 2017, OppFi-LLC entered into a preferred return agreement with Midtown Madison Management LLC, an unrelated third party, which required OppFi-
LLC to create a bankruptcy protected entity named Opportunity Funding SPE I, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned
subsidiary. Under the terms of the agreement, Opportunity Funding SPE Il, LLC acquires receivables from OppFi-LLC and OppWin LLC, and the third
party receives a future preferred economic interest in these assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with the terms of the
agreement but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is being accounted for as a secured borrowing payable and the
entity holds all assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt. During the period from January 1, 2023 through February 16, 2023, the
Company paid principal balance totaling $0.6 million. The remaining principal of $0.1 million was forgiven. On February 16, 2023, OppFi-LLC terminated
the preferred return agreement.

In 2018, OppFi-LLC entered into a credit agreement with Ares Agent Services L.P., which required OppFi-LLC to create a bankruptcy protected entity
named Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary. Under the terms of the agreement,
Opportunity Funding SPE lll, LLC uses the proceeds from the credit facility to acquire receivables from OppFi-LLC and OppWin, LLC, and the lender
receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with the terms of the agreement but is
required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is accounted for as senior debt in which this bankruptcy protected entity holds all
assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt. On December 14, 2022, the borrowings under this credit agreement were paid in full.
Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the credit agreement.

In 2019, OppFi-LLC entered into a credit agreement with BMO Harris Bank N.A, an unrelated third party, which required OppFi-LLC to create a
bankruptcy protected entity named Opportunity Funding SPE 1V, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary. Under the
terms of the agreement, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC uses the proceeds from the credit facility to acquire receivables from OppFi-LLC and OppWin,
LLC, and the lender receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with the terms of the
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agreement but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is accounted for as senior debt in which this bankruptcy protected
entity holds all assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt. OppFi-LLC provides a financial guaranty in connection with this credit agreement.

On September 30, 2021, the credit agreement with BMO Harris Bank N.A. was amended to require OppFi-LLC to create a bankruptcy protected entity
named SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary. Under the terms of the agreement, as
amended, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC uses the proceeds from the existing credit facility to acquire receivables from SalaryTap, LLC and OppWin
SalaryTap, LLC, and the lender receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. SalaryTap, LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with
the terms of the agreement but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is accounted for as senior debt in which this
bankruptcy protected entity holds all assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt. On February 15, 2023, the Company terminated the credit
agreement upon the end of the revolving commitment period.

In 2019, OppFi-LLC entered into a credit agreement with Midtown Madison Management LLC which required OppFi-LLC to create a bankruptcy
protected entity named Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary. Under the terms of the
agreement, Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC uses the proceeds from the credit facility to acquire receivables from OppFi-LLC and OppWin, LLC, and the
lender receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with the terms of the agreement
but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is accounted for as senior debt in which this bankruptcy protected entity holds
all assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt.

On October 13, 2021, the credit agreement with Midtown Madison Management, LLC was amended to add Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC, a
Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary, as an additional borrower. Under the terms of the agreement, as amended,
Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC uses the proceeds from the existing credit facility to acquire receivables from Opportunity Financial Card Company,
LLC and OppWin Card, LLC, and the lender receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in
accordance with the terms of the agreement but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement.

On July 19, 2023, OppFi-LLC and Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC (“OF V Borrower”) entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (the “A&R Credit Agreement”), which amended and restated that certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2019 (as
previously amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Prior Credit Agreement”), by and among OppFi-LLC, OF V Borrower, Opportunity Funding
SPE VI, LLC, the other credit parties and guarantors thereto, Midtown Madison Management LLC as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the
lenders party thereto. The A&R Credit Agreement amended the Prior Credit Agreement to, among other things, remove Opportunity Funding SPE VII,
LLC as a borrower and remove the concept of pledging OppFi Card receivables under the A&R Credit Agreement, including removing OppWin Card, LLC
as a seller.

In 2019, OppFi-LLC entered into a credit agreement with Ares Agent Services, L.P., an unrelated third party, which required OppFi-LLC to create a
bankruptcy protected entity named Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary. Under the
terms of the agreement, Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC uses the proceeds from the credit facility to acquire receivables from OppFi-LLC and OppWin,
LLC, and the lender receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with the terms of the
agreement but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is accounted for as senior debt in which this bankruptcy protected
entity holds all assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt. On June 22, 2022, the borrowings under this revolving line of credit agreement
were paid in full. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the revolving credit agreement.

On April 15, 2022, OppFi-LLC entered into agreements with Midtown Madison Management LLC, an unrelated third party, and Gray Rock SPV LLC, an
entity formed by third-party investors for the purpose of purchasing participation interests in receivables from Gray Rock Finance LLC. Under the terms of
the agreements, OppFi-LLC serves as the servicer of these financial assets. As the servicer, OppFi-LLC is subject to various financial covenants, such as
minimum tangible net worth, liquidity and debt-to-equity ratio. OppFi-LLC also entered into a total return swap transaction with Midtown Madison
Management LLC, providing credit protection related to a reference pool of consumer receivables financed by Midtown Madison Management LLC.

On December 14, 2022, OppFi-LLC entered into a credit agreement with UMB Bank, N.A., an unrelated third party, which required OppFi-LLC to create a
bankruptcy protected entity named Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly owned subsidiary. Under the
terms of the agreement, Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC uses the proceeds from the credit facility to acquire receivables from OppFi-LLC and OppWin,
LLC, and the lender receives first priority lien on all of the entity’s assets. OppFi-LLC continues to service the assets in accordance with the terms of the
agreement but is required to maintain a backup servicing agreement. This transaction is accounted for as senior debt in which this bankruptcy protected
entity holds all assets on its balance sheet, which collateralize the debt.
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OppFi-LLC has entered into bank partnership arrangements with certain Utah-chartered banks (“Banks”) insured by the FDIC. Under the terms and
conditions of the agreement, the Banks originate finance receivables based on criteria provided by OppFi-LLC. After an initial holding period, OppFi-LLC
has committed to acquire the participation rights to the finance receivables originated by the Banks. To facilitate these relationships, OppFi-LLC formed
OppWin, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of OppFi-LLC; OppWin SalaryTap, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability
Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of OppFi-LLC; OppWin Card, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
OppFi-LLC; and OppWin BPI, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of OppFi-LLC.

OppWin, LLC acquires the participation rights in the economic interest in installment finance receivables originated by the Banks. Subsequently, OppWin,
LLC sells these rights to SPEs, which in turn, pledge the participation rights to their respective lenders.

OppWin SalaryTap, LLC acquires the participation rights in the economic interest in the SalaryTap finance receivables originated by the Banks.
Subsequently, OppWin SalaryTap, LLC sells these rights to SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, which in turn, pledges the participation rights to its respective
lenders.

OppWin Card, LLC acquires the participation rights in the economic interest in the OppFi Card finance receivables originated by the Banks.

OppWin BPI, LLC acquires the participation rights in the economic interest in installment finance receivables originated by the Banks. Subsequently,
OppWin BPI, LLC sells these rights to Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC, which in turn, pledges the participation rights to its lender.

The Company accounts for the participation rights as finance receivables. As part of these bank partnership arrangements, the Banks have the ability to
retain a percentage of the finance receivables they have originated. OppFi-LLC’s economic interest and acquired patrticipation rights are reduced by the
percentage retained by the Banks.

Basis of presentation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of OppFi Inc. and OppFi-LLC with its wholly-owned subsidiaries and
consolidated VIEs. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the results and financial position for the periods presented.

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. Under this method, FGNA was treated as the “acquired” company, and OppFi-
LLC, as the accounting acquirer, was assumed to have issued equity for the net assets of FGNA, accompanied by a recapitalization.

Principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the above named entities. Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC,
Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE VII, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VIIl, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, and Gray Rock SPV LLC
are special purpose entities holding finance receivables secured by lenders under a credit or preferred return agreement.

The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE based on a qualitative assessment to determine if the Company or another party,
if any, has the power to direct activities of the VIE and the obligation to absorb losses and/or receive its benefits. The Company considers the activities
that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and determine whether the Company or another party, if any, has the power to direct
these activities of the VIE. The Company also considers the nature, purpose and activities of the VIE and the Company’s involvement, including exposure
to loss, with the VIE.

OppFi has identified Opportunity Funding SPE I, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE
V, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VIII, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC,
SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, and Gray Rock SPV LLC as VIEs. OppFi-LLC is the sole equity member of all of the aforementioned entities, except for
SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC and Gray Rock SPV LLC. SalaryTap, LLC is the sole equity member of SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC. While Gray Rock
SPV LLC is not owned by OppFi-LLC, Gray Rock SPV LLC was determined to be a VIE. The Company directs the activities of the VIEs that most
significantly impact economic performance. Additionally, the Company has the obligation to absorb losses of the VIEs that could potentially be significant.
As the primary beneficiary of the VIEs, the Company has consolidated the financial statements of the VIEs. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Segments: Segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief
operating decision maker ("CODM") in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. OppFi's Chief Executive Officer is considered to
be the CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial
performance. The Company’s operations constitute a single reportable segment.

Use of estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and operations and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

The judgements, assumptions, and estimates used by management are based on historical experience, management’s experience and qualitative
factors. The areas subject to significant estimation techniques include, but are not limited to, the determination of fair value of installment finance
receivables and warrants, the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses on finance receivables, valuation allowance of deferred tax assets, stock-based
compensation expense and income tax provision. For the aforementioned estimates, it is reasonably possible the recorded amounts or related
disclosures could significantly change in the near future as new information is available.

Revenue recognition: The Company recognizes finance charges on installment and SalaryTap contracts based on the interest method. Under this
method, interest is earned over the lives of the installment and SalaryTap finance receivables to produce constant rates of interest (yields). Fees for
returned payments approximate the cost of services provided and are recognized as incurred, assuming collectability is reasonably assured.

For OppFi Card finance receivables, interest is earned on unpaid balance, inclusive of previously outstanding balance and interest and fees, at the
conclusion of the monthly billing cycle. Card-related fees, with the exception of the annual fee, are recognized as incurred. Annual fee revenue is
amortized straight-line over the course of 12 months.

The Company discontinues and reverses the accrual of interest income on installment and SalaryTap finance receivables at the earlier of 60 days past
due based on a recency basis or 90 days past due based on a contractual basis. The accrual of income is not resumed until the account is current on a
recency or contractual basis, at which time management considers collectability to be probable.

Cash: The Company classifies all cash accounts which are not subject to withdrawal restrictions or penalties as cash. All cash accounts are held in
financially insured institutions, which may at times exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced losses in such accounts.
Management believes the Company’s exposure to credit risk is minimal for these accounts.

Restricted cash: Restricted cash consists of the following: (1) cash required to be held on reserve by the Company’s vendors for purposes of loan
processing or funding; (2) cash required to be held in blocked accounts held by the VIEs; and (3) cash required to be held on deposit in connection with
the bank partnership arrangements. All cash accounts are held in financially insured institutions, which may at times exceed federally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced losses in such accounts. Management believes the Company’s exposure to credit risk is minimal for these accounts.

CSO arrangements: In Texas and Ohio, OppFi-LLC previously arranged for consumers to obtain finance receivable products from independent third-
party lenders as part of the Credit Access Business and Credit Service Organization programs (collectively, the “CSO Program”). For the consumer
finance receivable products originated by the third-party lenders under the CSO Program, the lenders were responsible for providing the criteria by which
the consumer's application was underwritten and, if approved, determining the amount of the finance receivable. When a consumer executed an
agreement with OppFi-LLC under the CSO Program, OppFi-LLC agreed, for a fee payable to OppFi-LLC by the consumer, to provide certain services to
the consumer, one of which was to guarantee the consumer's obligation to repay the finance receivable obtained by the consumer from the third-party
lender if the consumer failed to do so. The guarantees represented an obligation to purchase specific finance receivables that are delinquent, secured by
a collateral account established in favor of the respective lenders. The Company discontinued the CSO Program in Ohio and Texas on April 23, 2019 and
March 19, 2021, respectively. No new finance receivables were originated through this program in Ohio and Texas after such dates.

Participation rights purchase obligations: OppFi-LLC has entered into bank partnership arrangements with certain Banks insured by the FDIC. Under
the terms and conditions of the bank partnership agreements, the Banks originate finance receivables based on criteria provided by OppFi-LLC. The
issuing Bank earns interest during an initial hold period and owns the economic interest in the finance receivables. After the initial holding period, OppFi-
LLC is committed to acquire participation rights in the economic interest in the finance receivables originated by the Banks, net of bank partnership
retention, plus accrued interest (“Participation Rights”). OppFi-LLC also provides certain services for these receivables in its capacity of sub-servicer
pursuant to the terms of the servicing agreement between the Bank and OppFi-LLC. To facilitate these relationships, OppFi-LLC formed OppWin, LLC,
OppWin SalaryTap, LLC, OppWin Card, LLC, and OppWin BPI, LLC,
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which acquire the Participation Rights and sell these rights to certain of the other OppFi subsidiaries, which in turn, pledge the Participation Rights to their
respective lenders. The Company accounts for the Participation Rights as a finance receivable. As part of these bank partnership arrangements, the
Banks have the ability to retain a percentage of the finance receivables they have originated, and OppFi-LLC’s Participation Rights are reduced by the
percentage of the finance receivables retained by the Banks.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, gross finance receivables originated through the bank partnership arrangements totaled 97% and
94%, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables outstanding for purchase was $ 14.5 million
and $11.2 million, respectively.

Finance receivables: On January 1, 2021, the Company elected the fair value option on its installment finance receivables upon adoption of ASU 2016-
13. Accordingly, the related finance receivables are carried at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets and the changes in fair value are included in
the consolidated statements of operations. To derive the fair value, the Company generally utilizes discounted cash flow analyses that factor in estimated
losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss
data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of return
that the Company believes a market participant would require. Accrued interest and fees are included in “Finance receivables at fair value” in the
consolidated balance sheets. Interest income is included in “Interest and loan related income, net” in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company did not elect the fair value option on its SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables. Accordingly, the related finance receivables are
carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses and unearned fees.

Loan origination costs: With the election of the fair value option, loan origination costs related to the origination of installment finance receivables
recognized at fair value are expensed when incurred. Direct costs incurred for the origination of these finance receivables included underwriting fees,
employee salaries and benefits directly related to the origination of the loan and program fees. Loan origination costs also included direct costs incurred
for directly acquiring a customer.

Allowance for credit losses on finance receivables at amortized cost: Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13. Under the
current expected credit losses methodology, the Company determines the allowance for credit losses and records a provision for credit losses
considering all anticipated credit losses over the remaining expected life of its SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables. The Company uses
competitive research and considers qualitative factors, such as changes to regulatory requirements, general economic conditions and other events
impacting the credit quality of the portfolio for determining the anticipated credit losses of its SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables. While
management uses the best information available to make its evaluation, future adjustments to the allowance may be necessary if there are significant
changes in any of the factors.

The Company’s charge-off policy is based on a review of delinquent finance receivables on a loan by loan basis. Finance receivables are charged off at
the earlier of the time when accounts reach 90 days past due on a recency basis, when the Company receives notification of a customer bankruptcy, or
is otherwise deemed uncollectible.

Delinquency: The Company determines the past due status on a recency basis, which is defined as the last time a qualifying payment is made on an
account. Finance receivables are considered delinquent at 30 days or more past due.

Troubled debt restructurings: As the terms of the receivables are typically not renegotiated and settlement offers are not typically made until after a
receivable stops accruing interest income (up to 60 days delinquent), the only receivables considered to be impaired, or troubled debt restructurings, are:
1) those receivables where a settlement offer is made after receivables cease accruing interest, which may result in a modification of contractual terms,
2) the Company has received notification that a borrower is working with a third party to settle debt on his/her behalf and 3) customers who have entered
into the Company’s short-term or long-term hardship programs. As of December 31, 2022, management determined the balance of troubled debt
restructuring receivables to be immaterial to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. As such, substantially all disclosures relating to impaired
finance receivables, and troubled debt restructuring, have been omitted from these consolidated financial statements.

Settlement receivable: In accordance with the Company’s credit agreement with UMB Bank, N.A., customer payments are collected by the Company
and then deposited into a commercial bank account held by UMB Bank, N.A. on behalf of the Company until the Company settled with UMB Bank, N.A.
The Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts against the settlement receivable as potential write-offs are deemed immaterial.

Assets held for sale: Assets held for sale are assets which management has the intent to sell in the foreseeable future, and are carried at the lower of
aggregate cost or fair value, less estimated costs to sell, in the period in which the held for sale criteria are met and every subsequent period until the
asset is sold. The carrying amount of the asset is adjusted for subsequent
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increases or decreases in its fair value, less estimated cost to sell, except that any subsequent increase cannot exceed the cumulative loss previously
recognized. Such assets are not depreciated or amortized while they are classified as held for sale. Realized gains and losses on the sale of the asset are
recognized when the asset is sold and are determined by the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset. Assets classified
as held for sale as of December 31, 2022 comprised the Company’s OppFi Card finance receivables; as a result, the Company recognized the
impairment loss of assets held for sale totaling $3.6 million. In May 2023, the Company made the decision to wind down the OppFi Card business;
accordingly, the Company has discontinued its marketing of the OppFi Card finance receivables for sale. The OppFi Card finance receivables no longer
meet the held for sale criteria and have been reclassified from held for sale to held for investment, which is included in finance receivables at amortized
cost in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023. Upon transfer of the Company’s OppFi Card finance receivables from held for sale to
held for investment, the Company reversed its previously recorded valuation allowance on being held for sale totaling $2.3 million and established an
allowance for credit losses on being held for investment totaling $2.6 million.

Property and equipment: Furniture, equipment, and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization of furniture, equipment, and leasehold improvements are computed under both straight-line and accelerated methods for
financial reporting and income tax purposes, respectively, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets generally as follows: furniture and fixtures - 5
years; office equipment - 3 years; and leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the assets or the term of the lease.

Capitalized technology: Software development costs related to internal use software are incurred in three stages of development: the preliminary
project stage, the application development stage, and the post-implementation stage. Costs incurred during the preliminary project and post-
implementation stages are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage that meet the criteria for capitalization are
capitalized and amortized, when the software is ready for its intended use, using the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful life of the software,
which is generally two years. The Company capitalized software costs associated with application development totaling $8.6 million and $12.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Amortization expense, which is included in depreciation and amortization on the
consolidated statements of operations, totaled $12.0 million, $12.7 million, and $9.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

Leases: The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at its inception. Right-of-use (“ROU") assets and lease liabilities are
recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The discount rate used to determine
the commencement date present value of lease payments is typically the incremental borrowing rate, as most of the leases do not provide an implicit
rate. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payment amounts that cannot be determined at the
commencement of the lease, such as increases in lease payments that do not depend on changes in index rates or payments based on usage, are not
included in the ROU assets or lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred. The Company has elected to combine lease and non-lease components for
the purpose of calculating ROU assets and lease liabilities, to the extent the non-lease components are fixed. Non-lease components that are not fixed
are expensed as incurred as variable lease payments. Additionally, the Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities that arise
from short-term leases, defined as having an initial term of twelve months or less, from the consolidated balance sheets. Operating leases are included in
operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Debt issuance costs: Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized based on the contractual terms of the related debt agreements using the
interest method for fixed-term debt and the straight-line method for all other debt.

Transfer and servicing of financial assets: After a transfer of financial assets, an entity recognizes the financial and servicing assets it controls and the
liabilities it has incurred, derecognizes financial assets when control has been surrendered, and derecognizes liabilities when extinguished. The transfers
of assets for debt purposes have been accounted for as secured and senior borrowings and the related assets and borrowings are retained on the
consolidated balance sheets and no gain or loss has been recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

Warrants: Public Warrants, $11.50 Exercise Price Warrants, $ 15 Exercise Price Warrants, Private Placement Warrants and Underwriter Warrants do not
meet the criteria for equity treatment, due to a provision in the warrant agreement governing such warrants (“Warrant Agreement”) related to certain
tender or exchange offer provisions, each warrant must be recorded as a liability. Accordingly, the Company classifies each warrant as a liability at its fair
value. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date. With each such re-measurement, the warrant liability will be adjusted to fair
value, with the change in fair value recognized in the Company’s statement of operations. The Public Warrants are valued at market price based on the
observable traded price in an active market. The Company utilizes a Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black- Scholes”) option-pricing model to value the
outstanding private placement warrants (“Private Placement Warrants”) issued in connection with FGNA's initial public offering (“IPO”) at each reporting
period.

Tax receivable agreement liability: In connection with the Business Combination, OppFi entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA") with the
Members and the Members’ Representative. The TRA provides for payment to the Members of 90% of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax
savings realized by the Company as a result of the increases in tax basis and

98



OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Table of Contents

certain other tax benefits related to the transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi
Units for Class A Common Stock or cash. OppFi-LLC will have in effect an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code effective for each
taxable year in which an exchange of Retained OppFi Units occurs. The remaining 10% cash tax savings resulting from the basis adjustments will be
retained by the Company.

In general, cash tax savings result in a year when the tax liability of the Company for the year, computed without regard to the deductions attributable to
the amortization or depreciation of the basis increase and other deductions that arise in connection with the payment of the cash consideration under the
TRA or the exchange of Retained OppFi Units for Class A Common Stock, would be more than the tax liability for the year taking into account such
deductions. Payments under the TRA will not be due until the Company is able to reduce an actual cash tax liability by the amortization of the basis
increase on a filed tax return. The payments under the TRA are expected to be substantial.

The Company accounts for the effects of the basis increases as follows:

« the Company records an increase in deferred tax assets for the income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based on enacted federal and
state income tax rates at the date of the exchange;

* the Company evaluates the ability to realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset based on an analysis that will consider
expectations of future earnings among other things. If the Company determines that the full benefit is not likely to be realized, a valuation
allowance is established to reduce the amount of the deferred tax assets to an amount that is likely to be realized.

The Company records obligations under the TRA at the gross undiscounted amount of the expected future payments as an increase to liabilities and the
realizable deferred tax asset with an offset to additional paid-in capital and/or tax benefit.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company'’s liability related to its expected obligations under the TRA was $ 25.0 million with a corresponding deferred tax
asset of $5.9 million; the remaining $19.0 million and $0.1 million were recorded to additional paid-in capital and tax benefit, respectively. As of
December 31, 2022, the Company’s liability related to its expected obligations under the TRA was $25.6 million with a corresponding deferred tax asset
of $6.2 million; the remaining $19.4 million was recorded to additional paid-in capital.

Loss contingencies: Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as liabilities when
the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe there are such matters that
will have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Stock-based compensation: The Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”), which provides for the grant of restricted
stock unit awards, incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units awards,
performance units, performance shares, cash-based awards, and other stock-based awards to employees, non-employee directors, officers, and
consultants. The Company measures stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value of awards as determined on the date of the grant. The
Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period. The Company accounts for forfeitures when they occur. The
Company uses a Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the estimated fair value of stock options. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model
requires estimates of highly subjective assumptions, which affect the fair value of stock options. The fair value of restricted stock units and performance
stock units is estimated using the market price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the date of grant.

Income taxes: OppFi-LLC is organized as a partnership for U.S. income tax purposes, and therefore is not subject to tax on its earnings, as the taxable
income and deductions are passed to the Members who are responsible for income tax based upon their allocable share of OppFi-LLC's income.
Following the Closing, the Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OppFi and OppFi-LLC. OppFi is subject to corporate
income taxes in the United States based upon its activities and its allocable share of taxable income from OppFi-LLC at the federal and state level,
therefore the amount of income taxes recorded prior to the Closing are not representative of the expenses expected in the future.

The computation of the effective tax rate and provision at each period requires the use of certain estimates and significant judgment including, but not
limited to, the expected operating income for the year, projections of the proportion of income that is subject to tax, and permanent differences between
the Company’s GAAP earnings and taxable income. The estimates used to compute the provision for income taxes may change throughout the year as
new events occur, additional information is obtained or as tax laws and regulations change. Accordingly, the effective tax rate for future periods may vary.

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the asset and liability method which requires the recognition of current tax liabilities or receivables
for the amount of taxes it estimates are payable or refundable for the current year, deferred tax assets
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and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and their
respective tax bases of assets and liabilities and the expected benefits of net operating loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period enacted. A
valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and the reversal of deferred tax liabilities during the period in which related
temporary differences become deductible.

The benefit of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Company’s income tax returns is recognized in the financial statements if such positions
are more likely than not of being sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. Differences between tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return and the benefit recognized and measured pursuant to the interpretation are referred to as “unrecognized benefits.” A liability is recognized (or
amount of net operating loss carryover or amount of tax refundable is reduced) for an unrecognized tax benefit because it represents a potential future
obligation to the taxing authority for a tax position that was not recognized. Interest costs and related penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are
required to be calculated, if applicable, and are recognized as general, administrative, and other expenses.

Government regulation: The Company is subject to complex regulation, supervision and licensing under various federal, state, local statutes,
ordinances, regulations, rules and guidance. The Company must comply with federal laws as well as regulations adopted to implement those laws. In
July 2010, the U.S. Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Act, and Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
(“CFPB”), which regulates U.S. consumer financial products and services, including consumer loans offered by the Company. The CFPB has regulatory,
supervisory and enforcement powers over providers of consumer financial products and services, including explicit supervisory authority to examine and
require registration of such providers.

Treasury stock: The Company accounts for treasury stock under the cost method and includes treasury stock as a component of stockholders’ equity on
the consolidated balance sheets. The Company accounts for the reissuance of treasury stock on the first-in, first out method. The Company did not
reissue or retire treasury stock during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Earnings (loss) per share: Basic earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable
to OppFi by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share available to common
stockholders is computed using the treasury stock method, which gives effect to potentially dilutive common stock equivalents of OppFi outstanding
during the period, and the if-converted method, which gives effect to both the potentially dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding during the period
as well as an assumed full exchange of OppFi Units into Class A Common Stock of OppFi as of the beginning of the period. The if-converted method
would also give effect to conversion of the Earnout Units in periods they would be deemed to vest. For the if-converted method, earnings are also
adjusted to reflect all income of OppFi-LLC inuring to the benefit of OppFi and taxed accordingly. In periods in which the Company reports a net loss
attributable to OppFi, diluted loss per share available to common stockholders would be the same as basic loss per share available to common
stockholders, since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Noncontrolling interests: Noncontrolling interests are held by the Members, who retained 83.0% and 86.5% of the economic ownership percentage of
OppFi-LLC as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 810, Consolidation, the Company classifies the
noncontrolling interests as a component of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, the Company has presented the net
income attributable to the Company and the noncontrolling ownership interests separately in the consolidated statements of operations.

Fair value disclosure: ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, established a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Fair value measurements are determined based
on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

ASC 820 provides a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the
Company uses various methods including market, income and cost approaches. Based on these approaches, the Company often utilizes certain
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and or the risks inherent in the inputs to
the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The Company utilizes valuation
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Based on the nature of the inputs used in the
valuation techniques, the Company is required to provide the following information according to the fair
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value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities
carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1 - Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the NYSE. Valuations are obtained from readily available
pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in less-active dealer or broker markets. Valuations are obtained from third-party pricing services for
identical or similar assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - Valuations for assets and liabilities that are derived from other valuation methodologies, including option-pricing models, discounted cash
flow models and similar techniques, and not based on market exchange, dealer, or broker traded transactions. Level 3 valuations incorporate certain
assumptions and projections in determining the fair value assigned to such assets or liabilities.

Emerging growth company: The Company is an emerging growth company as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“Jobs
Act”). The Company is permitted to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such
pronouncements apply to private companies. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with another public company which is
neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible
because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Accounting pronouncements issued and adopted: In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic
326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures. The purpose of ASU No. 2022-02 is to provide guidance on troubled debt restructuring
accounting model for creditors that have adopted Topic 326. Additionally, the guidance expands on vintage disclosure requirements. The guidance is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within the annual reporting period. The adoption of
ASU No. 2022-02 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Accounting pronouncements issued and not yet adopted: In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848):
Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The purpose of ASU 2020-04 is to provide optional quidance for a period of
time related to accountina for reference rate reform on financial reportina. It is intended to reduce the potential burden of reviewina contract modifications
related to discontinued rates. The amendments and expedients in this update are effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022 and may be
elected by topic. In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 ,
which defers the sunset date of Topic 848 to December 31, 2024. The purpose of ASU No. 2022-06 is to defer the effective date of the provisions of ASU
2020-04 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures . The purpose of
ASU 2023-07 is to provide guidance on new segment disclosures, including significant segment expenses. The guidance is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2023 and, interim periods within the annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures . The purpose of ASU 2023-09
is to provide guidance on the enhanced income tax disclosure requirements. The guidance requires an entity to disclose specific categories in the
effective tax rate reconciliation as well as provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. Further, the ASU requires
certain disclosures of state versus federal income tax expense and taxes paid. The standard is intended to benefit investors by providing more detailed
income tax disclosures that would be useful in making capital allocation decisions. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Business Combination

On the Closing Date, OppFi completed the Business Combination with OppFi-LLC pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement. Pursuant to ASC
805, the Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, where FGNA was treated as the “acquired” company and OppFi-LLC, as
the accounting acquirer. OppFi-LLC was assumed to have issued equity for the net assets of FGNA, accompanied by a recapitalization. Under this
method of accounting, the pre-Business Combination consolidated financial statements of the Company are the historical financial statements of OppFi-
LLC. The net assets, consisting of cash, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, and warrant liability, of FGNA were stated at fair value, with no goodwill or
other intangible assets recorded in accordance with GAAP and are consolidated with OppFi-LLC'’s financial statements on the Closing Date.
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At the Closing, (i) OppFi-LLC transferred to the Company 12,977,690 OppFi Units, which was equal to the number of shares of Class A Common Stock
issued and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing (after giving effect to redemptions by FGNA's public stockholders prior to the Closing and
the conversion of FGNA'’s Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Class B Common Stock™)), (i) FGNA contributed the Cash
Consideration (as defined below) to OppFi-LLC in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement, which was distributed to the Members, and (iii)
FGNA issued 96,987,093 shares of newly authorized Class V Voting Stock, which number of shares of Class V Voting Stock was equal to the number of
Retained OppFi Units.

The aggregate value of the consideration paid to the Members in the Business Combination was approximately $ 806.5 million, after giving effect to the
estimated purchase price adjustments as set forth in the Business Combination Agreement, consisting of: (i) cash consideration in the amount of $91.6
million (“Cash Consideration”), equal to the cash remaining in FGNA's trust account as of immediately prior to the Closing and (ii) 96,987,093 shares of
Class V Voting Stock.

Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination, there were 12,977,690 issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock (giving
effect to shares redeemed in connection with the Business Combination and 3,443,750 shares of Class A Common Stock issued upon the conversion of
the Class B Common Stock). Shortly after, and as a result of the Business Combination, a lender converted its OppFi Units, resulting in an additional
486,852 shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding for a total of 13,464,542 shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding. On
the business day following the Closing, FGNA's public units automatically separated into their component securities upon consummation of the Business
Combination and, as a result, no longer trade as a separate security and were delisted from the NYSE.

In connection with the Closing, on the Closing Date, 25,500,000 Retained OppFi Units (“Earnout Units”) held by the Members, and an equal number of
shares of Class V Voting Stock distributed to OFS in connection with the Business Combination, are subject to certain restrictions and potential forfeiture
pending the achievement (if any) of certain earnout targets pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement. But for restrictions related to a
lock-up (transfer restrictions) and forfeiture (earnout criteria), as such restrictions are more specifically set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement entered
into at the Closing, by and among the Company, certain founder holders of FGNA, the Members, the Members’ Representative and/or the OppFi A&R
LLCA, as applicable, the Earnout Units have all other economic and voting rights of the other units of OppFi-LLC. With respect to transfers, the Earnout
Units are subject to a lock-up until the later of the end of the lock-up period applicable to other OppFi Units or until such Earnout Units are earned in
accordance with the Business Combination Agreement. With respect to distributions (other than tax distributions, which in respect of such Earnout Units
are treated the same as any other OppFi Unit in accordance with the OppFi A&R LLCA) in relation to the Earnout Units, such distributions (other than tax
distributions) are held back until the Earnout Units are earned. If an Earnout Unit is not earned, and therefore forfeited, related distributions are distributed
to the other holders of units at such time.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company incurred direct and incremental costs of approximately $ 30.6 million, consisting primarily of
investment banking, legal, accounting and other professional fees. Of these costs, $21.6 million were recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, $0.8 million were recorded as a prepaid expense and included in other assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets, and $8.2 million were expensed as professional fees in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

As a result of the Business Combination, OppFi organized as a C corporation, owns an equity interest in OppFi-LLC in what is commonly referred to as
an “Up-C” structure. OppFi-LLC is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes. Accordingly, for U.S. federal and state income
tax purposes, all income, losses, and other tax attributes pass through to the members’ income tax returns, and no U.S. federal and state and local
provision for income taxes has been recorded for these entities in the consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the Up-C structure, noncontrolling interests are held by the Members who retained 88.2% of the economic ownership percentage of OppFi-
LLC as of the Closing. As of the Closing, OppFi held a 11.8% ownership interest in OppFi-LLC. The Company classifies the noncontrolling interests as a
component of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets.

In connection with the Business Combination, OppFi entered into the TRA with the Members and the Members’ Representative. The TRA provides for
payment to the Members of 90% of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings realized by the Company as a result of the increases in tax basis
and certain other tax benefits related to the transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi
Units for Class A Common Stock or cash.
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The Company recorded a net deferred tax asset of $24.3 million for the difference between the book value and tax basis of the Company’s investment in
OppFi-LLC at the time of the Business Combination. The Company has assessed the realizability of their deferred tax assets and in that analysis has
considered the relevant positive and negative evidence available to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax
assets will be realized.

Note 4. Finance Receivables

Finance receivables at fair value: The components of installment finance receivables at fair value as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows
(in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - accrual $ 384,587 $ 369,643
Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - non-accrual 31,876 32,537
Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables $ 416,463 $ 402,180
Finance receivables at fair value - accrual $ 444,120 $ 436,552
Finance receivables at fair value - non-accrual 1,135 4,944
Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable 445,255 441,496
Accrued interest and fees receivable 18,065 15,800
Finance receivables at fair value $ 463,320 $ 457,296
Difference between unpaid principal balance and fair value $ 28,792 $ 39,316

The Company'’s policy is to discontinue and reverse the accrual of interest income on installment finance receivables at the earlier of 60 days past due on
a recency basis or 90 days past due on a contractual basis. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the aggregate unpaid principal balance of installment
finance receivables 90 days or more past due was $ 15.2 million and $17.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of
installment finance receivables 90 days or more past due was $ 0.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively.

Changes in the fair value of installment finance receivables at fair value for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning of the period $ 457,296 $ 383,890 $ 289,166
Originations 719,503 731,159 581,412
Repayments (484,325) (428,957) (401,638)
Accrued interest and fees receivable 2,265 5,163 2,727
Charge-offs, net (1) (220,895) (232,266) (103,385)
Adjustment to fair value — — (1,817)
Net change in fair value (1) (10,524) (1,693) 17,425
Balance at the end of the period $ 463,320 $ 457,296 $ 383,890

(1) Included in "Change in fair value of finance receivables" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net: The Company’s finance receivables measured at amortized cost comprised of its SalaryTap and OppFi
Card finance receivables. In May 2023, the Company reclassified its OppFi Card finance receivables from assets held for sale to held for investment
when the OppFi Card finance receivables no longer met the held for sale
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criteria. As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s OppFi Card finance receivables were classified as assets held for sale, which was included in assets
held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets as of such date.

The components of finance receivables measured at amortized cost were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

2023 2022
Finance receivables $ 454 $ 730
Accrued interest and fees 2 9
Allowance for credit losses (346) (96)
Finance receivables at amortized cost, net $ 110 $ 643

Changes in the allowance for credit losses on finance receivables measured at amortized cost for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 9% $ 803 $ 55,031
Effects of adopting fair value option — — (55,031)
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables 4,348 1,940 929
Finance receivables charged off (4,144) (2,653) (126)
Recoveries of charge offs 46 6 —
Ending balance $ 346 $ 9% $ 803

The following is an assessment of the credit quality of finance receivable measured at amortized cost and presents the recency and contractual
delinquency by year of origination as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023
Revolving charge

2023 2022 2021 accounts Total
Recency delinquency
Current $ — % 35 $ 73 $ 244  $ 352
Delinquency
30-59 days — 3 1 16 20
60-89 days — 1 11 9 21
90+ days — — — 61 61
Total delinquency — 4 12 86 102
Finance receivables $ — $ 39 8 85 $ 330 $ 454
Contractual delinquency
Current $ — % 32 $ 46 $ 244 $ 322
Delinquency
30-59 days — 3 8 16 27
60-89 days — 2 9 9 20
90+ days — 2 22 61 85
Total delinquency — 7 39 86 132
Finance receivables $ — 3 39 $ 85 $ 330 $ 454
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Recency delinquency
Current
Delinquency

30-59 days

60-89 days

90+ days

Total delinquency

Finance receivables

Contractual delinquency
Current
Delinquency

30-59 days

60-89 days

90+ days

Total delinquency

Finance receivables
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December 31, 2022

2022 2021 2020 Total

$ 155 475 $ $ 638
5 40 45

12 35 47

17 75 92

$ 172 550 $ $ 730
$ 148 429 $ $ 585
5 39 44

15 44 59

4 38 42

24 121 145

$ 172 550 $ $ 730

In accordance with the Company’s income recognition policy, finance receivables in non-accrual status as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were

$30 thousand and $0.1 million, respectively.

Note 5. Property, Equipment and Software, Net

Property, equipment and software consisted of the following (in thousands):

lized technology

ire, fixtures and equipment

10ld improvements

roperty, equipment and software
ccumulated depreciation and amortization

>rty, equipment and software, net

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $ 12.7 million, $13.6 million and $10.3 million,

respectively.

Note 6. Accrued Expenses

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

$ 55,406 46,760
3,964 3,680

979 979

60,348 51,419

(50,056) (37,380)

$ 10,299 14,039

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

«d payroll and benefits

|l for services rendered and goods purchased

'd interest

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

$ 8,908 8,646
6,899 8,589
2,794 2,196
3,413 3,789
$ 22,006 23,220
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Note 7. Leases

The Company leases its office facilities under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement with an unrelated party through September 2030. The lease
agreement includes non-lease components, such as common area maintenance and reimbursements for real estate taxes, which are expensed as
incurred as variable lease payments. The lease agreement also includes options to extend or terminate the lease agreement. The Company is not
reasonably certain that it will extend or terminate the lease agreement; as such, lease payments do not take into account these options. The Company’s
lease agreement does not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. In connection with the lease agreement, the
Cfompgx_ny executed a letter of credit in the amount of $1.8 million. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no outstanding balances on the letter
of credit.

On October 10, 2022, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a third-party to sublease one of its office facilities through August 2025. The
sublease agreement includes options for the sublessee to extend or terminate the lease agreement. The Company is not reasonably certain that the
sublessee will extend or terminate the lease agreement; as such, lease payments do not take into account these options. The Company’s sublease
agreement does not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Under the terms of the sublease agreement, the
third-party provides the Company with an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount $0.1 million. The Company is entitled to draw on the letter of credit in
the event of any default under the terms of the sublease agreement. The Company expects to receive $0.9 million over the term of the sublease
agreement. The remaining balances of deferred lease revenue as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $0.5 million and $0.8 million, respectively, which
will be recognized over the remaining lease term of approximately 20 months. The sublease agreement did not relieve the Company of its primary
obligation under its lease agreement. The sublease income to be earned was determined to be less than the costs associated with the primary lease

held by the Company. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment expense of $0.5 million on the lease commencement date to adjust its operating
lease right-of-use asset, which was included in general, administrative and other in the consolidated statement of operations.

In April 2023, the Company entered into a lease agreement under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement with an unrelated party through May 31,
2024. The lease provides for monthly lease payments of $12 thousand. The lease agreement does not include options to extend or terminate the lease
agreement. The Company is not reasonably certain that it will extend or terminate the lease agreement; as such, lease payments do not take into
account these options. The Company'’s lease agreement does not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. The
Company recognized a right-of-use asset of $0.2 million and lease liability of $0.2 million related to this lease agreement.

The components of total lease cost for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in thousands):

2023 2022
Operating lease cost $ 2,347 $ 2,043
Variable lease expense 1,983 2,271
Short-term lease cost 71 98
Sublease income (318) (53)
Total lease cost $ 4,083 $ 4,359

Supplemental cash flow information related to the leases for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in thousands):

2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 2,647 $ 2,271
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities
Operating leases $ 159 $ 465

The aggregate weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 6.7 7.8
Weighted-average discount rate 5 % 5 %
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Future minimum operating leases as of December 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2024 $ 2,470
2025 2,482
2026 2,557
2027 2,633
2028 2,712
Thereafter 4,938
Total lease payments 17,792
Less: imputed interest (2,731)
Operating lease liabilities $ 15,061

Disclosures under ASC 840, Leases

Rent expense, which is included in occupancy expense in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $ 3.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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Note 8. Borrowings

The following is a summary of the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, including borrowing capacity as of
December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Interest Rate as of December

Purpose Borrower Borrowing CapacityDecember 31, 2023December 31, 2022 31, 2023 Maturity Date
1 borrowing payable Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLE $— $— 756 15.00% — @)
debt, net
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC;
Opportunity Funding SPE
/ing line of credit VII, LLC (Tranche A) $ $— $— 37,STFR plus 7.36% April 2024 @
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC
/ing line of credit (Tranche B) 125,000 103,400 121,80FR plus 6.75% June 2026 3)
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC
/ing line of credit (Tranche C) 125,000 37,500 SOFR plus 7.50% July 2027
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC;
SalaryTap Funding SPE,
/ing line of credit LLC — — SOFR plus 0.11% plus B&ds¥Uary 2024 (4)
/ing line of credit Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC 150,000 93,871 91,80FR plus 7.50% December 2026
/ing line of credit Gray Rock SPV LLC 75,000 48,442 44,30FR plus 7.25% April 2025
| revolving lines of credit 475,000 283,213 295,734
1loan, net OppFi-LLC 50,000 49,454 48,BEBOR plus 10.00%  March 2025
:nior debt, net $ 5259800 332,867 344,688
rayable
d insurance premium  OppFi-LLC $ $— $— 1809% July 2023
d insurance premium  OppFi-LLC 1,449 1,449 9740% June 2024
stes payable $ 1849 1849 1,616

M Maturity date as of December 31, 2022 and for the subsequent period until the secured borrowing payable was paid in full and terminated in February 2023.
(@ Maturity date as of December 31, 2022 and for the subsequent period until Tranche A of this revolving line of credit was terminated in July 2023.
(3 Borrower included Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC until the revolving line of credit was amended in July 2023.

ity date as of December 31, 2022 and for the subsequent period until the revolving line of credit was terminated in February 2023.

Secured borrowing payable: During 2017, Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC entered into a preferred return agreement with Midtown Madison
Management LLC. Per the terms of the agreement, the finance receivables are grouped into quarterly pools. Collections are distributed on a pro rate
basis after the payout of expenses to back-up servicer, servicer and other relevant parties. This agreement is secured by the assets of Opportunity
Funding SPE II, LLC. The receivables are transferred to Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC and OppWin LLC by OppFi-LLC, which has provided
representations and warranties in connection with such sale. The agreement is subject to various financial covenants.

During 2018, the preferred return agreement was amended. Opportunity Funding SPE I, LLC sells a 97.5% interest of certain unsecured finance
receivables to the unrelated third party. Per the revised agreement, the unrelated third party earns a preferred return of 15% and a performance fee after
the preferred return has been satisfied. The initial agreement expired August 1, 2018 and was then extended for one year. The agreement provides for
two consecutive options to renew the purchase period for eighteen months. The unrelated third party exercised the first option, which provides a $ 65.0
million purchase commitment by the unrelated third party. After satisfaction of the purchase commitment, the agreement provides for a third option for an
additional $100.0 million purchase commitment.

In May 2020, the preferred return agreement was amended. Midtown Madison Management LLC exercised the option, which provided an additional
$100.0 million purchase commitment, resulting in a total $ 165.0 million purchase commitment by the unrelated third party. Prior to the expiration of the
second option in December 2021, Midtown Madison Management LLC extended the purchase period indefinitely to the time at which Opportunity
Funding SPE Il, LLC purchases equal or exceed the purchase commitment. As of December 31, 2022, $165.0 million of finance receivables had been
purchased with an active secured borrowing balance of $0.8 million.
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On February 16, 2023, the borrowings under this secured borrowing payable were paid in full, of which borrowings totaling $ 0.1 million were forgiven.
Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the preferred return agreement. As of December 31, 2023, there is no secured borrowing balance.

Total interest expense related to secured borrowings, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated
statements of operations, was $10 thousand, $1.3 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Additionally, the Company has capitalized $0.2 million in debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings. For the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, there were no amortized debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings. For the year ended December 31, 2021, amortized debt issuance
costs related to secured borrowing, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of
operations, were $29 thousand. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no unamortized debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings.

Senior debt:
Corporate credit agreement

On August 13, 2018, OppFi-LLC entered into a corporate credit agreement with BMO Harris Bank N.A., which provided a maximum available amount of
$10.0 million. Interest was payable monthly. The facility was secured by OppFi-LLC’s assets and certain brokerage assets made available by the
Schwartz Capital Group (SCG), a related party. The agreement was subject to various financial covenants. On August 6, 2020, the corporate credit
agreement was amended, and the maturity date was extended to February 2022.

On March 23, 2021, the borrowings under this revolving credit agreement were paid in full. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the
revolving credit agreement.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC

On January 23, 2018, Opportunity Funding SPE IlI, LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with Ares Agent Services, L.P. that provides
maximum borrowings of $75.0 million. Interest is payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC. OppFi-
LLC provides certain representations and warranties. The line of credit agreement is subject to a borrowing base threshold and various financial
covenants, including maintaining a minimum tangible net worth and maximum senior debt to equity.

On January 31, 2020, the revolving line of credit agreement was amended to increase the aggregate commitment to $ 175.0 million. The amendment also
changed the interest rate to one-month LIBOR plus 6% with a 2% LIBOR floor. The agreement matures in January 2024.

On December 14, 2022, the borrowings under this revolving credit agreement were paid in full. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the
revolving credit agreement.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC

In April 2019, Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with Midtown Madison Management LLC (“OppFi-LLC
Midtown Credit Agreement”) that provides maximum borrowings of $75.0 million. Interest is payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC. OppFi-LLC provides certain representations and warranties related to the debt. The line of credit agreement is subject
to a borrowing base and various financial covenants, including maintaining a minimum tangible net worth and restrictions related to dividend payments.

On October 13, 2021, OppFi-LLC, certain of the OppFi subsidiaries and the other credit parties and guarantors thereto entered into Amendment No. 6 to
Revolving Credit Agreement and Other Credit Documents (“Atalaya Amendment”), which amends the OppFi-LLC Midtown Credit Agreement. The
Atalaya Amendment amends the OppFi-LLC Midtown Credit Agreement to, among other things, add Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC as an additional
borrower under the OppFi-LLC Midtown Credit Agreement, permit the pledge of OppFi Card receivables under the OppFi-LLC Midtown Credit
Agreement, and extend the maturity date of the OppFi-LLC Midtown Credit Agreement to April 15, 2024.

On June 14, 2022, this revolving credit agreement was amended to, among other things, increase the size of the facility from $ 75.0 million to $200.0
million, and extend the revolving period for an additional three years to June 14, 2025 with a maturity date on June 14, 2026. Under the amendment, this
revolving credit agreement was bifurcated into two tranches: Tranche A, in amount of $75.0 million, and Tranche B, in an amount of $ 125.0 million. The
amendment also replaced the use of Adjusted LIBOR Rate with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”") as the benchmark interest rate for
Tranche B.
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On July 19, 2023, OppFi-LLC and Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement (the “A&R
Credit Agreement”), which amended and restated the revolving credit agreement. The A&R Credit Agreement amended the revolving credit agreement
to, among other things, increase the size of the facility from$200.0 million to $250.0 million, remove Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company and indirect wholly owned subsidiary of OppFi-LLC, as a borrower and remove the concept of pledging OppFi Card receivables
under the A&R Credit Agreement, including removing OppWin Card, LLC as a seller. The $250.0 million of availability under the A&R Credit Agreement is
comprised of $125.0 million under the existing Tranche B and $ 125.0 million under a new Tranche C. In addition, Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC may
request, at any time during the Tranche C commitment period, one (1) increase in the Tranche C committed amount in an amount equal to $25.0 million,
resulting in an aggregate Tranche C commitment equal to $150.0 million. Loans under Tranche C bear interest at the Term Secured Overnight Financing
Rate plus 7.5% with a commitment period until July 19, 2026 and a maturity date of July 19, 2027. A portion of the proceeds of the A&R Credit Agreement
were used to repay in full the outstanding Tranche A loans under the prior revolving credit agreement.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC

In April 2019, Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with Ares Agent Services, L.P. that provides maximum
borrowings of $50.0 million. Interest is payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC. OppFi-LLC provides
certain representations and warranties related to the debt. The line of credit agreement is subject to a borrowing base and various financial covenants,
including maintaining a minimum tangible net worth and restrictions related to dividend payments.

On June 22, 2022, the borrowings under this revolving line of credit agreement were paid in full. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the
revolving credit agreement.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC and SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC

In August 2019, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with BMO Harris Bank N.A. that provides maximum
borrowings of $25.0 million. Interest is payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC. OppFi-LLC provides
certain representations and warranties related to the debt, as well as an unsecured guaranty. The line of credit agreement is subject to a borrowing base
and various financial covenants, including maintaining a minimum tangible net worth and restrictions related to dividend payments.

On September 30, 2021, the revolving line of credit agreement was amended to increase the aggregate commitment to $ 45.0 million. The amended
agreement added SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC as an additional borrower to the facility. SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC pledges SalaryTap receivables as
eligible collateral. The amendment also changed the interest rate from LIBOR plus 4.25% to LIBOR plus 3.85% with a 0.40% LIBOR floor, and the
amended agreement matures in February 2024.

On March 31, 2022, this revolving credit agreement was amended to bear interest in accordance with the SOFR at a per annum rate equal to the
applicable SOFR rate plus a credit spread adjustment of 0.11% plus 3.85%.

On September 1, 2022, this revolving credit agreement was amended to decrease the aggregate commitment from $ 45.0 million to $7.5 million.
On February 15, 2023, the Company terminated the revolving line of credit agreement upon the end of the revolving commitment period.
Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC

On December 14, 2022, Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with UMB Bank N.A. that provides maximum
borrowings of $150.0 million. Interest is payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC. OppFi-LLC
provides certain representations and warrants related to the debt. The line of credit agreement is subject to a borrowing base and various financial
covenants, including maintaining a minimum tangible net worth and restrictions related to dividend payments. This revolving credit agreement to bear
interest in accordance with the SOFR at a per annum rate equal to the applicable SOFR rate plus a credit spread adjustment of 7.50%.

Revolving line of credit - Gray Rock SPV LLC

On April 15, 2022, Gray Rock SPV LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement that provides maximum borrowings of $ 75.0 million. Interest is
payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of Gray Rock SPV LLC. The revolving line of credit agreement contains a financial covenant
restricting dividend payments.
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Term loan, net

In November 2018, OppFi-LLC entered into a $ 25.0 million senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement with Midtown Madison Management LLC
(“OppFi-LLC Midtown Term Loan Agreement”), which is secured by a senior secured claim on OppFi-LLC’s assets and a second lien interest in the
receivables owned by Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC, and Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC. Interest is payable
monthly. The loan agreement is subject to various financial covenants. Per the terms of the loan agreement, OppFi-LLC had issued warrants to the
lender. In April 2020, OppFi-LLC exercised an option to increase the facility commitment amount to $50.0 million.

On March 23, 2021, the senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement was amended to decrease the interest rate from LIBOR plus 14% to LIBOR plus
10% and extend the maturity date to March 23, 2025. On March 30, 2021, OppFi-LLC drew the remaining $ 35.0 million available commitment.

On June 30, 2023, LIBOR was phased out. As such, the senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement is subject to the synthetic LIBOR rates until the
senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement is amended.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the outstanding balances of $ 50.0 million and $50.0 million were net of unamortized debt issuance costs of
$0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively.

Certain of the Company'’s foregoing credit facilities that consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities are subject to provisions that provide for a cross-
default in the event certain covenants under the relevant agreements are breached.

Total interest expense related to the Company’s senior debt, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated
statements of operations, was $44.2 million, $31.4 million and $19.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Additionally, the Company has capitalized $14.0 million and $12.2 million, respectively in debt issuance costs in connection with the Company’s senior
debt for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with the Company’s senior debt, which is included in
interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of operations, were $2.4 million, $2.4 million and $2.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, unamortized debt issuance costs associated with
the Company’s senior debt totaled $4.3 million and $5.1 million of which $3.8 million and $4.0 million related to the revolving line of credit, respectively,
and $0.5 million and $ 1.0 million related to the term loan, respectively.

Notes payable: In March 2022, OppFi entered into a financing agreement for the financing of insurance premiums totaling $ 0.3 million payable in ten
monthly installments of $28 thousand through December 23, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, the borrowing under this note payable was paid in full.

In August 2022, OppFi entered into a financing agreement for the financing of insurance premiums totaling $ 2.9 million payable in eleven monthly
installments of $0.3 million through July 15, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the borrowing under this note payable was paid in full.

In August 2023, OppFi entered into a financing agreement for the financing of insurance premiums totaling $ 2.4 million payable in ten monthly
installments of $0.2 million through June 15, 2024.

Total interest expense related to notes payable, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements
of operations, was $0.1 million and $44 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Other debt: On April 13, 2020, OppFi-LLC obtained an unsecured loan in the amount of $ 6.4 million from BMO Harris Bank N.A. in connection with the
U.S. Small Business Administration’s (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP Loan”). Pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program, all or a portion
of the PPP Loan was forgivable if OppFi used the proceeds of the PPP Loan for its payroll costs and other expenses in accordance with the
requirements of the Paycheck Protection Program. OppFi-LLC used the proceeds of the PPP Loan for payroll costs and other covered expenses. On
November 14, 2020, OppFi-LLC submitted the forgiveness application to the SBA.

On September 13, 2021, the Company was notified that the SBA had forgiven repayment of the entire PPP Loan, which consisted of $ 6.4 million in
principal and $0.1 million of accrued interest. The Company recorded the entire amount of the forgiven principal and accrued interest as other income in
its statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2021. The SBA reserves the right to audit any PPP Loan, for eligibility and other criteria,
regardless of size. These audits may occur after forgiveness has been granted. In accordance with the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security
Act (“CARES Act"), all borrowers are required to maintain their PPP loan documentation for six years after the PPP Loan was forgiven and to provide that
documentation to the SBA upon request.
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As of December 31, 2023, required payments for all borrowings, excluding revolving lines of credit, for each of the next five years are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Amount

2024 $ 1,449

2025 50,000

2026 —

2027 —

2028 —
Total $ 51,449

Note 9. Warrants

Warrant units: In November 2018, in conjunction with OppFi-LLC entering into a senior secured multi-draw term loan, OppFi-LLC issued warrant units to
the lender.

Prior to the Closing, the lender exercised the warrant units; accordingly, the warrant unit liability was remeasured to fair value. The fair value of the
warrant unit liability was $5.5 million and was reclassified to additional paid-in capital. After the lender exercised the warrant units, there were no warrant
units outstanding thereafter.

Public Warrants: As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 11,887,500 Public Warrants outstanding. Each whole Public Warrant entitles the
registered holder to purchase one whole share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $ 11.50 per share. Pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, a holder of
Public Warrants may exercise its warrants only for a whole number of shares of Class A Common Stock. This means that only a whole warrant may be
exercised at any given time by a warrant holder. The Public Warrants will expire on July 20, 2026, five years after the Closing Date, at 5:00 p.m., New
York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Company may redeem the Public Warrants under the following conditions:

In whole and not in part;

At a price of $0.01 per warrant;

Upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption (“30-day redemption period”) to each warrant holder; and

If, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $ 18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-
trading day period ending three business days before the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

The last of the redemption criterion discussed above prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a significant premium to the exercise
price of the Public Warrants. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and the Company issues a notice of redemption of the Public Warrants, each warrant
holder will be entitled to exercise its warrant prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the Class A Common Stock may fall below the
$18.00 redemption trigger price (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) as well as the $ 11.50 warrant
exercise price after the redemption notice is issued.

Private Placement Warrants: As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 3,451,937 Private Placement Warrants outstanding, all of which are non-
redeemable and may be exercised on a cashless basis so long as they continue to be held by their initial holders or their permitted transferees. The
Private Placement Warrants are comprised of 2,539,437 warrants to purchase Class A Common Stock at $ 11.50 per share (“$11.50 Exercise Price
Warrants”) and 912,500 warrants to purchase Class A Common Stock at $ 15.00 per share (“$15 Exercise Price Warrants”). The $11.50 Exercise Price
Warrants expire simultaneously with the Public Warrants, except for certain of the $11.50 Exercise Price Warrants held by underwriters in the IPO
(“Underwriter Warrants”) that expire on September 29, 2025 so long as they continue to be held by their initial holders or their permitted transferees. The
$15 Exercise Price Warrants expire on July 20, 2031, ten years after the Closing Date, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, so long as they continue to be
held by their initial holders or their permitted transferees, and otherwise expire simultaneously with the Public Warrants.

Warrant liabilities: The Company recorded warrant liabilities of $6.9 million and $1.9 million in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. The fair value of the Public Warrants increased by $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and decreased by
$6.9 million and $19.3 million, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
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2021, respectively. The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants increased by $ 1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and decreased by
$2.5 million and $7.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity

Prior to the Business Combination, OppFi-LLC had two classes of partnership interests, preferred units and profit unit interests, which were recapitalized
as OppFi Units in connection with the adoption by the Members of the OppFi A&R LLCA immediately prior to the Closing. The preferred units are
reflected as OppFi-LLC’s historical members’ equity in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity/members’ equity.

Preferred stock: OppFi is authorized to issue 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. OppFi's Board of Directors has
the authority to issue shares of preferred stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time.

Class A Common Stock: OppFi is authorized to issue 379,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. Holders of
Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share. Additionally, Class A Common Stock is defined as “Economic Common Stock,” and
holders are entitled to receive dividends and other distributions (payable in cash, property, or capital stock of the Company) when, as and if declared
thereon by OppFi's Board of Directors from time to time out of any assets or funds of the Company legally available therefor and share equally on a per
share basis in such dividends and distributions.

Class B Common Stock: OppFi is authorized to issue 6,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. Holders of
Class B Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share. Class B Common Stock is defined as Economic Common Stock and holders are entitled
to receive the same dividends and other distributions as Class A Common Stock. All shares of Class B Common Stock were converted into Class A
Common Stock at the Closing.

Class V Voting Stock: OppFi is authorized to issue 115,000,000 shares of Class V Voting Stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. Class V Voting
Stock represents voting, non-economic interests in OppFi. Holders of Class V Voting Stock are entitled to one vote for each share.

Share repurchase: On January 6, 2022, OppFi announced that its Board of Directors (“Board”) had authorized a program to repurchase (“Repurchase
Program”) up to $20.0 million in the aggregate of shares of Class A Common Stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made from
time to time, on the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the management of the Company and in
accordance with the limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and other applicable legal
requirements. The timing and amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements. The Repurchase Program does not
obligate the Company to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the Repurchase Program may be extended, modified, suspended, or
discontinued at any time. For each share of Class A Common Stock that the Company repurchases under the Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC will
redeem one Class A common unit of OppFi-LLC held by OppFi, decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by OppFi and relatively increasing
the ownership by the Members. The Repurchase Program expired on December 31, 2023.

There were no repurchase activities during the year ended December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, OppFi repurchased 703,914
shares of Class A Common Stock at an average purchase price of $3.47 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $2.5 million. These shares are held
as treasury stock as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, $17.5 million of the repurchase authorization under the Repurchase Program
remained available.

Earnout Units: In connection with the Closing, 25,500,000 Retained OppFi Units (“Earnout Units”) held by the Members, and an equal number of shares
of Class V Voting Stock distributed to OFS in connection with the Business Combination, are subject to certain restrictions and potential forfeiture pending
the achievement (if any) of certain earnout targets pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement. But for restrictions related to a lock-up
(transfer restrictions) and forfeiture (earnout criteria), as such restrictions are more specifically set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement entered into at
the Closing, by and among the Company, certain founder holders of FGNA, the Members, the Members’ Representative and certain other parties thereto
and/or the OppFi A&R LLCA, as applicable, the Earnout Units have all other economic and voting rights of the other units of OppFi-LLC. With respect to
transfers, the Earnout Units are subject to a lock-up until the later of the end of the lock-up period applicable to other OppFi Units or until such Earnout
Units are earned in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement. With respect to distributions (other than tax distributions, which in respect of
such Earnout Units are treated the same as any other OppFi Unit in accordance with the OppFi A&R LLCA) in relation to the Earnout Units, such
distributions (other than tax distributions) are held back until the Earnout Units are earned. If an Earnout Unit is not earned, and therefore forfeited,
related distributions are distributed to the other holders of units at such time. Earnout Units are earned as follows:
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1) if, on or any time prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, the volume weighted average price (“VWAP") equals or exceeds
twelve dollars ($12.00) per share for twenty (20) trading days of any thirty (30) consecutive trading day period following the Closing, thirty-three
and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such
event;

2) if, on or any time prior to the third (3rd) year anniversary of the Closing Date, the VWAP equals or exceeds thirteen dollars ($ 13.00) per share
for twenty (20) trading days of any thirty (30) consecutive trading day period following the Closing, thirty-three and one third percent ( 33.3%) of
each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event;

3) if, on or any time prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, the VWAP equals or exceeds fourteen dollars ($ 14.00) per share for
twenty (20) trading days of any thirty (30) consecutive trading day period following the Closing, thirty-three and one third percent ( 33.3%) of each
of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event; and

4) if a definitive agreement with respect to a change of control as defined in the Business Combination Agreement (“Change of Control”) is
entered into on or prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, then, effective as of immediately prior to closing of such Change of
Control, (A) thirty-three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer
subject to each such event if the price per share payable to the holders of Class A common stock in connection with such Change of Control is
equal to or exceeds twelve dollars ($12.00), (B) an additional thirty-three and one third percent ( 33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and
the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event if the price per share payable to the holders of Class A common
stock in connection with such Change of Control is equal to or exceeds thirteen dollars ($13.00), and (C) an additional thirty-three and one third
percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event if the price
per share payable to the holders of Class A common stock in connection with such Change of Control is equal to or exceeds fourteen dollars
($14.00).

Earnout Units are classified as equity transactions at initial issuance and at settlement when earned. Until the shares are issued and earned, the Earnout
Units are not included in shares outstanding. The Earnout Units are not considered stock-based compensation.

Note 11. Stock-Based Compensation

On July 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”), which provides for the grant of awards in the form of
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other
stock-based awards to employees, non-employee directors, officers, and consultants. As of December 31, 2023, the maximum aggregate number of
shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the Plan was 17,257,521 shares. The maximum aggregate number of shares is subject to
annual increases, which began on January 1, 2022, and continues on the first day of each subsequent fiscal year through and including the tenth
anniversary of the commencement of the initial annual increase, equal to the lesser of two percent of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock
outstanding at the conclusion of the Company’s immediately preceding fiscal year, or an amount determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company had only granted awards in the form of options, restricted stock units, and performance stock units.

Stock options: Under the terms of the Plan, incentive stock options must have an exercise price at or above the fair market value of the stock on the
date of the grant. Stock options granted have service-based vesting conditions only. Stock options generally vest over four years with 25% of stock
options vesting on the first anniversary of the grant and the remaining 75% vesting quarterly over the remaining 36 months. Option holders have a 10-
year period to exercise the options before they expire. Stock options that are not vested and exercisable on the date of a participant’s termination
generally expire on such date. Stock options that are vested and exercisable on the date of a participant’s termination are generally forfeited 90 days
following the participant’s termination date. Forfeitures are recognized during the period in which they occur.
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A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Aggregate Intrinsic

(in thousands, except share and per share data) Stock Options Exercise Price Life (Years) Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1,978,972 % 12.99 8.7% —
Granted — — — —
Exercised (18,651) 3.17 — —
Forfeited (118,129) 4.21 — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1,842,192% 13.65 76% 450
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2023 1,384,570 % 14.44 76% 169

Compensation expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is the requisite service period, beginning on the grant date.
The compensation expense is based on the fair value of each option grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as salaries
and employee benefits expense in the consolidated statements of operations and an increase to additional paid-in capital.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized stock-based compensation of $ 0.6 million, $0.1 million and
$0.9 million, respectively, related to stock options. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation of $ 0.9 million
related to unvested stock options that is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years.

The Company did not grant stock options during the year ended December 31, 2023. The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $2.33 and $2.45, respectively. The fair value of each option grant during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The range of assumptions was as follows:

2022 2021
Volatility 60.00% - 65.00% 32.50 %
Risk-free rate 1.71% - 3.02% 0.91% - 1.25%
Expected term 6.1 years 5.1-6.1years
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 %

Volatility is the measure by which the Company’s stock price is expected to fluctuate during the expected life of the stock options. Due to the lack of
company-specific market data, volatility is based on an estimate of expected volatilities of a representative group of publicly traded companies.

Risk-free rate is based on U.S. Treasury Note yields.
Expected term represents the weighted-average period over which the granted stock options are expected to remain outstanding.
Dividend yield is based on the Company’s history and expectation of dividend payments.

Cash received from the exercise of stock options during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $ 59 thousand. The total intrinsic value of the stock
option exercised during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $13 thousand. There were no stock options exercised during the years ended
December 2022 and 2021.

Restricted stock units: Under the terms of the Plan, the Company may grant awards to employees, officers and directors in the form of restricted stock
units (“RSUs"), which collectively represent contingent rights to receive shares of Class A Common Stock. The RSUs granted to employees and officers
generally vest over four years with 25% of the RSUs vesting on the first anniversary of the grant and the remaining 75% vesting quarterly over the
remaining 36 months, and the RSUs granted to directors vest on the earlier of the one-year anniversary of grant or the date of the Company’s next
annual meeting of stockholders.
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A summary of the Company’s RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2022 2,174,842 % 4.23
Granted 754,642 2.35
Vested (883,788) 4.05
Forfeited (276,885) 3.78
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 1,768,811 % 3.45

If the settlement date with respect to any Class A Common Stock shares issuable upon vesting of RSUs would otherwise occur on a day on which the
sale of such shares would violate the provisions of the Company’s Trading Compliance Policy, then the settlement date shall be deferred until the next
trading day on which the sale of such shares would not violate the Trading Compliance Policy. In any event, the settlement date shall be no later than the
fifteenth day of the third calendar month following the year in which such RSUs vest.

The fair value of each RSU is based on the fair value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. The related stock-based
compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards, and forfeitures are recognized during the
period in which they occur.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized stock-based compensation of $ 3.2 million, $2.8 million and $1.5
million, respectively, related to RSUs. As of December 31, 2023 total unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs was $5.3 million which will be
recognized over a weighted-average vesting period of approximately 2.3 years.

Performance stock units: Under the terms of the Plan, the Company may grant awards to employees, officers, and directors in the form of performance
stock units (“PSUs”), which collectively represent the contingent rights to receive shares of Class A Common Stock based on the achievement of pre-
established performance targets over the applicable performance period. PSUs generally vest over four years, provided the achievement of specified
performance targets.

A summary of the Company’s PSU activity for year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2022 329,738% 3.46
Granted — —
Vested (72,877) 3.60
Performance adjustment ® (129,026) 3.34
Forfeited — —
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 127,835% 3.42

(1) This represents adjustments made to PSUs reflecting changes in estimates based upon our current performance against predefined financial targets.

The fair value of each PSU is based on the fair value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. The related stock-based
compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards based on management’s determination of
the probable achievement of the pre-established performance targets. If necessary, the Company adjusts the expense recognized to reflect the actual
vested shares following the final determination of the achievement of the pre-established performance targets. PSU forfeitures are recognized during the
period in which they occur.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized stock-based compensation of $ 0.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.1
million, respectively, related to PSUs. As of December 31, 2023 total unrecognized compensation expense related to PSUs was $0.2 million which will be
recognlzed over a weighted-average vesting period of approxmately 2.3 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: On July 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (‘ESPP”). The ESPP
permits eligible employees to contribute up to 10% of their compensation, not to exceed the IRS allowable limit, to purchase shares of the Company’s
Class A Common Stock during six month offerings. Eligible employees will purchase the shares at a price per share equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair
market value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the first trading day of the offering period or the last trading day of the offering period. The
offering periods
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begin each January 1 and July 1, with the initial offering period beginning on January 1, 2022. As of December 31, 2023, the maximum aggregate
number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the ESPP was 1,483,919 and may consist of authorized but unissued or
reacquired shares of Class A Common Stock. The maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the ESPP
shall be cumulatively increased on January 1, 2022 and on each subsequent January 1, through and including January 1, 2030, by a number of shares
equal to the smallest of (a) one percent of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding
December 31, (b) 2,400,000 shares, or (c) an amount determined by the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2023, there were 234,249 shares of
Class A Common Stock purchased under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2022, 44,627 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock had been
purchased under the ESPP.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, ESPP employee payroll contributions accrued of $ 0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, are included within
accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. Payroll contributions accrued as of December 31, 2023 will be used to purchase shares at the end
of the ESPP offering period ending on December 31, 2023. Payroll contributions ultimately used to purchase shares are reclassified to stockholders’
equity on the purchase date.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized ESPP compensation expense of $ 0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Profit unit interests: Prior to the Business Combination, OppFi-LLC issued profit unit interests, which were recapitalized as OppFi Units in connection
with the adoption by the Members of the OppFi A&R LLCA immediately prior to the Closing.

Total profit interest compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $ 0.5 million.

The compensation expense accounted for all vested units based on the following assumptions:

Expected term 3 years
Volatility 68.0 %
Discount for lack of marketability 45.0 %
Risk free rate 0.2%

The following table summarizes the Company’s profit unit interests activity:

Average
Fair Value
Units at Grant Date
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 12,202,135 0.08
Granted — —
Forfeited (591,078) 0.10
Exchanged in reverse recapitalization (11,611,057) 0.08
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 — —
The following table summarizes the Company’s non-vested units activity:
Average
Fair Value
Units at Grant Date
Non-vested units at December 31, 2020 4,738,333 0.12
Granted — _
Vested (2,933,300) 0.08
Forfeited (591,078) 0.10
Exchanged in reverse recapitalization (1,213,955) 0.22

Non-vested units at December 31, 2021

Subsequent to the Business Combination, there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to profit unit interests.

Note 12. Income Taxes

The Company is the sole managing member of OppFi-LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of OppFi-LLC. OppFi-LLC is treated as a

partnership for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As a
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partnership, OppFi-LLC is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by OppFi-LLC is
passed through to and included in the taxable income or loss of its members, including OppFi, on a pro rata basis. OppFi is subject to U.S. federal
income taxes, in addition to state and local income taxes with respect to its allocable share of any taxable income or loss of OppFi-LLC, as well as any

stand-alone income or loss generated by OppFi.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $ 2.3 million and reported consolidated income before taxes of $ 41.8
million, resulting in a 5.6% effective income tax rate. For the year ended December 31, 2022, OppFi recorded an income tax benefit of $ 0.3 million and
reported consolidated income before taxes of 3.1 million, resulting in a negative 9.0% effective income tax rate. For the year ended December 31, 2021,
OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $0.3 million and reported consolidated income before taxes of 90.1 million, resulting in a 0.3% effective income
tax rate. Prior to the Closing Date, OppFi-LLC was classified as a partnership for income tax purposes, and was therefore not subject to federal income

tax and did not record an expense for income taxes.

The following table summarizes income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

Federal income taxes:
Current
Deferred

State income taxes:
Current
Deferred

Income tax expense (benefit)

2023 2022 2021
$ 27 $ — $ ()]
1,058 (350) (225)
480 312 582
766 (239) (42)
$ 2331 $ (277) $ 311

The following table summarizes the differences between the effective income tax rate and the federal statutory income tax rate of 21% for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (dollars in thousands):

2022 2021
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage

Federal income taxes at

statutory rate $ 8,780 21.0 % $ 643 21.0 % $ 18,922 21.0 %
State tax expense, net of

federal income tax benefit 1,239 3.0 % 73 24 % 549 0.6 %
Fair market value adjustment of 1,045 25 % (1,964) 64.1) % (5,545) 6.2) %
Effect of flow-through entity (8,831) (21.1) % 981 320 % (13,615) (15.1) %
Other 98 0.2 % (10) (0.3) % — — %
Total $ 2,331 56 % $ (277) (9.0) % $ 311 03 %

OppFi's effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 differs from the federal statutory income tax rate of 21%
primarily due to the noncontrolling interest in the Up-C partnership structure, warrant fair market value fluctuations, and state income taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between financial statement and tax bases using enacted tax rates in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The components of deferred taxes were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

Investment in partnership

Tax receivable agreement liability
Net operating loss

Intangibles

Stock compensation

Other

Deferred tax asset

2023 2022
$ 15921 $ 16,239
5,891 6,195
3,275 3,603
523 580
105 82
62 60
$ 25777 $ 26,758
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As of December 31, 2023, OppFi had approximately $ 13.7 million of federal net operating loss carryovers and $ 8.2 million of state net operating loss
carryovers. As of December 31, 2022, OppFi had approximately $14.9 million of federal net operating loss carryovers and $ 9.1 million of state net
operating loss carryovers. The entirety of the federal net operating loss carryover has no expiration date and the state net operating loss carryovers will
expire in varying amounts beginning in 2027.

At the time of the Business Combination, OppFi recorded a deferred tax asset of $ 18.9 million with an offset to additional paid-in capital for the difference
between the book value and the tax basis of OppFi's investment in OppFi-LLC. As of December 31, 2023, the related deferred tax asset was $15.9
million. The decrease was due to additional differences between the book and taxable income in 2023. Based on the Company’s cumulative earnings
history and forecasted future sources of taxable income, the Company believes that it will be able to realize the deferred tax assets in the future. As the
Company reassesses this position in the future, changes in cumulative earnings history, excluding non-recurring charges, or changes to forecasted
taxable income may alter this expectation and may result in an increase in the valuation allowance and an increase in the effective tax rate.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company entered into the TRA, which provides for payment to the Members of 90% of the U.S.
federal, state and local income tax savings realized by the Company as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits related to the
transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi Units for Class A Common Stock or cash.
The Company has in effect an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code and will have such an election effective for each taxable year in
which a redemption or exchange (including deemed exchange) of OppFi-LLC interests for shares of Class A Common Stock or cash occurs. The
Company will retain the benefit of the remaining 10% of these cash savings. For the period from the Closing Date through December 31, 2023, the TRA
liability decreased by $0.6 million related to exchanges that occurred during that period. The lower expected benefit of the TRA payments resulted in a
decrease of the deferred tax asset of $0.3 million, with a net offsetting entry to additional paid-in capital.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, OppFi had unrecognized tax benefit of $ 38 thousand and $20 thousand, respectively, related to research and
development credits allocated from OppFi-LLC. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be
more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2023 and
2022. The Company is currently not aware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviation from its
position. The Company is subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities since inception.

The following table summarizes the change in unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2023 2022
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of the year $ 20 $ =
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 19 20
Additions for tax positions of prior years — —
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 1) —
Settlements with taxing authorities — —
Other, net — —
Net change in unrecognized tax benefits 18 20
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of the year $ 38 $ 20

Note 13. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value on a nonrecurring basis: As of December 31, 2023, the Company has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis;
that is, the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances. As of
December 31, 2022, the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis included assets held for sale. Assets held for
sale were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis using Level 3 inputs.

Fair value measurement on a recurring basis: Effective January 1, 2021, the Company elected the fair value option to account for its installment
finance receivables and measures the installment finance receivables at fair value on a recurring basis. Prior to the Business Combination, OppFi-LLC
only had warrant units that were measured at fair market value on a
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recurring basis. Subsequent to the Business Combination, the Company measures the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants at fair value on

a recurring basis.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in

thousands):
Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets:
Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and
fees receivable @ $ 445255  $ — $ 445,255
Financial liabilities:
Warrant liability - Public Warrants @ 4,636 4,636 —
Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants ) 2,228 — 2,228
Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets:
Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and
fees receivable © $ 441,496 $ —  $ $ 441,496
Financial liabilities:
Warrant liability - Public Warrants ) 1,189 1,189 —
Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants ) 699 — 699

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers of assets or liabilities in or out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

® The Company primarily estimates the fair value of its installment finance receivables portfolio using discounted cash flow models that have been internally )
developed. The models use inputs that are unobservable but reflect the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a market participant would use to calculate fair

value.

The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s installment finance receivables fair value

measurements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Interest rate on finance receivables 156.15 %
Discount rate 26.34 %
Servicing cost* 2.96 %
Remaining life 0.60 years
Default rate* 25.63 %
Accrued interest* 4.34 %
Prepayment rate* 20.90 %

*Stated as a percentage of finance receivables

152.39 %
25.89 %
5.01 %
0.59 years
20.27 %
3.93 %
21.33 %

@ The fair value measurement for the Public Warrants is categorized as Level 1 due to the use of an observable market quote in an active market under the ticker OPFI WS.

@) The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants is measured using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model; accordingly, the fair value measurement for the Private Placement

Warrants is categorized as Level 3.
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The following table presents the significant assumptions used in the simulation at December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
$11.50 Exercise $15 Exercise $11.50 Exercise $15 Exercise

Price Warrants Price Warrants Price Warrants Price Warrants
Risk-free interest rate 4.07 % 3.84% 411% 3.88%
Expected term (years) 2.6 years 7.6 years 3.5 years 8.5 years
Expected volatility 44.10 % 44.10 % 53.90 % 53.90 %
Exercise price $ 11.50 $ 15.00 $ 11.50 $ 15.00
Fair value of warrants $ 0.41 $ 1.30 $ 0.11 $ 0.46

The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants (in thousands):

$11.50 Exercise $15 Exercise
Price Warrants Price Warrants Total
Fair value as of December 31, 2021 $ 1879 $ 1,278 $ 3,157
Change in fair value (1,600) (858) (2,458)
Fair value as of December 31, 2022 279 420 699
Change in fair value 762 767 1,529
Fair value as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,041 $ 1,187 $ 2,228

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value : The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair values of financial assets
and liabilities disclosed but not carried at fair value and the level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Cash $ 31,791 $ 31,791 % — 3 —

Restricted cash 42,152 42,152 — —

Accrued interest and fees receivable 18,065 18,065 — —

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net 110 — — 110

Settlement receivable 1,904 1,904 — —
Liabilities:

Senior debt, net 332,667 — — 332,667

Notes payable 1,449 — — 1,449
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Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Cash $ 16,239 $ 16,239 $ — 3 —

Restricted cash 33,431 33,431 — —

Accrued interest and fees receivable 15,800 15,800 — —

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net 643 — — 643

Settlement receivable 2,000 2,000 — —

Assets held for sale 550 — — 550
Liabilities:

Secured borrowing payable 756 — — 756

Senior debt, net 344,688 — — 344,688

Notes payable 1,616 — — 1,616

Note 14. Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions

Legal contingencies: Due to the nature of its business activities, the Company is subject to extensive regulations and legal actions and is currently
involved in certain legal proceedings, including class action allegations, and regulatory matters, which arise in the normal course of business. In
accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for legal proceedings and regulatory matters when those
matters present loss contingencies which are both probable and reasonably estimable.

The Company has received inquiries from certain agencies and states on its lending compliance, the validity of the bank partnership model, and its ability
to facilitate the servicing of bank originated loans. Management is confident that its lending practices and the bank partnership structure, in addition to the
Company'’s technologies, services, and overall relationship with its bank partners, complies with state and federal laws. However, the inquiries are still in
process and the outcome is unknown at this time.

The Company is vigorously defending all legal proceedings and regulatory matters. Except as described below, management does not believe that the
resolution of any currently pending legal proceedings and regulatory matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

On November 18, 2021, the Company entered into a Consent Judgement and Order (“Settlement”) with the Attorney General of the District of Columbia
(“District”) to resolve all matters in a dispute related to the action previously filed against the Company by the District (“Action”). The Company denies the
allegations in the Action and denies that it has violated any law or engaged in any deceptive or unfair practices. The Action was resolved to avoid the
expense of protracted litigation. As part of the Settlement, the Company agreed to, among other things, refrain from certain business activities in the
District of Columbia, pay $0.3 million to the District of Columbia and provide refunds totaling $ 1.5 million to certain District of Columbia consumers. As of
December 31, 2021, unpaid refunds due to certain District of Columbia consumers totaled $1.5 million. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company distributed refunds totaling $1.5 million to the District of Columbia consumers and there were no unpaid refunds due as of December 31, 2022.
The Company has fulfilled all terms of the Settlement as of December 31, 2022.

On March 7, 2022, the Company filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief (“Complaint”) against the Commissioner (in her official capacity) of
the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation of the State of California (“Defendant”) in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of
Los Angeles, Central Division (“Court”). The Complaint seeks a declaration that the interest rate caps set forth in the California Financing Law, as
amended by the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539 (“CFL"), do not apply to loans that are originated by the Company'’s federally-insured state-
chartered bank partners and serviced through the Company’s technology and service platform pursuant to a contractual arrangement with each such
bank (“Program”). The Complaint further seeks injunctive relief against the Defendant, preventing the Defendant from enforcing interest rate caps under
the CFL against the Company based on activities related to the Program. On April 8, 2022, the Defendant filed a cross-complaint against the Company
attempting to enforce the CFL against the Company and, among other things, void loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-
chartered bank partners through the Program in California and seek financial penalties against the Company. On October 17, 2022, the Company filed a
cross-complaint against the Defendant seeking declaratory relief for issuing an underground regulation to
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determine the “true lender” under the CFL without complying with California’s Administrative Procedures Act. On January 30, 2023, the Commissioner
filed a motion for a preliminary injunction seeking to enjoin the Company from providing services to FinWise in connection with loans made to California
consumers to the extent that such loans are in excess of California’s interest rate caps. On September 26, 2023, the Court sustained the Commissioner’s
demurrer to the Company’s cross-complaint with leave to amend. On October 26, 2023, the Company filed its amended cross-complaint. On October 30,
2023, the Commissioner’s motion for preliminary injunction was denied. On November 27, 2023, the Commissioner filed their answer to the Company’s
cross-complaint. The Company intends to continue to aggressively prosecute the claims set forth in the Complaint and vigorously defend itself and its
position as the matter proceeds through the court process. The Company believes that the Defendant’s position is without merit as explained in the
Company’s initial Complaint.

On July 20, 2023, a stockholder filed a putative class action complaint in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (Case No. 2023-0737) on behalf
of a purported class of Company stockholders naming certain of FGNA'’s former directors and officers and its controlling stockholder, FG New America
Investors, LLC (the “Sponsor”), as defendants. The lawsuit alleges that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the stockholders of FGNA
stemming from FGNA’s merger with OppFi-LLC and that the defendants were unjustly enriched. The lawsuit seeks, among other relief, unspecified
damages, redemption rights, and attorneys’ fees. Neither the Company nor any of the Company’s current officers or directors are parties to the lawsuit.
The Company is obligated to indemnify certain of the defendants in the action. The Company has tendered defense of this action under its directors’ and
officers' insurance policy. Due to the early stage of this case, neither the likelihood that a loss, if any, will be realized, nor an estimate of the possible loss
or range of loss, if any, can be determined.

Related party transactions: OppFi-LLC previously had an unsecured line of credit agreement with SCG with a maximum available amount of $ 4.0
million, which was paid in full on March 30, 2021. There were no interest expense related to this related transaction for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022. Interest expense related to this related party transaction was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

In August 2020, OppFi-LLC entered into a Management Fee Agreement (“Management Fee Agreement”) with SCG. Pursuant to the terms of the
Management Fee Agreement, SCG provided board and advisory services. Effective upon the Closing, OppFi-LLC terminated the Management Fee
Agreement and incurred $3.0 million in transaction costs, which has been offset against additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheets.
There were no management fees under the Management Fee Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, management fees under the Management Fee Agreement totaled $0.4 million.

In connection with the Business Combination, OppFi entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the Members and the Members’ Representative
(the “Tax Receivable Agreement”). The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for payment to the Members of 90% of the U.S. federal, state and local
income tax savings realized by the Company as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits related to the transactions
contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi Units for Class A Common Stock or cash.

Christopher McKay is one of our executive officers. Mr. McKay’s daughter is an employee whose employment with the Company predates Mr. McKay's
designation as an executive officer in 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2023, Ms. McKay's total compensation was approximately $133 thousand.
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, Ms. McKay's total compensation did not exceed $120 thousand. These compensation arrangements
are consistent with those made available to other employees of the Company with similar years of experience and positions. Ms. McKay also participated
in the Company’s benefit plans available to all other employees in similar positions.

Note 15. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of finance receivables. As of
December 31, 2023, consumers living primarily in Texas, Florida and Virginia made up approximately 16%, 12% and 11%, respectively, of the gross
amount of the Company'’s portfolio of finance receivables. As of December 31, 2023, there were no other states that made up more than 10% or more of
the gross amount of the Company’s portfolio of finance receivables. As of December 31, 2022, consumers living primarily in Texas, Florida and Virginia
made up approximately 14%, 13%, and 11%, respectively, of the gross amount of the Company’s portfolio of finance receivables. Furthermore, such
consumers’ ability to honor their installment contracts may be affected by economic conditions in these areas. The Company is also exposed to a
concentration of credit risk inherent in providing alternate financing programs to borrowers who cannot obtain traditional bank financing.

Note 16. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan (“401(k) Plan”) for its employees. Full time employees (except certain non-resident aliens) and others,
as defined in the plan document, who are age 21 and older are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) Plan participants may elect to
contribute a portion of their eligible compensation to the 401(k) Plan. The
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Company has elected a matching contribution up to 4% on eligible employee compensation. The Company’s contribution, which is included in salaries
and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $1.5 million, $1.5 million, and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Note 17. (Loss) Earnings Per Share

Prior to the reverse recapitalization in connection with the Closing, all net income was attributable to the noncontrolling interest. For the periods prior to
July 20, 2021, earnings per share was not calculated because net income prior to the Business Combination was attributable entirely to OppFi-LLC.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in

thousands, except share and per share data):

Numerator:
Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc.

Net (loss) income available to Class A common stockholders - Basic
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Income tax benefit (expense)

Net (loss) income available to Class A common stockholders - Diluted
Denominator:
Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding - Basic
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options

Restricted stock units

Performance stock units

Warrants

Employee stock purchase plan

Retained OppFi Units, excluding Earnout Units

Dilutive potential common shares

Weighted average units outstanding - diluted
(Loss) earnings per share:

Basic EPS

Diluted EPS

2023 2022 2021
$ (1,005) $ 7,008 $ 25,554
(1,005) 7,098 25,554

— (3,758) 19,271

= 908 (4,626)

$ (1,005) $ 4248 $ 40,199
16,391,199 13,913,626 13,218,119

— 105,928 8,930

— 9,492 —

— 2,551 —

— 70,224,487 71,246,990

— 70,342,458 71,255,920

16,391,199 84,256,084 84,474,039

$ 0.06) $ 051 $ 1.93
$ 0.06) $ 0.05 $ 0.48

The following table presents securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would have been anti-

dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

Public Warrants

Private Unit Warrants

$11.50 Exercise Price Warrants

$15 Exercise Price Warrants
Underwriter Warrants

Stock Options

Restricted stock units

Performance stock units
Noncontrolling interest - Earnout Units
Noncontrolling interest - OppFi Units

Potential common stock

2023 2022 2021
11,887,500 11,887,500 11,887,500
231,250 231,250 231,250
2,248,750 2,248,750 2,248,750
912,500 912,500 912,500
59,437 59,437 59,437
1,922,473 2,128,503 3,375,000
2,006,596 1,847,291 1,766,714
183,526 247,565 78,907
25,500,000 25,500,000 25,500,000
68,357,926 — —
113,309,958 45,062,796 46,060,058
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Note 18. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated the impact of events that have occurred through the date these financial statements were issued and identified the following
event that require disclosure.

Borrowings:

The Company was in breach of a collateral performance trigger in its revolving credit agreement with UMB Bank, N.A. as of the reporting dates occurring
in December 2023 and January 2024. The Company obtained waivers from the lenders waiving any default or event of default resulting from the
breaches. On March 19, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment (the “First Amendment”) to the revolving credit agreement with UMB Bank, N.A.
The First Amendment, among other things, removed the specific collateral performance trigger that the Company had previously been out of compliance
with.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENT WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2023 (“Evaluation Date”). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the material weakness in its
internal control over financial reporting described below.

Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Notwithstanding the material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting described below, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the consolidated financial statements of the Company as included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the
periods presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act and based upon the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO framework”). The Company’s internal control over financial reporting
is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect all misstatements. Effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, management has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the COSO
framework. Based on evaluation under these criteria, management determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not
effective as of December 31, 2023 due to the existence of the previously reported material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to
information technology general controls (“ITGCs”) associated with the Company’s financially relevant information systems. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As previously disclosed in Part
I, Item 9A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, management determined that the Company’s user
access controls designed to ensure appropriate segregation of duties, adequate restriction of users and privileged access to the Company'’s financially
relevant information systems were not operating effectively. As previously disclosed in Part |, Item 4 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the period ended September 30, 2023, management also determined that the Company’s user access control designed to ensure appropriate
segregation of duties was not designed effectively. Management believes that compensating controls are in place and operating effectively to mitigate the
risks associated with the identified material weakness as it is being remediated (as described below).

Remediation Plan for Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is committed to remediating the material weakness described above as promptly as possible. Management believes that certain of the
controls in question are designed effectively and that these controls, when operating effectively, will provide appropriate remediation of part of the material
weakness. In particular, as part of its remediation plan, the Company is implementing comprehensive access control protocols in order to implement
restrictions on user and privileged access to the Company’s financially relevant information systems and will be providing internal control training for
personnel involved in remediating this material weakness. In addition, management continues to design and implement new controls to ensure
appropriate segregation of duties. Management intends to test the ongoing operating effectiveness of the controls in future periods. The material
weakness cannot be considered completely remediated until the applicable controls have operated for a sufficient period of time and management has
concluded, through testing, that these controls are designed and operating
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effectively. The Company can provide no assurance that its remediation efforts described herein will be successful and that the Company will not have
material weaknesses in the future.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting described in “Remediation Plan for Material Weakness in Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting” above, there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On November 16, 2023, Ms. Jocelyn Moore, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, adopted a trading arrangement for the sale of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock (a “Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan”) that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Securities Exchange
Act Rule 10b5-1(c). The Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan provides for the sale of up to 32,488 shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the terms of the
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plan beginning in June 2024 and ending in October 2024.

With the exception of Ms. Moore, during the quarter ended December 31, 2023, no other director or Section 16 officer adopted or terminated any Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangements or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements, as defined in ltem 408 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
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Part
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding directors, executive officers, code of business conduct and ethics, delinquent Section 16(a) Reports (if applicable) and corporate
governance of the Company will be set forth in the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“Definitive Proxy Statement”)
and is incorporated herein by reference. The Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information regarding executive compensation will be set forth in the Definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. The Definitive
Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.
ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be set forth in the Definitive Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. The Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE
Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions, and director independence will be set forth in the Definitive Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. The Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services will be set forth in the Definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
The Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

129



Table of Contents

Part IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following is a list of documents filed as part of this report:

Financial Statements:

The following financial statements are included under Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity/ Members’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(b) The required exhibits are filed as part of this Form 10-K or are incorporated by reference herein.

Exhibit Number
2.1

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3+

10.4

10.5t

10.6*

Description

Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among the Company, Opportunity Financial, LLC

and Todd Schwartz, in his capacity as the Members’ Representative (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of FG New
America Acquisition Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 11, 2021).

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of OppFi Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 21, 2021).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of OppFi Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1
to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 21, 2021).

Form of Warrant Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 21, 2021).

Warrant Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2020, by and between FG New America Acquisition Corp. and Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to FG New America Acquisition Corp.’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2020).

Description of Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2021).

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2021, by and among the Company, Opportunity Financial, LLC, the
Members and the Members’ Representative (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021) .

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2021, by and among the Company, the Founder Holders, the Members, the
Members’ Representative and certain other parties thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to the Regqistration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 21, 2021).

Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Opportunity Financial, LLC (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated December 14, 2022, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding
SPE 1X, LLC, the other credit parties and guarantors thereto, UMB Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent,
Randolph Receivables LLC, as Castlelake Representative, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022).

Employment Agreement, dated August 9, 2022, by and between Opportunity Financial, LLC and Ms. Pamela Johnson. ++
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Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated January, 31, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC

Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 5. 2020, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 26, 2020, by and among Opportunity

Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE lIl, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated November 13, 2020, by and among
Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent
Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 2 to Fee Letter, dated December
16, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE lIl, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto
and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated April 15, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC
OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 18, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.15 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021)

Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated December 20, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated January 31, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated February 14, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 5 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 5, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.19 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 6 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 26, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.20 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 7 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated November 13, 202 0 by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021)
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Amendment No. 8 to Revolving Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 2 to Fee Letter, dated December 16, 2020, by and
among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE 1V, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent
Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

July 26, 2021)
Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated November 9, 2018, as amended, by and among Opportunity Financial,

LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto. the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

First Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated April 15, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial
LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Second Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated May 31, 2019, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Third Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated February 14, 2020, by and among Opportunity

Financial, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Fourth Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated August 13, 2020, by and among Opportunity

Financial, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).
Omnibus Amendment to Loan Agreement and Other Basic Documents, dated March 23, 2021, by and among Opportunity

Financial, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Sixth Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated July 19, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial,
LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Seventh Amendment to Senior Secure Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated November 3, 2021 by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, the other credit parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30

2021).

Eighth Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility dated November 10, 2021, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, the other credit parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30

2021).

Amended and Restated Program Agreement, dated November 9, 2018, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE II, LLC and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

First Amendment to the Program Agreement, dated May 13, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE II, LLC and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Second Amendment to the Program Agreement, dated July 19, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE II, LLC and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).
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Revolving Credit Agreement, dated April 15, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC

OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 20, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.34 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated December 26, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,

Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated February 14, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated May 11, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.37 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 6 to Revolving Credit Agreement and other Credit Documents, dated October 13, 2021, by and among
Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VII, the other parties thereto and
Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on October 19, 2021).

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 19, 2023, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,
Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,

2023).

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated August 19, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IV
LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated December 20, 2019, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,
Opportunity Funding SPE IV LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated b:
reference to Exhibit 10.39 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated February 13, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IV LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.40 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated May 5, 2020, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity

Funding SPE IV LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.41 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE IV LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.42 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Amendment No. 6 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated September 30, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IV LLC, OppWin, LLC, SalaryTap, LLC, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, the other parties thereto and
BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

SEC October 5, 2021).
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Note, dated April 13, 2020, made by Opportunity Financial, LLC in favor of BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.43 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Marketing and Program Management Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2020, by and between Capital Community Bank and

Opportunity Financial, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on July 26, 2021).

First Amendment to Marketing and Program Management Agreement, dated as of August 10, 2020, by and between Capital
Community Bank and Opportunity Financial, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 of the Company’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Loan Program Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and between FinWise Bank and Opportunity Financial, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021).

First Amendment to the Loan Program Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2018, by and between FinWise Bank and
Opportunity Financial, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on July 26, 2021).

Form of OppFi Inc. Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 of the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021). ++

Form of OppFi Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 28, 2021). ++

OppFi Management Holdings, LLC Profits Interest Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021). ++

Form of OppFi Management Holdings, LLC Profits Interest Plan Management Profits Interest Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.51 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2021). ++

Program Marketing and Servicing Agreement, dated November 1, 2019, by and between First Electronic Bank and Opportunity
Financial, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

July 26, 2021).

OppFi Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex F of FG New America Acquisition Corp.’s
Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on June 22, 2021).

Form of Total Return Swap Confirmation, dated April 15, 2022 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 21, 2022). ++

OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy

Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on June 9, 2022). ++

Amendment No. 7 to Revolving Credit Agreement and other Credit Documents, dated June 14, 2022, by and among Opportunity

Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE VII, the other parties thereto and Midtown Madison
Management LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

June 21, 2022).

Amendment No. 5 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated August 6, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE IV LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.3 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2021).

Ninth Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility dated April 1, 2022, by and among Opportunity Financial,
LLC, the other credit party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2022).

Amendment No. 7 to Revolving Credit Agreement. dated March 31, 2022, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity
Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, SalaryTap, LLC, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, the other parties thereto and BMO Harris
Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended

March 31, 2022)
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Amendment No. 5 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 11, 2022, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE 1ll, LLC, OppWin, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services. L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,

2022).

Amendment No. 6 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated August 15, 2022, by and among Opportunity

Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IIl, LLC, OppWin, LLC, OppFi Management Holdings, LLC, Opportunity Financial
Card Company, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2022).

Amendment No. 8 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated September 1, 2022, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,

Opportunity Funding SPE 1V, LLC, OppWin, LLC, SalaryTap, LLC, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, the other parties thereto and
BMO Harris Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

period ended September 30, 2022).
Subsidiaries of OppFi Inc
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, RSM US LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a). as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a). as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

OppFi Inc. Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

T Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item (601)(b)(10).
+ Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to
furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

++ Management contracts or compensation plans, contracts or arrangements.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

135


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000010/exhibit104-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000010/exhibit104-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000010/exhibit104-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000010/exhibit104-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000010/exhibit104-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000010/exhibit104-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit101-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit101-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit101-speiiixopploans.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit102-amendmentno8tor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit102-amendmentno8tor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit102-amendmentno8tor.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818502/000181850222000018/exhibit102-amendmentno8tor.htm

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 27, 2024 OppFi Inc.
By:/s/ Todd G. Schwartz

Todd G. Schwartz
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Position Date
/sl Todd G. Schwartz Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and March 27, 2024
Todd G. Schwartz Executive Chairman of the Board
[s/ Pamela D. Johnson Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 27, 2024
Pamela D. Johnson Accounting Officer)
[s/ Jocelyn Moore Lead Independent Director March 27, 2024
Jocelyn Moore
[s/ Christina Favilla Director March 27, 2024
Christina Favilla
/s/ Theodore Schwartz Director March 27, 2024

Theodore Schwartz

[s/ David Vennettilli Director March 27, 2024
David Vennettilli

[s| Greq Zeeman Director March 27, 2024
Greg Zeeman
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EXHIBIT 10.6
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Executive Employment Agreement (the “Agreement ”) is entered into this August 9, 2022, by and between
Opportunity Financial, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Company "), and Pamela Johnson (the “Executive
H).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS , Executive currently serves as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company;
and

WHEREAS , the Company and the Executive desire to enter into the Agreement as to the
terms of the Executive’s employment by the Company.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the mutual promises contained herein and of other good

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as
follows:

1. Employment Period . The Executive’s employment under this Agreement will commence on the date hereof
and will end upon a termination of the Executive’s employment in accordance with Section 7 below (“* Employment Period
"). The Executive shall be employed by the Company on an “at will” basis, meaning either the Company or the Executive
may terminate the Executive’s employment at any time, with or without Cause (as defined herein) or advance notice. Any
contrary representations that may have been made to the Executive shall be superseded by this Agreement. Except as
expressly provided in Section 16 of this Agreement, this Agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement
between the Executive and the Company on the “at will” nature of the Executive’s employment with the Company, which
may be changed only in an express written agreement signed by the Executive and a duly authorized officer of the
Company. The Executive’s rights to any compensation following a termination shall be only as set forth in Section 7.

2. Position . The Executive will be employed as Chief Financial Officer reporting to the Chief Executive Officer
(“ CEO ") of the Company. The Executive’s principal place of employment will be at the Executive’s home, but the
Executive will be required to travel to the Company’s corporate offices, including the headquarter office currently located
in Chicago, lllinois, from time to time as necessary or desirable for the performance of services. The
Executive’s duties shall be those assigned from time to time commensurate with the Executive’s position. During the
Executive’'s employment, the Executive shall owe an
undivided duty of loyalty to the Company and agree to devote the Executive’s full business time and attention to the
performance of the Executive’s duties and responsibilities. The Executive shall perform the Executive’s duties under this
Ag(;eement professionally, in accordance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations and such standards, policies
an
procedures established by the Company and the financial services industry from time to time (and any other business that
the Company may hereafter commence). The Executive may serve on charitable boards or committees at the Executive’s
discretion, so long as such activities do
not interfere with performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the Company. In addition, the Executive shall not
engage in any activity that may, in the sole discretion of the Chief
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Executive Officer, be determined to be a conflict of interest with, or otherwise bring disrepute to, the Company.

3. Base Salary . During the Employment Period, the Executive will be paid a base salary at an annual rate of
Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($325,000.00) (the “ Base Salary "), subject to applicable withholdings and
payable in accordance with the regular payroll practices of the Company. The amount of the Base Salary will be reviewed
from time to time, at least annually, for merit increases in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee (the “
Committee ") of the Board of Directors of OppFi Inc., a Delaware corporation and parent company of the Company (the “
Parent "), and any such increased amount will be the Executive’s “Base Salary” for purposes of this Agreement thereafter.

4, Annual Incentive . During the Employment Period, the Executive will be eligible to earn an annual cash
performance bonus (the “ Bonus ") based on the attainment of performance objectives as determined by the Committee.
The amount of the Executive’s Bonus payable for achievement of all performance objectives will be equal 45% of the
Base Salary (“ Target Bonus ”). The actual amount of the Bonus (if any) that may be earned for any fiscal year shall be
determined by reference to the attainment of the applicable performance objectives, as determined by the Committee in its
sole discretion, and may be less than the Target Bonus (and may equal zero). The Executive’s Bonus for any fiscal year,
to the extent earned, will be paid within 30 days after completion of the Company’s annual audit provided that the
Executive is continuously employed through the date of such payment. For the 2022 fiscal year, the
Executive’s Bonus, to the extent earned, will be equal to the sum of Executive’s Bonus earned while employed as the
Company'’s Chief Accounting Officer, prorated for the amount of days Executive worked in such capacity during the 2022
fiscal year, and Executive’s Bonus earned while employed by the Company under this Agreement, prorated for the
amount of days Executive worked in such capacity in the 2022 fiscal year.

5. Equity Compensation . Executive shall be eligible to receive annual equity grants, at such time as annual
equity grants are made to other executives, in such amounts, types and terms as determined in the sole discretion of the
Board or the Committee based on Executive’s individual performance and the performance of the Company. The terms
and conditions of the annual equity grant will be established by the Board or the Committee at the time of the grant and
will be subject to the terms of the Company’s applicable equity plan and form of equity award agreement. Annual equity
grants shall be subject to reevaluation each performance period based on peer market data and shall be subject to the
sole discretion of the Board or the Committee.

6. Employee Benefits: Vacation: Expenses.

(@) The Executive will be entitled to participate in all employee benefit plans that the Company has
adopted or may adopt, maintain or contribute to for the benefit of its employees, subject to satisfying the applicable
eligibility requirements. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all benefits are subject to the terms and conditions of
the plan or arrangement under which such benefits accrue, as may be amended or terminated at any time and from time
to time in the sole discretion of the Company.



(b)  The Executive will be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the Company’s policy applicable to
its employees, which shall be prorated for any partial fiscal year of employment.

(c) Upon presentation of appropriate documentation, the Executive will be
reimbursed in accordance with the Company’s expense reimbursement policy for all reasonable and necessary business
expenses incurred in connection with the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder.

7. Termination of Employment. The Executive’'s employment may be terminated by the Company or the
Executive for any reason at any time pursuant to notice by one such party to the other party, and will terminate
automatically upon the Executive’s death; provided , the Executive shall give the Company not less than 30 days’ prior
written notice of any termination by the Executive. Any payments made and benefits provided to the Executive under this
Agreement shall be in lieu of any termination or severance payments or benefits for which the Executive otherwise may be
eligible under any of the plans, practices, policies or programs of the Company.

(a) Death; Disability . In the event that the Executive’s employment terminates due to the Executive’s
death or Disability (defined below), the Executive will be entitled to: (i) any unpaid Base Salary through the date of
termination; (ii) reimbursement of any unreimbursed expenses incurred through the date of termination in accordance
with Section 6(c); and (iii) all other payments or benefits to which the Executive may be entitled under the terms of any
applicable employee benefit plans and programs in which the Executive participated immediately prior to such
termination (clauses (i), (ii) and (iii)
collectively being the “ Accrued Amounts ). “ Disability ” shall have the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-3(i)(4). The Executive’s Disability shall be determined by a physician selected by the Company (at the
Company'’s expense).

(b) Termination Without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason. If the Executive’s employment is
terminated by the Company without Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, the Company will pay or provide to
the Executive (i) the Accrued Amounts; (ii) cash severance of six (6) months of continued Base Salary payable in
substantially equal
installments in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll cycle over a period of six (6) months from the Executive’s
date of termination; and (iii) reimbursement for up to six (6)
months of the portion of the premiums of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA ") that
exceed the then-applicable Company-subsidized portion for Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents so long as the
Executive timely elects COBRA coverage and remains eligible (with such reimbursement ending earlier upon the
Executive’s eligibility for other group health coverage); provided, however that if the Executive’s employment is terminated
by the Company without Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, on or after February 11, 2024, the Company will
pay or provide to the Executive, in lieu of the foregoing,
(i) the Accrued Amounts; (ii) cash severance of twelve (12) months of continued Base Salary payable in substantially
equal installments in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll cycle over a period of twelve (12) months from the
Executive’s date of termination; and (iii) reimbursement for up to twelve (12) months of the portion of COBRA premiums
that exceed the then-applicable Company-subsidized portion for Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents



so long as the Executive timely elects COBRA coverage and remains eligible (with such

reimbursement ending earlier upon the Executive’s eligibility for other group health coverage) (with all such payments and
benefits together, the “ Severance Payment”). “ Good Reason ” shall mean, without Executive’s consent, a material
diminution in the Executive’s authority, duties, or responsibilities, it being understood that a reduction in Executive’s
responsibilities or authority following a Change in Control shall not constitute Good Reason if there is no demotion in
Executive’s position or reduction of the scope of Executive’s duties within the Company that existed before the Change in
Control or Executive is given a position of materially similar or greater overall scope and responsibility within the acquiring
company; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not constitute Good Reason unless the Executive has provided the
Company

with written notice of the Company’s alleged actions constituting Good Reason within thirty (30) days after the initial
existence of any such alleged actions and the Company has not cured any such alleged actions constituting Good Reason
within sixty (60) days of the Company’s receipt of such written notice; provided further, that a termination by the Executive
for Good Reason shall not be deemed to have occurred unless the termination occurs within thirty (30) days following the
expiration of such cure period.

(c) Termination For Cause or by the Executive Not for Good Reason. If the Executive’s employment is
terminated by the Company for Cause or by the Executive for any reason except for Good Reason, the Executive will be
entitled to only the Accrued Amounts. “ Cause ” shall mean (i) a violation of a federal or state law, regulation or rule of a
self-regulatory body due to or resulting from the action or inaction of the Executive; (ii) a violation by the Executive of any
of the provisions set forth in Section 8; (iii) a charge by a law enforcement officer for any felony; (iv) any act of fraud,
?Iishorr]]esty, misappropriation, embezzlement or material misconduct with respect to the Company, Parent, or any affiliate
together, or
individually, the “ Company Group ”); (v) any breach of a policy or code of conduct of the Company Group; or (vi) any
material breach of this Agreement or any other agreement with the Company Group.

(d)  Conditions . The Severance Payment that may become payable hereunder is subject to the
Executive’s (i) compliance with Section 8 of this Agreement; (ii) delivery to the Company of an executed general release
of claims in the form provided by the Company (* Release ) so that it becomes irrevocable within thirty (30) days after
presentation thereof by
the Company to the Executive (or the Executive’s estate in the event of the Executive’s death); and (iii) delivery to the
Company of a resignation from all offices, directorships and fiduciary positions with the Company Group and employee
benefit plans. Anything in this Section 7(d) to the contrary notwithstanding, to the extent that any payment conditioned
upon such effective Release is deferred compensation under Section 409A (defined below) and the period during which
the Executive has discretion to execute or revoke the Release straddles two calendar years, then the Company will make
or commence, as may apply, such payments on the earliest practicable date in such second calendar year after the
Release becomes effective.

8. Restrictive Covenants .

(@) Confidential Information . During the Employment Period, the Company (which, for this Section 8
shall mean and include the “Company Group”) may furnish to the Executive certain information that is non-public,
confidential or proprietary in nature. The



Company may also impart to the Executive from time to time additional non-public, confidential or proprietary information
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates including, without limitation, one or more business plans and other
procedures, concepts, methods, trade secrets, product plans, the identity of past, current or prospective strategic partners
and/or vendors, documentation, diagrams, manuals, handbooks, training or processing materials, marketing techniques
or development plans, financial and pricing information, and the like, whether oral or written. All such material heretofore
or hereafter furnished to the Executive, together with any analysis, compilations, studies, summaries, or documents
prepared for review by the Executive, the Company, its affiliates, agents or employees (as well as any information related
to this Agreement, any negotiations pertaining hereto, any of the transactions contemplated hereby or the business of the
Company), is hereinafter referred to as the “ Confidential Information ”. Confidential Information also includes any
information described above which the Company obtains from third parties and which the Company treats as confidential
or proprietary, regardless of whether such information is owned or developed by the Company. Confidential Information
shall not include information that: (i) is in or comes into the public domain without any breach of any obligation of
confidentiality owed to the Company;

(ii) was in the possession of the Executive prior to its disclosure without the breach or existence of any obligation of
confidentiality to the Company; or (iii) is independently developed by or comes into the possession of the Executive any
time hereafter without reference to any information from the Company and without any breach of any obligation of
confidentiality owed to the Company. In the event Confidential Information is required to be disclosed by the Executive
under or by applicable law, regulation or lawful court order, then prior to such disclosure, the Executive shall notify the
Company in order to allow the Company the opportunity to obtain relief from such disclosure obligation. During the
Employment Period and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall maintain the Confidential Information in secrecy and
confidence and shall not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Company, disclose or cause to be
disclosed, use or make known, or suffer or permit the disclosure of any of the Confidential Information, except in
connection with the conduct of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ business. Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit,
prevent, or otherwise restrict the Executive from reporting any good faith allegation of unlawful conduct or unlawful
employment practices to any appropriate federal, state, or local government agency; reporting any good faith allegation of
criminal conduct to any appropriate federal, state, or local official; participating in a proceeding with any appropriate
federal, state, or local government agency; making any truthful statements or disclosures required by law, regulation, or
legal process; or requesting or receiving confidential legal advice.

(b)  Non-Competition . During the Executive’s employment and during the Restricted Period (defined
below), the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, own an interest in, operate, join, control, advise, work for, consult to,
have a financial interest which provides any control of, or participate in any person producing, designing, providing,
soliciting orders for, selling, distributing, consulting to, or marketing or re-marketing products or services in a Competitive
Business (defined below). “ Restricted Period ” shall mean either (i) a period of six
(6) months following the termination of Executive’s employment, if such termination occurs on or prior to February 10,
2024, and is by the Company without Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason; or (ii) if the circumstances in
subsection (i) do not apply, a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of Executive’s employment for any
reason and at any time. “ Competitive Business ” shall mean (a) the business of online lending to borrowers, which



business has similar products, rates or terms as the Company, and markets to a similar customer demographic and credit
profile as the Company, (b) any other business commenced by the Company, or with respect to which the Company has
undertaken substantial steps to commence, at any time through the date of the Executive’s termination of employment,
and (c) any business whose current or anticipated primary business lends, facilitates lending, or offers checking or savings
accounts to consumers with less than 680 FICO or Vantage scores. During the Restricted Period, without the Company’s
prior written consent, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, alone or as a partner, member, manager, owner, joint
venturer, officer, director, employee, consultant, agent, independent contractor or stockholder of any company or business,
solicit engagements with any business entity that is a licensee under CILA or an affiliate of such entity; provided, that this
covenant shall not prohibit the mere ownership by the Executive of less than 2% of the outstanding stock of any publicly
traded corporation as long as the Executive is not otherwise in violation of this Agreement.

(c) Non-Salicitation of Customers. During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, induce or solicit (defined below) or attempt to induce or solicit by mail, by phone, by personal meeting or by any
other means any Customer serviced by the Company or whose name became known to the Executive during the
Employment Period. “ To solicit ” means the Executive’s, direct or indirect, contact or communication of any kind
whatsoever for the purpose of inviting, encouraging or requesting any Customer (defined below) to: (i) transfer their
business from the Company to any other person, or (ii) purchase any products or services from a company that is
competitive with the Company, or (iii) otherwise discontinue its patronage and business relationship with the Company. “
Customer ” means any person that has received financial services facilitated by the Company’s platform (including their
names, addresses, phone numbers, and financial information) or any person who has been in contact with the Company
regarding obtaining financial services during the twelve (12)-month
period immediately preceding the date of the Executive’s termination of employment.

(d) Non-Solicitation and Hiring of Employees; Non-Interference with Consultants, Vendors and Suppliers .
During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, induce, recruit or encourage any
employee of the Company or any consultant, supplier or vendor of the Company to terminate such employee’s
employment or to reduce or discontinue such consultant’s, vendor’s or supplier’s business with the Company, or
(ii) hire any employee of the Company. For such purposes, an “employee of the Company” means any person employed
by the Company on the date of the Executive’s termination of employment or who was employed by the Company at any
time during the twelve (12)-month period immediately preceding the date of the Executive’s termination of employment.

(e) Non-Disparagement . During the Employment Period and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall
not make any oral or written statement to any third party that disparages, defames or reflects adversely upon the
Company, the Board, or its officers, employees, agents or services providers; provided , that nothing in this Section 8(e)
shall preclude the Executive from making any statement in a filing, or pursuant to a subpoena, in a court of law or other
regulatory forum.

()  Records and Other Materials . Upon a termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason,
or at any earlier time requested by the Board, the Executive shall




immediately return to the Company or, at the Company’s request, destroy, all records, materials, property, documents and
data relating to the Company’s business in the possession of the Executive, including that containing or based on
Confidential Information or proprietary information, whether existing on paper, stored electronically or existing in any other
medium, and whether originals or copies.

(g)  Assignment of Inventions . The Executive will promptly communicate and disclose in writing to the
Company all inventions and developments including software, whether patentable or not, as well as patents and patent
applications (collectively, “ Inventions "), made, conceived, developed, or purchased by the Executive, or under which the
Executive acquires the right to grant licenses or to become licensed, alone or jointly with others, which have arisen or
jointly with others, which have arisen or may arise out of the Executive’'s employment, or relate to any matters pertaining
to, or useful in connection therewith, the business or affairs of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Included herein as if
developed during the employment period is any specialized equipment and software developed for use in the business of
the Company. All of the Executive’s right, title and interest in, to, and under all such Inventions, licenses, and right to grant
licenses shall be the sole property of the Company and shall be “works made for hire”. Any such Inventions disclosed to
anyone by the Executive within one year after the termination of employment for any cause whatsoever (unless developed
wholly on the Executive’s private time, the Executive’s personal resources and off Company premises) shall be deemed to
have been made or conceived by the Executive during the Employment Period. As to all such Inventions, the Executive
will, upon Company request and at Company expense, execute all documents which the Company deems necessary or
proper to enable it to establish title to such Inventions or other rights, and to enable it to file and prosecute applications for
letters patent of the United States and any foreign country; and do all things (including the giving of evidence in suits and
other proceedings) which the Company deems necessary or proper to obtain, maintain, or assert patents for any and all
such Inventions or to assert its rights in any Inventions not patented.

(h)  Cooperation . The Executive agrees that, following termination of the Executive’s employment for any
reason, the Executive shall upon reasonable advance notice, and to the extent it does not interfere with the Executive’s
other full-time business endeavors or employment obligations, assist and cooperate with the Company with regard to any
matter or
project in which the Executive was involved during the Executive’s employment, including any litigation. The Company
shall compensate the Executive for the Executive’s reasonable expenses incurred in such cooperation and assistance.

0] Reasonableness of Restrictions; Remedies.

0] The Executive understands how important the relationships the Company has with Company
Customers and with the Company employees, consultants, vendors and suppliers, and with regard to the
Company’s Confidential Information, are to the business and success of the Company, and acknowledges the
steps the Company has taken, is taking and will continue to take to develop, preserve and protect these
relationships. Accordingly, the Executive agrees that the scope and duration of the restrictions and limitations
described in this Section 8 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the
Company, and acknowledges that all



restrictions and limitations under this Section 8 shall apply regardless of the reason that the Executive’'s
employment terminates.

(i)  The Executive agrees that any violation of this Section 8 would be highly injurious and cause
irreparable harm to the Company. Therefore, the Executive consents and agrees that if the Executive violates the
terms of such provisions, the Company shall be entitled, in addition to any other rights and remedies that it may
have (including monetary damages), to apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for specific performance or
injunctive or other equitable relief in order to enforce, or prevent any continuing or threatened violation of, the
provisions of such provision by the Executive. If the Executive violates the provisions of Section 8(b), Section 8(c)
or Section 8(d), the Restricted Period referred to therein shall be tolled during the period of such violation. If the
Company shall institute any action or proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Section 8, the Executive hereby
irrevocably waives any claim or defense that the Executive may have that an adequate remedy at law is available,
and hereby agrees not to interpose in any such action or proceeding any claim or defense that a remedy exists at
law.

()] Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 . Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, the Executive
acknowledges that the Executive will not have criminal or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the
disclosure of a trade secret that (i) is made (A) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either
directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (B) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of
law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under
seal.

(k)  Survival . The provisions of this Section 8 shall survive the termination of the Executive’s employment
with the Company and shall be fully enforceable thereafter.

9. Arbitration . To the fullest extent permitted by law, all claims that the Executive may have against the
Company Group (or any other released party under the Release), or which the Company Group may have against the
Executive, in any way related to the subject matter, interpretation, application, or alleged breach of this Agreement (*
Arbitrable Claims ") shall be resolved by binding arbitration in Chicago, Illinois. The Arbitration will be held pursuant to the
American Arbitration Association’s Commercial Rules and Mediation Procedures (other than for large or complex
disputes). The decision of the arbitrator shall be in writing and shall include a statement of the essential conclusions and
findings upon which the decision is based. Arbitration shall be final and binding upon the parties and shall be the exclusive
remedy for all Arbitrable Claims. Either party may bring an action in a court situated in Cook County, lllinois (and the
Company may bring an action in any court of competent jurisdiction) to compel arbitration under this Agreement and to
enforce an arbitration award. Otherwise, except as set forth in Section 8, neither party shall initiate or prosecute any
lawsuit or administrative action in any way related to any Arbitrable Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may,
in the event of an actual or threatened breach of this Agreement, seek a temporary restraining order or injunction in a court
situated in Cook County, lllinois restraining such breach pending a determination on the merits by the arbitrator. THE
PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHTS THEY MAY HAVE TO TRIAL BY JURY IN REGARD TO ARBITRABLE
CLAIMS, INCLUDING WITHOUT



LIMITATION ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY AS TO THE MAKING, EXISTENCE, VALIDITY, OR ENFORCEABILITY OF
THE AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.

10. Indemnification; Liability Insurance . The Company and the Executive shall enter into a customary
indemnification agreement entered into by members of the Board and Company officers, and the Executive shall be
covered as an insured under the contract of directors and officers liability insurance that insures other Company
executives.

11. Executive Representations . The Executive represents and warrants that the Executive’s entering into this
Agreement and the Executive’s employment with the Company will not be in breach of any agreement with any current
or former employer and that the Executive is not subject to any other restrictions on solicitation of clients or customers
or competing against another entity. The Executive understands that the Company has relied on this representation in
entering into this Agreement.

12.  Withholding . The Company may withhold from any and all amounts payable under this Agreement such
federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

13. Code Section 409A. This Section 13 controls over anything in this Agreement to the contrary. It is intended
that any amounts payable under this Agreement shall either be exempt from or comply with Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “ Code "), and all regulations, guidance and other interpretive authority issued thereunder (collectively, ‘Section 409A
") so as not to subject the Executive to payment of any additional tax, penalty or interest imposed under Section 409A and
this Agreement shall be interpreted accordingly. To the extent any amounts under this Agreement are payable by
reference to the
Executive’s “termination of employment” such term and similar terms shall be deemed to refer to Executive’s “separation
from service,” within the meaning of Section 409A. Any right to a series of installment payments pursuant to this
Agreement is to be treated as a right to a series of separate payments. To the extent that the reimbursement of any
expenses or the provision of any in-kind benefits under this Agreement is subject to Section 409A, (a) the amount of such
expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, during any one calendar year shall not affect the
amount of such expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided in any other calendar year; (b)
reimbursement of any such expense shall be made by no later than December 31 of the year following the calendar year
in which such expense is incurred; and (c) the Executive’s right to receive such reimbursements or in-kind benefits shalll
not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

If the Company determines that the severance benefits provided under this Agreement constitutes “deferred
compensation” under Section 409A and if the Executive is a “specified employee,” as such term is defined in Section 409A
at the time of the Executive’s separation
from service, then, the timing of the Severance Payment will be delayed as follows: on the earlier to occur of (a) the date
that is six (6) months and one day after the Executive’'s separation from
service, and (b) the date of the Executive’s death (such earlier date, the ‘Delayed Initial Payment Date "), the Company
will (i) pay to the Executive a lump sum amount equal to the sum of the Severance Payment that the Executive would
otherwise have received through the Delayed Initial Payment Date if the commencement of the payment of the Severance
had not been



delayed pursuant to the foregoing, and (ii) commence paying the balance of the Severance Payment in accordance with
the applicable payment schedule set forth in Section 7. No interest shall be due on any amounts deferred pursuant to the
foregoing.

14. Code Section 280G . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other plan,
arrangement or agreement to the contrary, if any of the payments or benefits provided or to be provided by the
Company or its affiliates to the Executive or for the
Executive’s benefit pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (‘Covered Payments ") constitute parachute
payments (“ Parachute Payments ") within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and would, but for this Section be
subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto) or any similar tax
imposed by state or local law or any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes (collectively, the “ Excise Tax "), then
the Covered Payments shall be payable either (a) in full or (b) reduced to the minimum extent necessary to ensure that no
portion of the Covered Payments is subject to the Excise Tax,
whichever of the foregoing (a) or (b) results in the Executive’s receipt on an after-tax basis of the greatest amount of
benefits after taking into account the applicable federal, state, local and foreign income, employment and excise taxes
(including the Excise Tax). If a reduction in payments or benefits is necessary, reduction shall occur in the following order:
(i) cash payments; (ii) equity-based payments and acceleration; and (iii) other non-cash forms of benefits. Within any such
category of payments and benefits (that is, (i), (i) or (iii)), a reduction shall occur first with respect to amounts that are not
“deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A and then with respect to amounts that are. To the extent any
such payment is to be made over time (e.g., in installments, etc.), then the payments shall be reduced in reverse
chronological order. Any determination required under this Section, including whether any payments or benefits are
Parachute Payments, shall be made by the Committee in its sole discretion.

15. Governing Law and Venue . This Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed and delivered within
the State of lllinois, and it shall be construed, interpreted, governed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the
State of lllinois, without regard to choice of law principles. In the event of any dispute in connection with this Agreement,
the venue in which said dispute will be resolved, whether in arbitration or in connection with an injunction, will be
Chicago, lllinois. The Executive represents and warrants that the Executive had actual advice of counsel with respect to
the choice of law provision and understands the impact of the choice of law with respect this Agreement, and specifically
the restrictive covenants contained herein.

16. Entire Agreement; Amendments; No Waiver . This Agreement, the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan
(and applicable award agreements thereunder) constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the
Company and the Executive concerning the subject matter hereof. No modification, amendment, termination, or waiver
of this Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by the Executive and a duly authorized officer of the
Company. Failure of the any party to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants, or conditions hereof
shall not be deemed a waiver of such terms, covenants, and conditions.
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17.  Assignments . This Agreement is personal to each of the parties hereto. Except as provided in this Section
17 below, no party may assign or delegate any rights or obligations hereunder without first obtaining the written consent of
the other party hereto. The Company may assign this Agreement to any affiliate or successor to all or substantially all of
the business and/or assets of the Company provided the Company shall require such successor to expressly assume and
agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to
perform it if no such succession had taken place and shall deliver a copy of such assignment to the Executive.

18. Notice . For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given
(a) on the date of delivery if delivered by hand, (b) on the date of transmission, if delivered by electronic mail confirmed
via non-automatic transmission, or (c) on the date of delivery or refusal of delivery via a national overnight delivery
service or United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Company:

Opportunity Financial, LLC
130 East Randolph Street, Suite 3300
Chicago, lllinois 60601

Attention: Chief Executive Officer If to the Executive:

At the address (or to the facsimile number) shown on the payroll records of the Company

or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that
notices of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

19. Section Headings: Inconsistency . The section headings used in this Agreement are included solely for
convenience and shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Agreement. In the event of any
inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, program, policy or agreement in which the Executive is a
participant or a party, the terms of this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program, policy or agreement
specifically refers to this Agreement as not so controlling.

20. Severability . Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to
be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability will not affect any other provision or any other jurisdiction, but this Agreement will be reformed, construed
and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions had never been contained herein.

11



21. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument. One or more counterparts of this
Agreement may be delivered by facsimile, or by electronic transmission including DocuSign or .pdf format, with the
intention that delivery by such means shall have the same effect as delivery of an original counterpart thereof.

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

COMPANY:

Opportunity Financial, LLC

By: [s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Its: Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE:
/s/ Pamela Johnson
Pamela Johnson

[Signature page to Executive Employment Agreement]



Subsidiaries of OppFi Inc.

The following is a list of OppFi Inc. subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023:

Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.1

Opportunity Financial, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE Il, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE Ill, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE VIII, LLC
Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC
OppWin BPI, LLC

OppWin, LLC

Opportunity Manager, LLC
Opportunity Financial Card Company, LLC
OppWin Card, LLC

SalaryTap, LLC

OppWin SalaryTap, LLC
SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-258698) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-259854 and 333-
271855) of OppFi Inc. of our report dated March 27, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements of OppFi Inc., appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K of OppFi Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ RSM US LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 27, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Todd G. Schwartz, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of OppFi Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2024

/sl Todd G. Schwartz

Todd G. Schwartz
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Pamela D. Johnson, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of OppFi Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2024

/sl Pamela D. Johnson

Pamela D. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of OppFi Inc. (“Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (“Report”), I, Todd G. Schwartz, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be

retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.

/sl Todd G. Schwartz

Todd G. Schwartz
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 27, 2024

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure document.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of OppFi Inc. (“Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (“Report”), I, Pamela D. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) of the
Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be

retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.

/sl Pamela D. Johnson
Pamela D. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 27, 2024

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure document.



EXHIBIT 97.1

OPPFI INC.
POLICY ON RECOUPMENT OF INCENTIVE COMPENSATION

Introduction

The Board of Directors (the “Board ") of OppFi Inc. (the “ Company ") has adopted this Policy on Recoupment of Incentive
Compensation (this “ Policy "), which provides for the recoupment of compensation in certain circumstances in the event of a
restatement of financial results by the Company. This Policy shall be interpreted to comply with the requirements of U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (* SEC ") rules and New York Stock Exchange (* NYSE ") listing standards
implementing Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “ Dodd-Frank
Act ") and, to the extent this Policy is in any manner deemed inconsistent with such rules, this Policy shall be treated as
retroactively amended to be compliant with such rules.

Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee ") of the Board. Any
determinations made by the Compensation Committee shall be final and binding on all affected individuals. The
Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary,
appropriate or advisable for the administration of this Policy, in all cases consistent with the Dodd-Frank Act. The Board or
Compensation Committee may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion.

Covered Executives

This Policy applies to (i) any current or former “executive officer,” within the meaning of Rule 10D-1 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company and (ii) such other individuals who
currently hold or formerly held a position at the Company set forth on Exhibit A hereto, as may be amended from time to
time (each such individual, an * Executive ). This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Executives and their
beneficiaries, executors, administrators, and other legal representatives.

Recoupment Upon Financial Restatement

If the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with
any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an
error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would
result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a “
Financial Restatement "), the Compensation Committee shall cause the Company to recoup from each Executive, as
promptly as reasonably possible, any erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation, as defined below.



No-Fault Recovery

Recoupment under this Policy shall be required regardless of whether the Executive or any other person was at fault or
responsible for accounting errors that contributed to the need for the Financial Restatement or engaged in any misconduct.

Compensation Subject to Recovery; Enforcement

This Policy applies to all compensation granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of any
financial reporting measure determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the
Company'’s financial statements, and any measure that is derived wholly or in part from such measures, whether or not
presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC, including stock price and total
shareholder return (* TSR "), including but not limited to performance-based cash, stock, options or other equity-based
awards paid or granted to the Executive (“ Incentive-Based Compensation ”). Compensation that is granted, vests or is
earned based solely upon the occurrence of non-financial events, such as base salary, restricted stock or options with time-
based vesting, or a bonus awarded solely at the discretion of the Board or Compensation Committee and not based on the
attainment of any financial measure, is not subject to this Policy.

In the event of a Financial Restatement, the amount to be recovered will be the excess of (i) the Incentive-Based
Compensation received by the Executive during the Recovery Period (as defined below) based on the erroneous data and
calculated without regard to any taxes paid or withheld, over (ii) the Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been
received by the Executive had it been calculated based on the restated financial information, as determined by the
Compensation Committee. For purposes of this Policy, “ Recovery Period " means the three completed fiscal years
immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare the Financial Restatement, as determined in
accordance with the last sentence of this paragraph, or any transition period that results from a change in the Company’s
fiscal year (as set forth in Section 303A.14(c)(1)(i))(D) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual). The date on which the
Company is required to prepare a Financial Restatement is the earlier to occur of (A) the date the Board or a Board
committee (or authorized officers of the Company if Board action is not required) concludes, or reasonably should have
concluded, that the Company is required to prepare a Financial Restatement or (B) the date a court, regulator, or other
legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Financial Restatement.

For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or TSR, where the amount of erroneously awarded compensation
is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Financial Restatement, then the
Compensation Committee shall determine the amount to be recovered based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the
Financial Restatement on the stock price or TSR upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received and the
Company shall document the determination of that estimate and provide it to the NYSE.

Incentive-Based Compensation is considered to have been received by an Executive in the fiscal year during which the
applicable financial reporting measure was attained or purportedly attained, even if the payment or grant of such Incentive-
Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

The Company may use any legal or equitable remedies that are available to the Company to recoup any erroneously
awarded Incentive-Based Compensation, including but not limited to by collecting from the Executive cash payments or
shares of Company common stock from or by forfeiting any amounts that the Company owes to the Executive. Executives
shall be solely responsible for any tax consequences to them that result from the recoupment or recovery of any



amount pursuant to this Policy, and the Company shall have no obligation to administer the Policy in a manner that avoids
or minimizes any such tax consequences.

No Indemnification

The Company shall not indemnify any Executive or pay or reimburse the premium for any insurance policy to cover any
losses incurred by such Executive under this Policy or any claims relating to the Company’s enforcement of rights under this
Policy.

Exceptions

The compensation recouped under this Policy shall not include Incentive-Based Compensation received by an Executive (i)
prior to beginning service as an Executive or (i) if he or she did not serve as an Executive at any time during the
performance period applicable to the Incentive-Based Compensation in question. The Compensation Committee (or a
majority of independent directors serving on the Board) may determine not to seek recovery from an Executive in whole or
part to the extent it determines in its sole discretion that such recovery would be impracticable because (A) the direct
expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing recovery would exceed the recoverable amount (after having made a
reasonable attempt to recover the erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation and providing corresponding
documentation of such attempt to the NYSE), (B) recovery would violate the home country law that was adopted prior to
November 28, 2022, as determined by an opinion of counsel licensed in the applicable jurisdiction that is acceptable to and
provided to the NYSE, or (C) recovery would likely cause the Company’s 401(k) plan or any other tax-qualified retirement
plan to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the regulations thereunder.

Other Remedies Not Precluded

The exercise by the Compensation Committee of any rights pursuant to this Policy shall be without prejudice to any other
rights or remedies that the Company, the Board or the Compensation Committee may have with respect to any Executive
subject to this Policy, whether arising under applicable law (including pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002), regulation or pursuant to the terms of any other policy of the Company, employment agreement, equity award, cash
incentive award or other agreement applicable to an Executive. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be no duplication
of recovery of the same Incentive-Based Compensation under this Policy and any other such rights or remedies.

Acknowledgment

To the extent required by the Compensation Committee, each Executive shall be required to sign and return to the
Company the acknowledgement form attached hereto as Exhibit B pursuant to which such Executive will agree to be bound
by the terms of, and comply with, this Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, each Executive shall be fully bound by, and must
comply with, the Policy, whether or not such Executive has executed and returned such acknowledgment form to the
Company.

Effective Date and Applicability

This Policy has been adopted by the Board on November 7, 2023, and shall apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation
that is received by an Executive on or after October 2, 2023.
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EXHIBIT A
EXECUTIVES

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Officer
General Counsel

Chief Risk Officer

Chief Technology Officer
Chief Compliance Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Strategy Officer



EXHIBIT B
DODD-FRANK COMPENSATION CLAWBACK POLICY
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement Form (this “Acknowledgement Form ") shall
have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy.

By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the undersigned: (i) has
received and reviewed a copy of the Policy; (ii) is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply
both during and after the undersigned’s employment with the Company; and (iii) will abide by the terms of the Policy,
including, without limitation, by reasonably promptly returning any recoverable compensation to the Company as required by
the Policy, as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion.

Sign:
Name: [Employee]

Date:




